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Wai Yuen Tong Hou Tsao Powder
Ranked Tst in Sales Value & Sales Volume
for 7 Consecutive Years in Hong Kong*
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* Based in part on data reported by Nielsen through its Retail
Index Service for the defined Hou Cho Powder segment
of Cough Remedy category for the 7-year period ending
May 2020 (from June 2013 to May 2020), for Key Account
Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong Kong (Copyright
© 2020 The Nielsen Company)
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of Wai Yuen
Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company’, together with its subsidiaries,
the "Group”), | present to the shareholders the annual report for the year ended
31 March 2021 (the “Year” or the “year under review").

Founded in 1897, Wai Yuen Tong has upheld the philosophy of “Preparing
Medicine with Dedication, Growing Strong with Reputation” with sincerity in
promoting the wisdom of century-old traditional Chinese medicine (“TCM").
We are committed to understand the healthcare needs of people in the
modern society, and provide comprehensive and high-quality pharmaceutical
products and services. Currently, the Group holds “Wai Yuen Tong”, a widely-
known Chinese medicine and health food brand, through Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Company Limited (“Wai Yuen Tong” or "WYT Medicine’, together
with its subsidiaries, the “WYT Medicine Group”), and holds “Madame Pearl’s”
and “Pearl’s”, two world-renowned Western medicine and health food brands,
through Luxembourg Medicine Company Limited (“Luxembourg Medicine”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Luxembourg Medicine Group”), which has
created synergy between its Chinese and Western medicine and healthcare
businesses.

To meet the business development needs and to inject vitality into the century-
old brand, the Group has invested nearly HK$600 million in recent years to
construct the TCM and Western pharmaceutical medicine Good Manufacturing
Practice ("GMP") factory in Yuen Long (the “Yuen Long Factory’), in accordance
with the standard of “The Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-operation Scheme”
("PIC/S"), a stringent manufacturing practice regulation with worldwide
recognition. With the combination of Chinese and Western medicine production
lines, and equipped with a collection of advanced equipment, we are able to
leverage our advantage of “100% made in Hong Kong”, and lay down a solid
foundation for the Group's steady and far-reaching development.

In addition, the Group holds quality investment properties and property reserves
located in Hubei Province, Henan Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, Jiangsu Province and Liaoning Province of the PRC through direct
shareholding of a majority stake in China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
("CAP”, stock code: 149). In respect of Wai Yuen Tong’s investment in CAP
and the management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange
markets, the case involving disputes over the equity transfer agreement
was decided by the Supreme People’s Court in favour of Wuhan Baisazhou
Agricultural By-Product Grand Market, which resulted in a reversal of liabilities.
For details, please refer to the paragraph headed “Litigation” of Management
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.
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Chairman’s Statement
F S

Business Review

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, travel restrictions have
been implemented by countries around the world. Cross-border control points
in Hong Kong have been closed, and the retail industry has been severely
hit. Despite various anti-pandemic measures by the Hong Kong government
including social distancing, the overall local retail industry was nonetheless
affected to varying degrees during the year.

In terms of traditional Chinese pharmaceutical and health foods, since “Angong
Niuhuang Wan (ZE4 &%) was included in the Diagnosis and Treatment
Protocol for Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia (Trial Version) released by the
National Health Commission of the PRC for treatment of critically ill patients
with the syndrome of “inner blocking causing collapse (REASMEE)", based
on the holistic philosophy of emergency-prevention-rehabilitation, the Group
launched the “Angong Sanbao (ZE = )" series to protect the public against
cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases, including “Angong Niuhuang
Wan’, “Angong Jiangya Wan (& & B& B A1)" and “Angong Zaizao Wan (% & Bi&
H)” which have been drawing widespread attention from domestic and foreign
markets.

The Group has a large team of resident registered Chinese medicine practitioner
established for years. During the year under review, under the COVID-19
pandemic, the demand for Chinese medicine out-patient clinic services in Wai
Yuen Tong retail stores recorded an increase, especially in local communities. In
view of this, the Group opened 15 new stores in many local communities this
year, which include King’s Road branch, Sha Tin Sha Kok Estate branch, Chai Wan
Siu Sai Wan branch and Kwai Chung Shek Yam branch. The Group continued to
actively hire experienced registered Chinese medicine practitioners to join the
team, in line with our business development. Currently, we have 62 retail stores
in Hong Kong that provide one-stop Chinese medicine healthcare services.
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Chairman’s Statement

In view of the growing demand for Chinese healthcare, the Group cooperated
with the Charity Fund of the Hong Kong Registered Chinese Medicine
Practitioners Association, and opened the first “"Hong Kong Registered Chinese
Medicine Practitioners Association Charitable Foundation Wai Yuen Tong
Chinese Medicine Specialist Center” (the “Specialist Center’) during the year,
providing customers with one-stop traditional Chinese medicine healthcare and
specialist treatment services.

In regards to the Mainland market, in October 2020, the National Administration
of Traditional Chinese Medicine of the PRC, the Office of the Leading Group
for the Development of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
and the People’s Government of Guangdong Province jointly issued the
“Construction Plan for the Chinese Medicine Highlands in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (2020-2025)" (the “Construction Plan”), which
provides an important foundation for the future cooperation of Guangdong,
Hong Kong and Macao in further developing Chinese medicine.

The Construction Plan has simplified the registration and approval process
in Mainland China of proprietary Chinese medicine products for external use
registered in Hong Kong, allowing the historical proprietary Chinese medicines
in Hong Kong to make greater contributions to the health of the people in
Mainland China. This has created excellent conditions for the Group to take our
proprietary Chinese medicine products out of Hong Kong and enter the Greater
Bay Area. To better position ourselves, the Group has established factories in
Mainland China in recent years. It has also established Wai Yuen Tong (Zhuhai
Henggin) Health Food Limited in Henggin, Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province of
the PRC, and successfully obtained the import registration license of Wai Yuen
Tong (Macao) Limited ("WYT Macao”).

Meanwhile, the Group continued to develop the production line of branded
products, and officially entered the pet health market during the year. After years
of preparation, we launched “ProVet”, the professional pet Chinese medicine
wellness product brand, first-ever pet wellness product range in Hong Kong
developed by professional Chinese Medicine Veterinarians and validated by Wai
Yuen Tong's Chinese Medicine Practitioners.
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Chairman’s Statement
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The COVID-19 pandemic has severely hit the offline retail market. The Group
adjusted the retail stores and offline sales channels of Wai Yuen Tong with
flexibility, in order to offset the negative impact brought by unfavourable
operating conditions. Last year, the Group expedited its deployment and
improved its online sales channels. In Hong Kong, the Group actively optimised
the service efficiency of our own official online shopping platform, “Wai Yuen
Tong E-Shop” (www.wyteshop.com), while we continued to nurture our Wai
Yuen Tong brand flagship store on HKTVmall.com. In Mainland China, the Group
also established Wai Yuen Tong flagship stores on Tmall.com and JD.com in the
past years to provide services dedicated for consumers in Mainland China. Faced
with travel restrictions between China and Hong Kong and quarantine measures
during the year under review, we also set up Wai Yuen Tong overseas flagship
stores on Tmall.hk and JD.hk to provide consumers in Mainland China with a
brand new cross-border shopping experience.

In respect of Western pharmaceutical and health food products, the production
facilities of “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s” under Luxembourg Medicine were
relocated to the Yuen Long GMP/PIC/S Factory at the end of 2018. Since 2019,
increased production capacity of aqua products of upper airway product series

ron ren

was achieved, which resulted in a sufficient production volume of Madame
Pearl's Cough Syrup to support us in starting to supply to local clinics. Despite
the additional sales of Madame Pearl’s Cough Syrup through such new channel,
it was not sufficient to offset the significant impact of COVID-19 pandemic
suffered by the cough and cold market for over-the-counter and clinic channels.

In addition, property investment was also one of the operating segments of
the Group. As at 31 March 2021, the Group owned 14 properties in Hong Kong
which are retail properties or industrial buildings. A majority of these properties
were self-use as retail shops while some were leased out for generating rental
income. In February 2020, the Group further expanded its scope of business into
management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets
in Mainland China through the acquisition of approximately 53.37% equity
interests in CAP, which contributed revenue of approximately HK$620.8 million
to the Group for the year under review.
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The Group actively leverages its social value of being a century-old well-
established brand, and pays keen attention to the livelihood and healthcare
needs of the disadvantaged. We spared no effort in the year under review to
work with them against adversities. Wai Yuen Tong adheres to the slogan of “Wai
Yuen Tong, improve your vitality, safeguard your health”. Apart from distributing
complimentary health protection gift packs to 2,000 senior citizens, we also
gifted over a thousand mooncakes to homes of the elderly of Tung Wah Group
of Hospitals on the occasion of mid-autumn festival, hoping to comfort the
elderly for not being around their families, and to care for their physical and
mental health.

In addition, Luxembourg Medicine has been cooperating with Hong Chi
Association and Haven of Hope Christian Service for many years in providing
these non-profit organisations with job opportunities for their beneficiaries,
including product packaging jobs. Meanwhile, the Group pays attention in
particular to grassroot families and elderly, and has mobilised volunteers to
distribute anti-pandemic resources and daily necessities on various occasions, in
order to help them weather the storm during the economic recession under the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Besides, the COVID-19 pandemic has not led to a halt in the career development
of our employees. During the year under review, the Group continued to hold
face-to-face on-the-job trainings in compliance with the social distancing
measures, and we also held online professional seminars to enable employees to
grow together with the Company.

Outlook

Looking forward, the global and Hong Kong economic recovery depends
largely on the development of the pandemic. Despite vaccination programs
being rolled out in various countries and in Hong Kong, we are uncertain as
to the progress and effectiveness of those vaccination programs. It also takes
time for the travel restrictions and local social distancing measures to be lifted.
The Group looks forward to the reopening of inbound tourism and continuous
improvement of local employment, which will lead to the rebound of consumer
sentiment and unleash the potential of offline consumption, in hopes of having
the retail and service industries of Hong Kong pick up their growth once again.
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Chairman’s Statement
F S

In the post-COVID era, the Chinese and Western Pharmaceutical and Health
Food Industry are presented with an opportunity of upgrade and development.
The Group will be moving on full speed, focusing on the three pillars of Chinese
medicine, comprising one-stop out-patient clinic, e-commerce and pet market.
The Group will continue to develop more proprietary Chinese medicines and
health food targeting common health issues of urban citizens, and we are
devoted to build the largest team of resident registered Chinese medicine
practitioners in Hong Kong. At the same time, we will seek appropriate locations
in the local communities for opening more retail stores, to satisfy the demand of
nearby residents for Chinese medicine healthcare.

The construction of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area is a
major development strategy under the reform and opening-up of the country
in the new era. The Group is actively integrating into the overall national
development plan, and is continuously preparing for and promoting business
development in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. We
are ready to capture the development opportunities of traditional Chinese
medicine industry in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay at any time.
Leveraging on national policies, we hope to fully grasp the long accumulated
potential of business growth.

In addition, since August 2017, the Group has launched a five-year strategic
partnership for traditional Chinese medicine with Nanjing University of Chinese
Medicine, and established the “Nanjing University of Chinese Medicine and Wai
Yuen Tong Industry, Education and Research Base” in Hong Kong, to contribute
to the promotion of talent training, technology research and development and
health services in China and Hong Kong.
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In view of the volatility of the COVID-19 pandemic, local and global economic
recovery is paved with hardship. Under the uncertain operational prospects,
the Group will closely monitor the market, review and adjust business strategies
from time to time, and seek to maximise the synergy of traditional Chinese
medicine and Western medicine. Meanwhile, we will pursue consistent and
rigorous cost control measures to maintain profitability. In addition, the Group
will explore suitable merger and acquisition opportunities, continue to enrich its
business portfolio to meet future market demands, and create long-term value
for shareholders and customers.

Appreciation

In this extraordinary year, the Group has joined hands with Hong Kong people
in overcoming the many challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic and economic
recession. On behalf of all members of the Board, | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to shareholders, business partners and all colleagues for
sailing through the challenges, allowing the Group to forge ahead on the road
of sustainable development while balancing the creation of economic benefits
and social value. With all parties coming together against the headwinds, |
believe that a rainbow will eventually appear after the storm. | look forward to
embarking on this new journey with each and every one of you amid the rapid
development of the Group.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Consolidated Results

For the financial year ended 31 March 2021, total revenue of the Group increased
by approximately 78.6% to approximately HK$1,108.6 million. The COVID-19
pandemic, which has happened since early 2020, is still continuing and inflicting
severe impacts on global and local economic activities. Travel quarantine
measures were persistently reinforced by many countries around the world.
Between Hong Kong and China, most of the cross-borders immigration control
points have been suspending services for passengers since February 2020. As
a result, the number of tourists visiting Hong Kong for the financial year ended
31 March 2021 had dropped more than 90% comparing with the financial year
ended 31 March 2020. Revenue of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products and Western pharmaceutical and health food products dropped by
approximately 2.9% to approximately HK$453.4 million and by approximately
74.4% to approximately HK$25.7 million, respectively. Subsequent to the Group's
acquisition of approximately 53.37% equity interest of China Agri-Products
Exchange Limited ("CAP’, a subsidiary of the Company listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with stock
code: 149, together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “CAP Group’, and is
principally engaged in the business of management and sale of properties in
agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China) in February 2020,
the Group had consolidated the full year financial results of the CAP Group
for the financial year ended 31 March 2021, comparing with approximately 2
months financial results for the financial year ended 31 March 2020, and hence
the revenue from management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets had increased by approximately 1,305.6% to approximately
HK$620.8 million.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recorded a loss
attributable to owners of the parent amounting to approximately HK$376.0
million (2020: profit of approximately HK$438.5 million (Restated)). Such loss
was mainly attributable to, among other things, (i) the loss resulted from the
disposal of the Group’s investment in Easy One Financial Group Limited (“Easy
One’, a former associate of the Company); (i) absence of gain on disposal of
items of property, plant and equipment and an investment property as recorded
in 2020; and (iii) absence of gain on bargain purchase arising from acquisition of
approximately 53.37% equity interest in CAP on 12 February 2020 as recorded in
2020.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil). No interim dividend was declared
for the six months ended 30 September 2020 (30 September 2019: Nil).
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Chinese Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, revenue of the Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food products decreased by approximately
2.9% to approximately HK$453.4 million. According to retail sales figures
released by the Census and Statistics Department in February 2021, the
estimated retail sales in value in Hong Kong for the full year 2020 dropped
by approximately 24.3% as compared to 2019. The business environment
of the retail trade will remain challenging in the near term amid frozen
inbound tourism and the ongoing local epidemic. Notwithstanding the
subdued economic outlook, we have implemented various initiatives
during the year for the long-term growth of the Group, including
enriching the product range, advocating our high quality Chinese medical
services provided by our professional Chinese medicine practitioner and
consolidating distribution channel, developing E-commerce business
to meet the demand from our customers in Hong Kong and China etc.
Revenue of this business segment accounted for approximately 40.9% of
total revenue of the Group.

Despite the weak consumer sentiment and subdued economic conditions,
traditional Chinese medicine ("TCM") has demonstrated a remarkable
clinical value on COVID-19 crisis. Angong Sanbao (% &= =) is regarded
as our key Chinese pharmaceutical products: Angong Niuhuang Wan (%
= HIL), Angong Jiangya Wan (% & B&JBEAL), Angong Zaizao Wan (%
B 13 L), which are gatekeepers of cardiovascular health of the public
based on the overall concept of emergency-prevention-rehabilitation.
Furthermore, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") government has
continued to update TCM solution with Angong Niuhuang Wan (% & 4=
#JL) chosen as one of the treatment. The products series are registered
in Hong Kong according to ancient prescriptions/nationally recognised
prescription and its whole production process is carried out at our GMP/
PIC/S factory in Yuen Long, Hong Kong. Abovementioned products are
very popular in the market.

Moreover, during the year, the Group has expanded our products to the
pet market, by launching a "PROVET" (i &5 BE) series of products. “PROVET"
is the first healthcare and food products for pet in Hong Kong which are
made purely by Chinese medicine. “PROVET" is developed by Chinese
medicine professionals and manufactured in Hong Kong. The series of
products have received a good acceptance in Hong Kong market.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Upon the outbreak of COVID-19 across the world, a series of precautionary
and control policies were implemented in China, Hong Kong and Macau,
including travel restriction and regional lockdown. All those stringent
measures have adversely affected on overall performance of our retail
sales in tourism business sector. Nevertheless, the performance of our
retail sales in domestic district remained stable. In order to strive with
market key competitors in Hong Kong and Macau, the Company keeps
expanding its market share by opening retail outlets in domestics sector.
Moreover, to extend our care for public health, we are expanding our fleet
of professional Chinese medicine practitioner, for provision of Chinese
medical clinics service at our retail outlets. As at 31 March 2021, the
Group has 72 retail outlets in Hong Kong, including professional Chinese
medicine clinic and outlets operated under self-operating and franchise
modes. The number of Chinese medical service affiliated in our retail
outlets has been increased from 43 as at 31 March 2020 to 62 as at 31
March 2021. The number of Macau retail outlets are 5 as at 31 March 2021
and the Group will further explore opportunities in expanding our retail
sales network and supply chain of pharmacy in Macau.

The Group is well aware of the importance of networks nowadays and
therefore has intensified its efforts to explore other sales channels,
major customers, distributors as well as overseas regions to expand and
enrich its sales channels. Moreover, we have expanded our E-commerce
sales network in Hong Kong, by leveraging on our own e-shop
www.wyteshop.com ({75 i) and the sale channel on HKTVmall.com.
To meet the demand of the Mainland customers to our Hong Kong
manufactured products, we have set-up retail outlets in Hong Kong
China cross-border e-shop, e.g. Tmall.hk and JD.hk, so that the Mainland
customers can purchase our Hong Kong manufactured products directly
through these e-shops. Furthermore, the Group has set-up flagship stores
in major Mainland China e-shop, e.g. Tmall.com, JD.com, for local sales
of the Group. The Group is also in the process of exploring collaboration
with casinos, commercial banks and insurance companies to broaden the
customer base in future. Besides, the Group will upgrade our retail point of
sales system in Hong Kong and Macau to increase sales efficiency.
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Last but not least, the Group will continue to work with renowned
universities and research institutes to promote and develop new Chinese
medicine health products, in particular for the aged persons. In the face
of future challenges, the Group will insist on strict monitoring on product
quality and a sincere service attitude.

Western Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

Revenue of the Western pharmaceutical and health food products
decreased by approximately 74.4% to approximately HK$25.7 million
since the consumer sentiment stayed weak for the financial year ended 31
March 2021.

The two major product series, “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s” under this
business segment encountered different challenges during the year. After
the relocation of production facilities to the Group'’s Yuen Long factory
completed by the end of 2018, the production volume of Madame Pearl’s
cough syrup started picking up in 2019. In order to maximise the benefits
on the increased production capacity, the Group started supplying local
clinics and aims to cover more than 400 local private clinics by the end
of 2021. In coming year, the Group will launch more products for clinics
in order to maximise the potential of this new channel. Despite the
additional sales of cough syrup through this new channel, revenue of this
business segment was still affected due to the COVID-19 pandemic which
has significant negative impact on cough and cold market for both Over-
The-Counter and ethical channels.

The Pearl’s product series, which comprises MosquitOut spray, patch
and itch-relief products, faced severe price competition and the sale was
further deteriorated during the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite a highly
competitive market environment, Pearl’s MosquitOut still remains as a
leading brand in this product category.

During the year, the Group placed substantial resources in revamping
its Western pharmaceutical and personal care product distribution
channels in order to improve business efficiency. More resources were
put on branding with an aim to strengthening the brand loyalty for both

"

“Madame Pearl's” and “Pearl’s”.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021
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To comply with the development of relevant regulations in Mainland
China, the Group has engaged various local industry players to rejuvenate
the penetration of its upper respiratory product series under the “Madame
Pearl's” into Mainland China. In December 2020, National Medical Products
Administration (B %X 2 i B & & #17)) had approved the application by
Luxembourg Medicine Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company,
for manufacturing the children cough syrup products in the Group’s Yuen
Long factory and importing the same into Mainland China. We expect
an improved demand for the children cough syrup products in Mainland
China for the upcoming years.

Capitalising on state-of-the-art technology and advanced equipment of
the Group’s Yuen Long factory, the Group continues to carry out research
and development of products for core medical solution targeting at
institutional clients and local clinics.

Property Investment

As at 31 March 2021, the Group owned 14 properties in Hong Kong, which
are all retail or industrial properties. A majority of those properties were
self-use as retail shops while some were leased out for generating rental
income. The net fair value loss on investment properties in Hong Kong
amounted to approximately HK$20.9 million (2020: loss of approximately
HK$95.5 million) as a result of the further deterioration of retail market
condition. During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
completed the acquisition of 3 properties at Wing Lung Building, Nos. 220-
240 and 240A Castle Peak Road, Kowloon for an aggregate consideration
of HK$43.0 million. Please refer to the announcement dated 16 October
2020 of the Company for details of the property acquisitions. There was
no disposal of properties in Hong Kong during the year and hence no
gain on disposals (2020: gain on disposals of 5 properties amounted to
approximately HK$60.9 million) was recognised during the financial year
ended 31 March 2021.

The Group also owned agricultural produce exchange markets in
Mainland China. The net fair value loss on owned investment properties in
Mainland China amounted to approximately HK$11.2 million (2020: loss of
approximately HKS$3.7 million) for the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

(3)
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Investment in CAP

On 26 September 2019, Goal Success Investments Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Offeror”), announced
(as supplemented by the announcement dated 28 November 2019) that
Kingston Securities Limited, on behalf of the Offeror, proposed to put
forward a proposal (subject to the satisfaction of certain pre-conditions)
to:

(@) make a pre-conditional voluntary partial cash offer to the
shareholders of CAP to acquire such number of CAP shares which
resulted in the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it holding a
maximum of 75% of the CAP shares in issue at the partial share offer
price of HK$0.091 per CAP share; and

(b)  extend an appropriate offer to acquire a maximum of 46.86% of the
outstanding principal amount of the 7.5% convertible note(s) due
2021 issued by CAP on 19 October 2016 (the “Convertible Notes")
(subject to adjustment in the event of a change in the issued
share capital of CAP) at the partial Convertible Notes offer price of
HK$0.2275 for each outstanding HK$1 face value of the Convertible
Notes,

items (a) and (b) above (collectively the “CAP Acquisition”).

The cash consideration paid by the Offeror under the CAP Acquisition
amounted to approximately HK$483.4 million. The CAP Acquisition
was completed in February 2020. In the preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March
2020, the purchase price allocation of the CAP Acquisition and the
resulting gain on bargain purchase were determined on a provisional
basis. During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has
finalised the fair value assessment of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of the CAP Group (the “Finalised Assessment’) as of 12 February 2020
(the “Acquisition Date").

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On 18 January 2021, the Court of First Instance in the High Court of Hong
Kong (the “CFI") handed down a judgement in respect of the Baisazhou
Acquisition (as defined in the paragraph headed “Litigation” in this
section), pursuant to which CAP is not required to make any payment
under the Instruments (as defined in the paragraph headed “Litigation”
in this section) to Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang") or Wuhan Tian Jiu
Industrial and Commercial Development Co., Limited (“Tian Jiu"). The
trials in the CFI were completed before the Acquisition Date, and the
judgement was handed down within one year from the Acquisition Date,
which is within the measurement period. As such, on completion of
the fair value assessments, retrospective adjustments were made to the
provisional amounts related to identifiable liabilities of the CAP Group
recognised as of the Acquisition Date. Consequently, the Company’s
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the financial year ended 31 March 2020,
and certain explanatory notes have been restated to reflect these
restatements. For details on the financial effects of the above, please refer
to note 4 to financial statements of this annual report.

As at 31 March 2021, the CAP Group managed 11 agricultural produce
exchange markets in Mainland China, across five provinces. During the
year, the CAP Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$620.8
million which included (i) approximately HK$233.2 million generated from
property sales; (i) approximately HK$42.0 million generated from sale of
goodes; (iii) approximately HK$83.3 million generated from commission
income from agricultural produce exchange markets; (iv) approximately
HK$98.4 million generated from agricultural produce exchange markets
ancillary services; and (v) approximately HK$163.9 million generated from
rental income from investment properties operating leases.

In order to achieve long term growth, the CAP Group strives for
diversification of income streams via operating its wholly-owned
agricultural produce exchange markets, entering into cooperation
projects with local partners, making small amount of investment and
providing management services to local partners to operate agricultural
markets under the CAP Group’s brand name, and provision of food and
agricultural by-products merchandising services to customers.
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The main agricultural produce exchange markets of the CAP Group in the
PRC are Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
("Wuhan Baisazhou Market"), Yulin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product
Exchange Market (“Yulin Market”) and Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and
By-Product Exchange Market (“Luoyang Market”).

Wuhan Baisazhou Market

Wuhan Baisazhou Market is one of the largest agricultural produce
exchange market operators in the PRC. It is situated in the Hongshan
District of Wuhan City, the PRC with a site area of approximately 310,000
square metres and a total gross floor area of approximately 190,000
square metres. In 2020, Wuhan Baisazhou Market was awarded top 10 of
agricultural produce exchange markets by China Agricultural Wholesale
Market Association. The award was a sign to the market contribution
being made by the Group's effort and expertise as an agricultural produce
exchange market operator in the PRC. Rental income from properties
letting, commission income and revenue from agricultural produce
exchange markets ancillary services are the major income generated from
Wuhan Baisazhou Market.

During the year, legal disputes related to the market have resulted in
a positive outcome. For details, please refer to the paragraph headed
“Litigation” in this section.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 significantly affected the market
performance of Wuhan Baisazhou Market in early 2020. When the
pandemic began, the Wuhan local government limited the market
operation scale as a control measure which lasted until late April 2020, and
resumed normal operation afterwards. Wuhan Baisazhou Market was titled
“An Outstanding Enterprise in Contributing to the Epidemic Prevention
and Control and Supply Guarantee in Wuhan” by the Supplies Security
Section under the Wuhan's Epidemic Prevention and Control Division for
its remarkable contributions towards “supply guarantee”.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021
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Yulin Market

Yulin Market is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange markets
in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC with a site area of
approximately 415,000 square metres and a total gross floor area of
approximately 196,000 square metres. Sale of properties is the major
income generated from Yulin Market.

Luoyang Market

Luoyang Market is the flagship project of the CAP Group in Henan
Province, the PRC, with a site area and a gross floor area of approximately
255,000 square metres and approximately 223,000 square metres,
respectively. Sale of properties, rental income from properties letting and
sale of goods are the major income generated from Luoyang Market.

COVID-19 Pandemic

The outbreak of the COVID-19 significantly affected the market
performance in early 2020. The markets maintained limited operation
during the pandemic as required by the local government. As the
pandemic was gradually brought under control, the operation of
agricultural produce exchange markets had returned to normal and
reported a steady and satisfactory result.

Investment in Easy One

Easy One, a company formerly listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, is principally engaged in the businesses of property
development in Mainland China and provision of finance and securities
brokerage services in Hong Kong.

On 4 May 2020, Caister Limited (“Caister”), a company wholly owned
by Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the controlling shareholder of Wang On Group
Limited ("Wang On”, a holding company of the Company, whose shares
are listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock
code: 1222), and the Chairman and Managing Director of the Company,
requested the board of Easy One, an exempted company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability, to put
forward a proposal to the other shareholders of Easy One (the “Proposal’)
for the privatisation of Easy One by way of a scheme of arrangement (the
“Scheme”) under Section 99 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.
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Pursuant to the Proposal, all ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in Easy
One (the “Scheme Share(s)") were cancelled in exchange for the
consideration comprising the cash consideration of HK$0.3 per Scheme
Share and the consideration shares on the basis of eight (8) ordinary
share of Wang On as held by Caister, for each Scheme Share (the
“Consideration”). The Proposal, upon implementation, constituted
a major and connected transaction for the Company under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), details of which were set out in the joint announcement
published by the Company, Wang On, Easy One and Caister dated 4 May
2020.

On 26 August 2020, at the respective special general meetings of the
Company and Wang On, the independent shareholders of the Company
and Wang On respectively approved the Proposal and the disposal of
the Scheme Shares held by the Group in exchange for the Consideration.
On 8 September 2020, the resolution proposed at the meeting of the
shareholders of the Scheme Shares (the “Scheme Shareholders”) to
approve the Scheme was duly passed by the Scheme Shareholders. On 17
September 2020, the Scheme was sanctioned by the Supreme Court of
Bermuda without modification. The Scheme eventually became effective
on 16 October 2020 when all the conditions to the implementation of the
Proposal were fulfilled.

Details of the transaction were set out in the joint announcement
published by the Company, Wang On, Easy One and Caister dated 4 May
2020; the scheme document dated 12 August 2020 jointly issued by Easy
One and Caister in relation to the Proposal and the Scheme; the circulars
of the Company and Wang On dated 24 July 2020 respectively and their
respective poll results announcements dated 26 August 2020 in respect
of the disposal of the entire shareholdings in Easy One of the Company
and Wang On; and the respective joint announcements of Easy One and
Caister dated 8 September 2020, 18 September 2020, 12 October 2020 and
16 October 2020.

Loss on disposal of investment in Easy One of approximately HK$237.7
million was recorded as other expenses during the year (2020: Nil).
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Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive
Income

The Group has maintained a portfolio of listed equity securities and listed/
unlisted bonds in Hong Kong which are held for long term investment
purpose with an aim to generating stable income. As at 31 March 2021,
the Group's investment in bonds amounted to approximately HK$136.0
million and carried annual interest rates ranging from 5.98% to 12.85%.

As at 31 March 2021, the fair value of financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income was approximately HK$282.8 million (2020:
approximately HK$173.2 million). During the year, the Group has recorded
a net gain on change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income of approximately HK$42.3 million (2020: net
loss of approximately HK$52.0 million).

Convertible Notes

On 19 October 2016, CAP issued the Convertible Notes with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$500 million which will mature on 18 October
2021. The Convertible Notes are convertible into ordinary shares of
CAP at a conversion price of HK$0.4 per ordinary share of CAP. On 27
November 2020, CAP served partial redemption notices to the holders
of the Convertible Notes pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Convertible Notes for the early redemption of a principal of HK$130.0
million of the Convertible Notes, which has been settled by CAP’s
internal resources. Immediately after the completion of the early partial
redemption in December 2020, the Convertible Notes in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$134.8 million remained outstanding. During the
year, no Convertible Notes were converted into ordinary shares of CAP by
the Convertible Notes' holders. As at 31 March 2021, the Convertible Notes
had an outstanding principal amount of HK$134.8 million.

Unsecured Notes Due in 2024 (the “Unsecured Notes”)

In May 2014, CAP established a HK$1,000 million medium term note
program. The Unsecured Notes issued under the program are listed on
the Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only
(stock code: 5755). As at 31 March 2021, the Unsecured Notes had an
outstanding principal amount of HK$290.0 million.
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Financial Review

(1)

Liquidity and Gearing and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had total assets of approximately
HKS$7,964.5 million (2020: approximately HKS$7,730.2 million) which
were financed by current liabilities of approximately HK$2,371.4 million
(2020: approximately HK$1,873.7 million), non-current liabilities of
approximately HK$1,642.8 million (2020: approximately HK$1,863.1
million) and shareholders’ equity of approximately HK$3,950.3 million
(2020: approximately HK$3,993.4 million).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
approximately HK$507.2 million (2020: approximately HK$475.7 million).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s total interest-bearing debts amounted
to approximately HK$1,661.1 million (2020: approximately HK$1,800.8
million), which bore interest at fixed and floating interest rates and were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi ("RMB”). Please refer
to note 30 to financial statements of this annual report for the maturity
profile of the Group's borrowings.
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effective effective
HK$ Million interest rate HKS Million interest rate
BEET MHOERR=E BEBST BHEEMEX

Unsecured notes ERRZE 199 12% 181 12%

Convertible Notes TAREE 132 12% 250 12%

Financial institution borrowings TRREEE 1,255 4% 1,295 4%

A subsidiary of Wang On i) L) YN 75 10% 75 10%
Total e 1,661 1,801

The current ratio, being a ratio of total current assets to total current
liabilities, was approximately 1.4 (2020: approximately 1.7). The gearing
ratio, being the ratio of total interest-bearing debts net of cash and
cash equivalents to equity attributable to owners of the parent, was
approximately 45.0% (2020: approximately 50.1%). The Group always
adopts a conservative approach in its financial management.
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Significant Investments Held

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately HK$282.8 million and approximately

Management Discussion and Analysis

HK$102.6 million respectively, details of which were set out as follows:

Name of Investments

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income:

A Equity investments

Wang On
Others

B Debtinvestments

Sub-total

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:

A Rockpool Capital SPC
(Rockpool’)

8. Unlisted funds
(. Others

Sub-total

Total

Asat
31 March 2021

n-%

-

ZA=t-B

Amount
held

fikeE

Percentage
to Group's
net assets
A5E
KERE
AAl

0f
0

For the financial year ended
31 March 2021
BEogs-f

ZAZT-BLUREE

Fair value
gain/(loss)

19
/(58)

(2)

Bond

interest
income

it
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carrying amount

A/ BEE
Asat Asat
Dividends 31 March 31 March
received 2021 2020
i
5.3
=h=1-H
HKS'000

Investment
costs

RATESEM2AYS

NEZHHEE:
A RERE
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The principal activities of the securities are as follows:

(a) WangOn

Wang On is principally engaged in (i) management and sub-
licensing of fresh markets and treasury management in Hong Kong
and the PRG; (ii) property investment and property development in
Hong Kong through Wang On Properties Limited (stock code: 1243),
its 75%-owned listed subsidiary; (iii) manufacturing and/or retailing
of pharmaceutical and health food products through the Company,
its 65.79%-owned listed subsidiary; and (iv) management and sale
of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC
through CAP, a 53.37%-owned listed subsidiary of the Company.

(b) Rockpool
Rockpool, an exempted company registered as a segregated
portfolio company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman
Islands with limited liability.

(c) Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other equity
securities and bonds in Hong Kong, the fair value of each of which
represented less than 1.00% of the net assets of the Group as at 31
March 2021.

(d) Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other unlisted
funds and derivative financial instruments, the fair value of each of
which represented less than 1.00% of the net assets of the Group as
at 31 March 2021.

Financial Review and Prospect of Significant Investments Held

(a) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
include listed equity securities and listed/unlisted debt investments.
The Group has always adopted a prudent investment strategy and
would closely monitor the market changes and adjust its investment
portfolio as and when necessary. The Group intended to hold these
investments for long term purpose with an aim to generating a
stable income.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021
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As at 31 March 2021, the fair value of the Group's investments in
bonds and equity securities amounted to approximately HK$136.0
million (2020: approximately HK$121.4 million) and approximately
HK$146.9 million (2020: approximately HK$51.9 million),
respectively.

The Group had recorded a net gain on change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
of approximately HK$42.3 million for the year (2020: net loss of
approximately HK$52.0 million).

(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
As at 31 March 2021, the Group maintained an investment portfolio
of unlisted funds and derivative financial instruments. The Group has
always adopted a prudent investment strategy and would closely
monitor the market changes and adjust its investment portfolio as
and when necessary.

The Group had recorded a net gain on change in fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$6.6 million for the year (2020: net loss of approximately HK$7.9
million).

Foreign Exchange

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has material foreign exchange
exposure in RMB. All bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and RMB. The revenue of the Group, mostly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB, matches the currency requirements of the Group's
operating expenses. Currently, the Group does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy.

The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks mainly
arising from its operations in Mainland China. The RMB exposure of the
Group is mainly derived from currency translation risk arising from the net
assets of our Mainland subsidiaries. The re-translation of these net assets
denominated in RMB into Hong Kong dollars using the exchange rate as
of the reporting date resulted in a re-translation gain of approximately
HK$286.5 million (2020: loss of approximately HK$83.8 million). The re-
translation difference was recognised in other comprehensive income/
exchange reserve.
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Treasury Policy

With an aim to ensuring adequate financial resources are available for
business growth whilst maintaining a prudent capital structure, the Group
manages its financial risks including currency risk, interest rate risk and
price risk. The Group invests its surplus funds in listed debt investments to
maximise assets efficiency.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had capital commitment of approximately
HK$242.6 million (2020: approximately HK$399.6 million) in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and construction contracts,
which were contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated
financial statements.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2021, certain bank loans of the Group were secured by the
Group's property, plant and equipment, owned investment properties
and certain rental income generated therefrom, properties held for
sale, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
with a total carrying value of approximately HK$2,435.3 million (2020:
approximately HK$2,498.5 million).

Financial Guarantee

As at 31 March 2021, the Group provided guarantees of approximately
HK$56.8 million to customers in favour of certain banks for the loans
provided by the banks to the customers of the properties sold (2020:
approximately HK$63.5 million). Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees,
in the event of default on mortgage payments by these purchasers before
the expiry of the guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and
penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any sales
proceeds.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Litigation
In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-Product
Grand Market Company Limited (“Baisazhou Agricultural”’) from independent

third parties, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for their respective 70% and 20% interest in
Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Baisazhou Acquisition”).

Since 2011, the CAP Group has been involved in a number of civil proceedings
in Mainland China and Hong Kong. The key civil proceedings in Mainland China
and Hong Kong in respect of the Baisazhou Acquisition are set out below:

In Mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu and the
CAP Group:

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced proceedings against the PRC
Ministry of Commerce ("MOFCOM’) in the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s
Court, seeking, inter alia, a direction that MOFCOM revoke its approval in respect
of the Baisazhou Acquisition.

Itis alleged by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu that:

(@)  Baisazhou Agricultural forged share transfer agreements (the “Contended
Agreements’) in relation to the Baisazhou Acquisition wherein the
related consideration was understated and the manner of settlement of
the consideration was inaccurately described;

(b)  Baisazhou Agricultural forged the related documentation for filing with
MOFCOM and the Hubei Administration For Industry and Commerce
(the "Hubei AIC"), and that such documentation and the Contended
Agreement involved forged signatures; and

() MOFCOM and the Hubei AIC approved the Baisazhou Acquisition and
processed the related fillings on the basis of the above documents that are
allegedly forged.

In December 2015, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court directed
MOFCOM to reconsider its approval decision. In May 2016, MOFCOM decided
that its approval issued in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be
revoked and shall remain to be in force (the “Reconsidered Decision”).
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In August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced administrative proceedings
against MOFCOM in the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court seeking
to set aside the Reconsidered Decision. In March 2017, the Beijing Second
Intermediate People’s Court dismissed the application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
(31 March Judgment”). On 20 December 2018, the Beijing Higher People’s
Court upheld the 31 March Judgment (“20 December Judgment’). Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu applied to the Supreme People’s Court for a retrial and for dismissal
of (i) the 31 March Judgment, and (ii) the 20 December Judgment, but this
application was dismissed by the Supreme People’s Court on 29 December
2020.

As advised by the CAP Group’s PRC legal advisor, the approval issued by
MOFCOM in 2007 in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked
and remain to be in force, and the CAP Group continues to be the legal and
beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

In May 2015, the CAP Group commenced legal proceedings against Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu in the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province ("Hubei
Court") seeking, inter alia, declarations and orders that the sales and purchase
agreements for the Baisazhou Acquisition (the “SPA”) have been legally
made, and that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to
discharge its contractual duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with
MOFCOM (which were subsequently withdrawn in April 2019 in light of the
decisions in respect of the MOFCOM approvals). Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu filed
their counterclaim for, inter alia, the return of the CAP Group’s 90% interest in
Baisazhou Agricultural, which was dismissed by the Hubei Court in December
2019 ("23 December Judgment”).

In January 2020, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 23 December
Judgment. On 29 March 2021, the CAP Group received the judgment of the
Supreme Court dated 29 December 2020 (the “29 December Judgment”)
which upheld the 23 December Judgment and dismissed the appeal of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu. As advised by the PRC legal advisors of the CAP Group,
according to the 23 December Judgment and the 29 December Judgment,
the CAP Group continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou
Agricultural.
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In Hong Kong, CAP as plaintiff against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as
defendants

In 2011, CAP issued a Writ of Summons in the CFl against Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu. CAP (as purchaser) sought damages from Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as
vendors) for their breach of various provisions of the SPA. Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu counterclaimed for, amongst others, an order that CAP shall cause and/or
procure the shares in Baisazhou Agricultural to be transferred back to Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu.

In 2012, CAP obtained a court order from the CFl to the effect that undertakings
(the "Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not to (i) indorse,
assign, transfer or negotiate the two instruments (purportedly described as
promissory notes in the SPA) (the “Instruments”); and (ii) enforce payment
in relation to the SPA by presentation of the Instruments until the final
determination of these proceedings or further court order. Pursuant to the
Undertakings, the Instruments will no longer fall due for payment by CAP on 5
December 2012.

The CFl handed down its judgment on 18 January 2021 awarding damages in
favour of CAP for sums exceeding the sum owed under the Instruments. The
CFl also ordered that the damages awarded to CAP be set-off by the sum owed
under the Instruments, and that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not be allowed to enforce
the Instruments against CAP. In effect, CAP is not required to make any payment
under the Instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian Jiu. CAP is seeking legal advice
for the recovery of the balance of the damages awarded to it. Further, as the
counterclaim of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu was dismissed, CAP continues to be the
legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

Further details regarding the civil proceedings which the CAP Group has been
involved in can be found in the interim/annual reports and announcements
issued by CAP.
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Relationship With Employees, Suppliers and
Customers

The Group recognises our employees as the key element that contributes to
the Group's success. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 1,822 (2020: 1,803)
employees, of whom approximately 31.8% (2020: approximately 29.5%) were
located in Hong Kong and Macau and the rest were located in Mainland
China. The Group remunerated its employees based on industry practices and
individual performance and experience. On top of the regular remuneration,
discretionary bonus and share options may also be granted to selected staff
by reference to the Group's performance, where appropriate, as well as the
individual's performance. The Group also provides a defined contribution to the
Mandatory Provident Fund as required under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for our eligible
employees in Hong Kong and pays retirement contributions in accordance
with the statutory requirements for our PRC staff. Other benefits such as
medical and retirement benefits and structured training programs were also
provided. Meanwhile, the Group endeavours to provide a safe workplace to our
employees. The Board believes that the Group maintains admirable relations
with the employees.

Besides, the Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with the stakeholders, including business partners, suppliers,
customers, shareholders, investors and bankers to achieve its long-term business
growth and development. With an aim to enhancing the competitiveness of the
brands of the Group, it endeavours to provide consistently high quality and large
range of products to its customers; and to build up and maintain a trustworthy
and long-term relationship with its suppliers.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group has examined the principal risks facing the Group through our risk
management and internal control system and we consider that the major risks
and uncertainties that may affect the Group included:

(i) industrial policy risk: (a) with the deepening of medical system reform
and the issuance of a number of industrial policies and laws in respect
of medical charge control and control of medicines and certification
for TCM significant effect may be brought to the future development
of the pharmaceutical industry; and (b) the development, construction,
operations and acquisition of agricultural produce exchange markets;

(i) low growth of customer base: due to the decrease in the number of
Mainland tourists and Hong Kong economy recession this year, the
potential of our retail sales growth may face challenges;

(i) environmental protection policies: environmental impact, efficiency and
security of key infrastructure;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(iv)  cost control: may not always be able to implement cost control measures
to effectively counter the effect of rising product cost and/or decrease in
income;

(v)  allowance for obsolete inventories: allowance for obsolete inventories due
to weather, expiry date of unsold products and other damages;

(vi)  supply chain disruption: due to industrial issues, risks of supplier control
and flexibilities, to deal with competitive pricings;

(vii) inability to penetrate emerging markets: may not be able to effectively
penetrate traditional industries and traditional products into emerging
markets;

(viii) respond to customer behaviour: may not be able to respond effectively
to economy recession, consumers reduced consumption, reduction in
consumer spending and change of impulsive shopping behavior;

(ix) sourcing: less globalised sourcing, the impact on the relative
competitiveness of costs;

(x)  volatility in retail rental: continue increasing in retail rental may reduce our
profitability if we are unable to pass on the effect of such increases to our
customers; and

(xi)  foreign exchange: unfavourable fluctuations in the exchange rate may
adversely affect the Group's cash flow and profits.

In response to the above mentioned possible risks, the Group has been closely
monitoring the changes in the policies in Hong Kong and Mainland China,
and would strengthen our interpretation and analysis of policies and adjust
strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment.
In particular, the Group will strengthen the marketing management to cope
with changes in consumer behaviour and needs, closely control inventories,
establish our own sales policies and product development, safety management
and environmental protection level, and push forward the construction of
lean management and risk control system. For possible risks, the Company
would actively propose solutions to lower their impacts on the business of the
Company.

Prospects

Looking forward, the Group will accelerate the development of its TCM
products in Mainland China and Macau which can diversify the risk of market
uncertainty and explore on the aged group market, in particular the silver hair
group, in Hong Kong. The national policy for Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau
Greater Bay Area, as a key development area, provides a bright prospect for
TCM development. Furthermore, the Group will further explore new product
development and develop new sales platform. Moreover, the Group will
continue to expand its business in agricultural produce exchange network in the
PRC by leveraging on its leading position in the industry.
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Guangdong - Hong Kong - Macau and the Greater Bay Business
Development

The Group will continue to push forward its development in Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area in order to broaden the distribution network
and help strengthen the Group's sales and brand recognition. During the year,
the Government of Macau Special Administrative Region has granted Wai
Yuen Tong (Macao) Limited ("WYT Macao") the import/export and wholesales
license of medicine in Macau, which is a milestone of business development in
Macau. WYT Macao can form its own sales team to directly sell its products to
pharmacies/supermarkets/chain stores in wholesales, which can expand our
business opportunities and market shares in Macau.

Besides, the setup of {7 JG &% ( Tk B % ) - @ & & A FR A 7] in Hengqin is
committed to developing itself into a new economic engine and a fascinating
city with distinctive characteristics for the Greater Bay Area. The Henggin New
Area of Zhuhai in the China (Guangdong) Pilot Free Trade Zone is an important
platform for deepening cooperation between Guangdong and Macau and
promoting an appropriate level of diversified economic development in
Macau, e.g. scientific research and medical development. A renowned Henggin
Medicine Garden can be built for developing medical tourism and health care
projects.

New Product Development

Subsequent to the outbreak of COVID-19, we believe that TCM plays an
increasingly significant role in the fight against this global pandemic. Prevention
comes before cure and consumer health awareness will increase.

We continue to ride on the development trend of the comprehensive new
healthcare products to satisfy the extensive market demands.

To focus on our TCM core businesses and enrich product mix on health
supplement aspects, we will ride on the development trend and leverage the
advantage to TCM product to various aspects. We have successfully launched
our new product range — PROVET as we believe “Tonic and health preservation
are not just human patent”. Wai Yuen Tong'’s pet supplement product range
"PROVET" is Hong Kong's first-ever pet wellness product developed by a team
of professional Chinese Medicine Veterinarians and validated Wai Yuen Tong's
Chinese Medicine Practitioners. The development of PROVET line is greatly
welcome by the market as our supplements are made with Chinese herbs for
dogs and cats and tailored to their health needs and ages. The Chinese Medicine
diagnoses through symptoms, and then addresses the underlying causes of the
issues. It not only treats symptoms but also improves the overall health of pets so
that future issues can be prevented, providing long-term health benefits to the
pets.
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Last but not least, continuous investment has been made in the diversification of
sales channels. A newly development of online shopping platforms as JD.Com/
TMall provide customers with seamless online and offline shopping experience.
We devote more focus on health products through online platforms in order to
tackle the weakened retail market which might continue for the rest of the year.

Regarding our Western pharmaceutical business, we expect a favourable growth
resulted in the sale of cough syrup to the private clinic market in Hong Kong and
through other distributors to be sold to the PRC.

The Group will continuously expand cooperation with scientific research
institutes and, based on TCM formulas and taking “Made in Hong Kong” as
quality control, promote scientific development in terms of regulation of
Chinese Medicine. We will continue to enhance our distribution network by
penetrating into more local communities and diversify our product range to
meet the needs of customers.

In December 2020, National Medical Products Administration (BR 5 2& & 5 &
& 2 J5 ) had approved the application by Luxembourg Medicine Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, for manufacturing the children cough
syrup products in the Group’s Yuen Long factory and importing the same into
Mainland China. We expect an improved demand for the children cough syrup
products in Mainland China for the upcoming years.

Management and Sale of Properties in Agricultural Produce Exchange
Markets

Agricultural development is the PRC central government's first priority policy for
the next consecutive years. In 2021, the Central Committee of Communist Party
of China and the State Council of China released the “No. 1 Central Document of
2021". The document promises to promote investments in agricultural produce
markets, expand agricultural produce network, build logistic infrastructure and
storage facilities of agriculture products and improve regional cold storage
infrastructure. On the other hand, it is expected that the “Belt and Road
Initiative” policy will drive the overall growth of the PRC economy and provide
a sustainable way for the PRC's continuing development. We believe we could
make use of the support from the PRC government to sustain the long term
growth with the aim to delivering long term benefits to the shareholders of the
Group.

We will continue to build a nationwide agricultural produce exchange
network by leveraging on its leading position in the industry, readily replicable
business model, well-advanced management system, information technology
infrastructure and quality customer services.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

As at the date of this report, the Directors and senior management of the
Company are as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, css, Jp, aged 59, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Company in August 2001 and also assumed the role of Managing Director with
effect from 1 April 2018. He is also an authorised representative and a member
of the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the executive
committee of the Company. He is responsible for the strategic planning, policy
making and business development of the Group. He has extensive experience
in corporate management. He is also the chairman, an executive director and
an authorised representative of Wang On Group Limited, and the non-executive
chairman and an authorised representative of China Agri-Products Exchange
Limited, both of which are companies listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Tang is the committee member of the 12th and 13th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference ("CPPCC")
and is also appointed as a standing committee member and convener of the
10th to the 12th plenary sessions of the CPPCC Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region Committee. Mr. Tang is also appointed as the first executive chairman
of the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organisations and the
chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen Association. He is the father of
Ms. Tang Wai Man, an executive Director and is also a controlling shareholder of
Wang On Group Limited which is a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Tang Wai Man, aged 30, joined the Group in January 2016 and was
appointed as an executive Director on 1 April 2018. She is an authorised
representative of the Company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance and
also a member of the executive committee, the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company. Ms. Tang is responsible for sales and
marketing, channel sales and retail operation in Hong Kong and Macau of the
Group. She graduated from University of Edinburgh, UK with a Master of Arts
with Honors in Business Studies. Prior to joining the Group, she had worked for
Wang On Group Limited since July 2014 as an assistant to chairman and other
experience in financial analysis, sales and marketing and business development
in a number of corporate bodies in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. She is
the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman and Managing Director and
the controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita, aged 58, joined the Group in 2004 and is the
Assistant General Manager — Purchasing Processing of the Group. She was
appointed as an executive Director and a member of the executive committee
of the Company on 8 February 2021. Ms. Law is responsible for overall strategic
planning, sales and marketing, raw material sourcing and retail operation in
Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China of the Group. She has extensive
experience in pharmaceutical industry covering strategic planning, sales and
marketing, new products development and production management.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Wai Ho, vH, aged 71, was re-designated as an Independent Non-
executive Director in April 2006 from a non-executive Director and he joined the
Group in 1994. Mr. Leung is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. He has more than
55 years and 24 years of experiences in the watch industry and financial industry
respectively. He is a member of the 11th and 12th plenary session of the National
Committee of the CPPCC, the chairman of Greater Bay Area Committee (also
being a Standing Committee Member) of The Chinese General Chamber of
Commerce, a Committee Member of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of
Hong Kong, the Honorary President of the Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce
in China — Guangdong and the Chartered President of the Dongguan City
Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment. Mr. Leung is also appointed
as a candidate of 2016 Election Committee of HKSAR Chief Executive, Subsector
— CPPCC.

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, aged 47, joined the Company as an Independent
Non-executive Director in August 2001. He is a member of the audit committee
and the nomination committee of the Company and the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Siu is a practising solicitor of
the High Court of Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree from the
University of Hong Kong in 1996 and is a partner of a law firm, namely Sit, Fung,
Kwong & Shum, and a China-Appointed Attesting Officer. His areas of practice
include corporate finance, capital markets, securities, mergers and acquisitions,
joint ventures and general commercial matters. Mr. Siu is also an independent
non-executive director of each of Brilliant Circle Holdings International Limited
(stock code: 1008), Shuang Yun Holdings Limited (stock code: 1706) and HKE
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1726), all of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Siu was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Weiye Holdings Limited (stock code: 1570) with effect from March
2016 and resigned from the position in December 2018.

Mr. Cho Wing Mou, aged 80, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director in September 2001. He is a member of the audit committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company and the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Cho was formerly a director and
deputy general manager of Hua Chiao Commercial Bank Limited and a deputy
general manager of The China State Bank Limited. He was a committee member
of the 8th Political Consultative Conference Guangxi and is also a committee
member of the 4th plenary session of the Guangxi Yulin Committee of the
CPPCC, Life Chairman of Hong Kong Guangxi Yulin Friendship Association, the
Life Chairman and the advisor of Hong Kong Guangxi Yulin City CPPCC and Life
Chairman of Gee Tuck General Association Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, aged 66, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 17 March 2015. He is the chairman of the audit committee
of the Company. Mr. Li is currently the senior advisor of SHINEWING (HK)
CPA Limited. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

Accountants, U.K. Mr. Li is an independent non-executive director and the
chairman of the audit committee of Shanghai Industrial Urban Development
Group Limited (stock code: 563). Mr. Li is also an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the audit committee, member of the nomination
committee and member of the remuneration committee of China-Hongkong
Photo Products Holdings Limited (stock code: 1123), Cosmopolitan International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 120) and Goldlion Holdings Limited (stock code:
533), an independent non-executive director, member of the audit committee,
member of the nomination committee and the chairman of the remuneration
committee of China Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
144), an independent non-executive director, member of the audit committee
and member of the remuneration committee of AVIC International Holding (HK)
Limited (stock code: 232), all of such companies are being listed in Hong Kong.
Mr. Li has retired as an independent non-executive director and ceased to be
the chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration committee, and
a member of the nomination committee of CR Construction Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1582), a company listed in Hong Kong, on 25 June 2021.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Tsang Yuen Wo joined the Group in September 2018 and he is currently
the Director (Technical) of both the Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Group and
the Luxembourg Medicine Group, principal subsidiaries of the Group. He is
responsible for technical operations of the Group including quality assurance,
quality control, production, research and development, engineering and logistic
issues. Dr. Tsang received his BSc(Pharm)(Hons) degree at the Aston University
and the PhD degree at the University of Sydney. He is a registered pharmacist
and a registered Authorized Person of the Pharmacy and Poisons Board of Hong
Kong. He has more than 20 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry.
Academically, Dr. Tsang is currently the Honorary Associate Professor of the
Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacy, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine,
the University of Hong Kong and the Adjunct Associate Professor, College of Life
Sciences and Technology, the School of Professional and Continuing Education,
the University of Hong Kong. He is also the Managing Editor of the Hong Kong
Pharmaceutical Journal.

Mr. Ng Lai Po joined the Company in October 2020 as the Financial Controller
and he is responsible for overseeing the accounting and financial operations
of the Group. Mr. Ng obtained a Bachelor of Social Sciences in the University of
Hong Kong and is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Ng has over 30 years of experience in finance and
accounting.

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa Angus joined the Company in February 2021 as the
Company Secretary and is a fellow member of both The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute. He holds
a Master Degree of Professional Accounting, a Master Degree of Corporate
Governance, a Bachelor Degree of Laws and a Bachelor Degree of Arts in
Translation. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung held company secretary
positions in several Hong Kong listed companies, including China Agri-Products
Exchange Limited (stock code: 149), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Board recognises that good corporate governance practices serve as an
effective risk management for the growth of the Company that will promote
and enhance the benefit of its shareholders (the “Shareholders”). The Company
is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance with a
strong emphasis on transparency, accountability, integrity and independence.

The Company continued to adopt the principles and comply with the code
provision of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the year under review. The Board has
periodically reviewed the compliance of the CG Code and is of the view that
throughout the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company had complied with the
applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except for the following deviation:

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman of the
Board, also assumed the role of Managing Director. Currently, the Company does
not propose to comply with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code for the time
being but will continue to review such deviation to enhance the best interest of
the Group as a whole. Details of such deviation are set out below in the section
headed “Chairman and Managing Director”.

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors and
Relevant Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from time to time, (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiries by the Company, all of the Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year
under review.

The Company also adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions
on no less exacting terms than the Model Code by the relevant employees of
the Group who are considered likely to be in possession of unpublished price
sensitive information in relation to the Company or its securities. To the best
knowledge and belief of the Directors, all relevant employees have complied
with the required standard of such code.
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Dividend Policy

In November 2018, the Company adopted a dividend policy, which is intended
to be prudent and sustainable and will be evaluated from time to time. There
is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any
particular period. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and regulations,
the Board may, at its discretion, determine the declaration of payment of
dividend(s) to its Shareholders in any amount, frequency in any financial year
depending on, among other things, the Company’s operation and financial
performance, liquidity condition, capital requirements, future funding needs,
contractual restrictions, availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate.

Business Model and Strategy

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the manufacturing, processing and
retailing of traditional Chinese medicine; (ii) the processing and sale of
Western pharmaceutical, health food and personal care products; (iii) property
investment; and (iv) the management and sale of properties in agricultural
produce exchange markets. The Group continues its proactive expansion
strategy for generating and preserving shareholder value over the longer term.

With respect to the core Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food
products business, the Group will further leverage its edge in vertical integration.
In order to achieve this objective, the Group is enhancing the effort on new
products research, development and registration, especially focus on those
Chinese and Western medicinal products which possess their own uniqueness
and curative effect. The Group also extends its retail and medical service network
aggressively to gain market share.

With respect to the property investment business, apart from the acquisition
of CAP which was successfully completed in mid-February 2020, the Group
continues to look for and acquire sizeable and potential retail premises for
mitigating the effect of rising rental costs.

On the other hand, the Group continues to closely monitor the market for
merger and acquisition opportunities if it can bring synergy to our existing
business, as well as diversification of its investment portfolio for strengthening
and broadening its income base. The Group also takes active and prompt
measures from time to time, reviewing and adjusting its business strategy
and adopting various controls over costs, if necessary, so as to maintain the
Group's profitability. Besides, the Group strives to maintain a healthy financing
structure and devotes effort to securing banking facilities which is regarded as
an important element for supporting continuous business development of the
Group.
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The Board

Composition

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors (the “INEDs"). The Directors during the year and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, 68s,
(Chairman and Managing Director)
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita
(appointed on 8 February 2021)
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
(resigned on 8 February 2021)
Ms. Tang Mui Fun
(resigned on 31 March 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, MH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David

Ms. Tang Wai Man is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho. The biographical details
of the Directors are set out on pages 38 to 41 of this annual report.

The Board possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company. The
opinions raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of
good corporate governance practices. As at the date of this annual report, the
Board has four INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board, and at
least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualification and/or
accounting and audit experience expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. A balanced composition of executive and non-
executive Directors also generates a strong independent element on the Board,
which allows for an independent and objective decision making process for the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The Company has reviewed
the composition of the Board and discussed from time to time to ensure that the
Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and experience
to meet the needs of the Group's businesses and to enhance the Shareholders’
value. All Directors are aware of the required levels of fiduciary duties, care, skill
and diligence under Rule 3.08 of the Listing Rules.
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In compliance with code provision A.3.2 of the CG Code, an updated list of the
Directors identifying their role and function are available on the websites of the
Company (www.wyth.net) and HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The nomination
committee of the Company (the “"Nomination Committee”) and the Board will
review the composition of the Board from time to time to ensure that the Board
possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet
the needs of the Group's business and to enhance the Shareholders’ value.

Appointment and Re-election of the Directors

All' INEDs are appointed with specific term set out in respective letters of
appointment and all of them are subject to retirement by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at annual general meetings in
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-law(s)"). All INEDs are
appointed for a term of not more than three years. Pursuant to code provisions
A.4.2 of the CG Code and the Bye-law 87, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) are required to retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years, and shall be eligible for
re-election at each annual general meeting. In addition, any Director who is
appointed by the Board to fill casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Board are subject to re-election at the first general meeting of the Company after
his/her appointment.

Independence of INEDs

The INEDs are required to confirm their independence upon their appointment
and on an annual basis. All INEDs are free from any business or other relationship
with the Company. The Company has received from each INED an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for
the financial year ended 31 March 2021. The INEDs would not participate in the
Group's daily operation and they would abstain from voting on any resolution(s)
in which he had any interest and, therefore, the Company continues to consider
the four INEDs to be independent for the financial year ended 31 March 2021
and up to the date of this annual report.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and the Senior Management

The Board is accountable to stakeholders for the activities and performance of
the Group and its primary functions cover, among other things, the formulation
of overall strategy, the review of corporate and financial policies and the
oversight of management of the Group's business and affairs. Apart from these,
the Board reserved for its consideration and decision on major acquisitions
and disposals, review of interim and annual financial results, appointments and
removals of directors and auditors, the evaluation on the performance and
compensation of senior management, any material capital transactions and
other significant operational and financial affairs. With a view to maintaining an
appropriate balance between authority and responsibility, such functions are
either carried out directly by the Board or indirectly through various committees
established by the Board, with respective functions set out in their written terms
of reference.
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The INEDs account for diverse industry expertise but are not involved in the
day-to-day management of the Group. The general management and day-to-
day management are delegated to management of the Company, including
but not limited to the preparation of regular financial information, execution of
designated assignments, and implementation of sustainability practices.

The Directors having material interest in the matter(s) shall abstain from voting
at such Board meeting(s) and the INEDs with no conflict of interest shall attend
at such meeting to deal with the matter(s).

All Directors ensure that they can give sufficient attention to discharge their
responsibilities to the affairs of the Company and the Directors have disclosed to
the Company the identity and nature of offices held in any public organisation
and other significant commitments from time to time.

During the financial year under review, regular Board meetings of the Company
were held four times to review, consider and approve, among others, annual
and interim results and to review the business operations, corporate governance
practices and the effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems
of the Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings are also held,
as and when necessary, to consider, among others, material transactions of the
Group. At least 14-day notice for each regular meeting is given to all Directors.
All such minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are
open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.
Apart from the regular Board meetings and pursuant to code provision A.2.7
of the CG Code, the chairman of the Board also met the INEDs without the
presence of any executive Director during the year.

Chairman and Managing Director

During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the Board,
has also assumed the role of the managing Director. Mr. Tang has extensive
management experience in corporate management in the industries of the
Group and is responsible for overall corporate planning, strategic policy making
of the Group which is of great value in enhancing the efficiency to cope with the
recent fierce competitive and ever-changing retailing market environment and
the communication between the Board and management, so as to ensure the
effective execution of the Board's strategies. Furthermore, the Board considers
that Mr. Tang is an executive of high caliber with a wide range of skills and
diversified business expertise and there are various committees and experienced
individuals dealing with specific assignments and business unit(s) and managing
the daily business operations. Moreover, the Board comprises three executive
Directors and four INEDs with balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the Group's further development. The Company had no intention to make any
change to comply with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code (i.e. the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual) at the moment but will continue to review and propose,
as and when appropriate, by taking into consideration of such deviation and
any other relevant factors, to ensure the maximisation of the benefit of the
stakeholders of the Company.
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Corporate Governance

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing the corporate
governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is committed to ensuring that
an effective governance structure is in place to continuously review, monitor
and improve the corporate governance practices within the Group with regard
to the prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
stipulating the composition of the Board, reviewing the policies and measures
on the Group's corporate governance, reviewing a code of conduct applicable
to the Directors and employees, monitoring the Company’s legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuing professional development of Directors and
reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in
this annual report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in discharge
of its corporate governance function.

Board Diversity

The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives, sustainable
and balanced development. In June 2013, the Company adopted the Board
Diversity Policy which sets out the approach to diversify the Board and was
reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the Board
composition on behalf of the Board and will recommend the appointment of
new Director, when necessary, pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy and the
nomination policy.

In designing the Board's composition, the Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The Nomination Committee will also consider factors based
on the Company’s business model, specific needs and meritocracy from time to
time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

During the financial year under review, the Board comprises seven Directors,
including three executive Directors and four INEDs, thereby promoting critical
review and control of the management process. The Board is also characterised
by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of professional experience,
skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and
the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Board Diversity Policy had been met.
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Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development so as to develop and refresh Directors’ knowledge and skills and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
The company secretary of the Company regularly circulates training materials
or reading materials to all Directors in respect of the updates on, among other
things, the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") or other useful guidelines, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”) and financial or accounting standards which may be of the interest
to the Directors and benefit for them to discharge their duties.

In addition, the company secretary of the Company also provides and circulates
to the Directors with monthly and regular updates relating to the Group's
business, financial position and business environment, in which the Group
operates. During the year, all Directors have complied with the code provisions
in relation to continuous professional development. Apart from reading
materials relevant to the Company’s business, the updated rules and regulation
and other director’s duties and responsibilities by all Directors, the Directors also
enhanced their professional development by way of attending seminars and/or
forums.

The company secretary of the Company updates Directors constantly on the
latest developments regarding the Group’s business and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices.

During the year, all Directors have provided to the Company with their training
records on a regular basis, and such records have been maintained by the
company secretary of the Company for accurate and comprehensive record
keeping.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance to indemnify its Directors against liabilities arising out of legal action
on corporate activities. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and renewed with
consultant advice on an annual basis.
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Board Committees

The Board has established various committees including executive committee
(the "Executive Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the
Nomination Committee, each of which has the specific written terms of
reference that will be reviewed and updated, where necessary. Minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committee meetings are kept by the company
secretary of the Company and open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Each committee is required to report to the
Board on its decisions and recommendations, where appropriate.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since 2005 with specific written
terms of reference setting out authorities delegated by the Board. Its primary
function is to undertake general management and supervise the day-to-day
management, performance and operations in accordance with the business
strategy of the Group. It exercises leadership, develops and keeps under review
strategy and business development initiatives of the Group and monitors their
implementation. Currently, the Executive Committee comprises three members,
namely, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms. Tang Wai Man and Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita.
Mr. Tang Ching Ho takes the chair of the Executive Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established with specific written terms of
reference stipulating its authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). Currently, the Audit
Committee comprises four INEDs, namely, Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung Wai Ho,
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon and Mr. Cho Wing Mou. Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is elected as
the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The functions of the Audit Committee is, among other things, to assist the
Board to review and monitor the financial reporting independently, including
interim and annual results, to supervise over the Group's internal control and
risk management systems, to monitor the internal and external audit functions,
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the auditor and to make
relevant recommendations to the Board to ensure effective and efficient
operation and reliable reporting. The functions of the Audit Committee will be
reviewed regularly by the Board and amended from time to time, as and when
appropriate, in order to be in compliance with the code provisions of the CG
Code (as amended from time to time) so as to ensure that management has
discharged its duty to have an effective internal control and risk management
systems including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff to implement the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function.
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The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties
and may access to independent professional advice according to the Company’s

policy, if considered necessary. During the year, the Audit Committee held two

regular meetings with the Group’s senior management and the external auditor.

During the financial year under review and up to the date of this annual report,
the Audit Committee held meetings to discuss and review, among other things,
the following matters:

(a)

the annual results for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021 and the
interim results for the six-month ended 30 September 2020 to ensure the
full, complete and accurate disclosure in the aforesaid financial statements
pursuant to the accounting standards and other legal requirement for
presenting the same to the Board for approval;

the terms and remuneration for the appointments of Ernst & Young
as external auditor to audit and report on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 and
2021 and to perform the agreed upon procedures on the interim results
for the six months ended 30 September 2020;

the terms and remuneration for the appointments of external auditors to
perform non-audit services, other special corporate projects and review
the overall significant control system;

the independence of the external auditors especially for those non-audit
services;

the continuing connected transactions of the Group;

the overall effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems;
and

the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff and
the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting matters and their
training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees, effectiveness of

the audit process, independence and objectivity of the external auditor and

has recommended to the Board for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as
the Company’s external auditor for the ensuing year at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee since September 2005
with specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time, stipulating
its authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk).

The Remuneration Committee consists of five members, including Mr. Siu
Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Tang Ching Ho and
Ms. Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom are INEDs during the year and up to the
date of this annual report. Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon is elected as the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice in
accordance with the Company’s policy and its written terms of reference, if
considered necessary.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(a)

52

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
a remuneration policy on the basis of basic salary and allowances,
discretionary bonus and share options;

to review and approve the senior management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management, including but not
limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the Directors’ fee of the INEDs
with reference to the range of remuneration of other non-executive
Directors in the similar industry and allow any out-of-pocket expenses
incurred in connection with the performance of their duties;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive; and

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal
or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate.
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During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings,
in which it reviewed the existing remuneration policies by reference with
the market research and current market circumstance, communicated with
the chairman and managing Director, recommended amendments to the
existing remuneration policies and performance-based bonus, if appropriate,
and approved the remuneration package and performance-based bonus
paid to the other Directors and senior management of the Company,
and the remunerations of Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita for her appointment as
executive Director. No Director took part in any discussion about his/her own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to discharge its
major roles to, among other things, approve the terms of the service agreements
of the Directors and the senior management, make recommendations
with respect to the remuneration and policies of the Directors and senior
management of the Company and to review the remuneration package and
recommend salaries, bonuses, including the incentive awards for Directors and
senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements. The annual remuneration of other members of the senior
management by bands for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 is set out
below:
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since September 2005 with
specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time, stipulating its
authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). It currently consists of
five members, including Mr. Cho Wing Mou, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Leung
Wai Ho, Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom are
INEDs during the year and up to the date of this annual report pursuant to code
provision A.5.1 of the CG Code. Mr. Cho Wing Mou is elected as the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the identification and evaluation
of candidates for appointment or re-appointment as Director and senior
management. The Board has formalised and adopted its existing practices into
a nomination policy in October 2018. The nomination policy stipulated the
key selection criteria and procedures for identifying and nominating suitably
qualified candidates for appointment to the Board. The selection criteria and
procedures specified in the nomination policy include:
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1.

2
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Selection Criteria

in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the Nomination
Committee will consider the factors (as reference), including
reputation, integrity, accomplishment and relevant experience in
relation to the principal businesses of the Company from time to
time, commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest,
diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to
nominate any person, as it considers appropriate;

retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand
for re-election at a general meeting. For those who have served as
INEDs for a period of nine consecutive years standing for re-election,
the Nomination Committee will consider the independence of
such Director for nomination by the Board to stand for election
at a general meeting and state the reason in the circular to the
Shareholders for the re-election;

candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written
consent to be appointed as Director(s) and to the public disclosure
of their personal data on any documents or the relevant websites
for the purpose of or in relation to their standing for election as
Director(s); and

the Nomination Committee may request candidate(s) to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.

Nomination Procedures

the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidate(s)
from Board members, if any, for consideration by the Nomination
Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidate(s) who are not nominated by Board
members;

for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidate(s) to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for
its consideration and recommendation;

until the issue of the circular to be sent to the shareholders, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have been proposed
by the Board to stand for election at the general meeting;

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021

1.

2.

mEEE

EHEREREEARSTAEY -
REZEEHERNEZ(EA
SLE)RERE - HE - KRR
HARBTHZEZEBFH
HACER - A F A R AR R RS
2k EHEMZENE - BE
BARBAMER - Fik (Fim185R
FUE) XERM#HEES - B
e - BELH - R - FEBAR
BER - ZEEREHRS2E W
EFRBERAFRTHE - 2R
ZEENRERAERAEEDN
ER AL

RIESFERBEERSRARN
RRARE BB ET - SiEHEE
BUEMTEFEENFABE
BEANALNE  REEZE®
BERZESFNBULIE - UHE
EERENXBRAGER - I
TOEAR SR 7 388 B R ot B 3 Rl 322
/Ao

REABRIRIEEDARZBEN
BAAER  EZRRASEZERE
EURRABHAEERREEN
{8 A BB (] 3 A B A8
AARBENEARES &

HRRMBE  REZEGAWER
iR AR HBSNE B B F -

RERERF

REEZESNEREBRIRERESR
BER UTHFRESEENE (W
BIREEARABKREA - DAH
REEZEEER - RRZEEGN
AREAEZEEGKERBNIE
BAG

HEMERZERME - REEE
SRRHEEREZSE BN
fE o RRBREEANBRASG R
BME  REZEGANEEE
RAFEZRANHERE

HENEBFHTRROBRNS
I BRAALFISBRREESE
EEEANBRAG L29E



Corporate Governance Report

- in order to provide information of the candidate(s) nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to
invite nominations from the Shareholders, a circular will be sent
to the Shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period
for the Shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other information,
as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidate(s) will be included in the circular to the
Shareholders;

- the Shareholder can serve a notice to the company secretary
within the lodgement period of its intention to propose a
resolution to elect a certain person as Director, without the Board’s
recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s nomination,
other than those candidate(s) set out in the circular to be sent to the
Shareholders. The particulars of the candidate(s) so proposed will be
sent to all Shareholders for information by a supplementary circular;

- a candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
company secretary;

- the Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at any general
meeting; and

- as there may be more candidate(s) than the vacancies available, and
the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall be
elected as Director, the resolutions proposed for the candidate(s)
by the Shareholders shall therefore take the same form as the
resolutions proposed for the candidate(s) recommended by the
Board.

In respect of the Board Diversity Policy, the Board is cognisant of the benefits of
diversity and the Nomination Committee monitors implementation of this policy
as part of the process of selecting and nominating candidates for appointment
to the Board. Candidates are considered against a broad and diverse range of
aspects specified in the nomination policy, which among other aspects also
include gender, ethnicity and cultural background.
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The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(a)

56

to review and evaluate the structure, size and composition (including
diversity, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and make recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships;

to assess the independence of INEDs;

to monitor the continuous professional development of the Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive;

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an INED at
the general meeting, it should set out in the circular to the Shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting:

- the process used for identifying the individual why the board
believes the individual should be elected and the reasons why it
considers the individual to be independent;

- if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be holding
their seventh (or more) listed company directorship, why the Board
believes the individual would still be able to devote sufficient time
to the Board;

- the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can bring
to the Board; and

- how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.

the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee shall
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be prepared to
respond to questions raised by shareholders on the Committee’s activities
and responsibilities.
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The Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice
according to the Board Diversity Policy and its written terms of reference, if
considered necessary.

During the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings, in which it nominate Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita as executive Director
on 8 February 2021 and determined the criteria and procedures for retirement
by rotation and recommended to the Board for re-appointment of Ms. Law Man
Yee, Anita, Ms. Tang Wai Man, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon and Mr. Cho Wing Mou
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and evaluated the Board performance and
succession planning.

Attendance of Directors at Various Meetings

Details of the attendance of individual Directors at Regular Board meetings,
committee meetings and Shareholders’ meetings held during the financial year
ended 31 March 2021 are as follows:
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Special Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination general general
Board Committee Committee Committee meeting meeting
Name of Directors EE® EBHNZEREE HFMEEE REZEE RRBIAE RREFAE
Tang Ching Ho BEn 44 NATER 22 2”2 0/1 11
Tang Wai Man HEH 4/4 N/ANE 22 ) 0/1 11
Law Man Yee, Anita BYE 11 N/ATER NATER N/ATER NATER N/ATER
(appointed on 8 February 2021)  (RZFE=—4
ZHNAEEE)
Leung Wai Ho 2EH% 4/4 22 ) ) 0/1 0/1
Siu Man Ho, Simon BXZ 4/4 22 22 22 0/1 11
Cho Wing Mou Eka 4/4 22 W2 W2 11 11
Li Ka Fai, David FRE 4/4 22 NATER N/ATER /1 11
Chan Chun Hong, Thomas [ 33 NATER NATER N/AT AR 11 11
(resigned on 8 February 2021) (R-—F=—F
ZAN\B#HE)
Tang Mui Fun B 44 NATER N/ATER N/ATEFR 0/1 11
(resigned on 31 March 2021) (R-FE-—%F
ZA=1—HAEE)
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group established and maintained appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems covering financial,
operational, compliance and risk management aspects.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal controls that
are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee would
consider the adequacy of resource, qualifications and experience and training of
staff and external advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

Management of the Group is responsible for designing, maintaining,
implementing and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
system to ensure adequate control in place to safeguard the Group's assets and
stakeholder’s interest. Management may report from time to time any finding,
recommendation and remedies to the Audit Committee.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address and handle
all the significant risks associate with the businesses of the Group. The Board
would perform an annual or periodical review on any significant change of the
business environment and establish procedures to response the risks result from
the significant change of business environment.

Management would identify the risks associate with the businesses of the Group
by considering both internal and external factors and events which include
political, economic, technology, environmental, social and staff. Each of risks has
been assessed and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be applied to each
type of risks according to the assessment results, each type of risk management
strategy has been listed as follows:

- Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or undertake
actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the risk;

- Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to avoid the
risk;

- Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or allocate to
different location or product or market; and

- Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party.
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The internal control systems are designed and implemented to reduce the risks
associated with the business accepted by the Group and minimise the adverse
impact results from the risks. The risk management and internal control system
are design to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control

During the financial year under review, the Group has engaged an external
advisory firm to undertake the internal audit function to ensure the effectiveness
and efficiency of the risk management and internal control system of the
Group. All findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies were
communicated with the Audit Committee and the Board.

Management confirmed that there is no significant deficiency and weakness
on the internal control system has been identified by the external advisory firm
for the financial year ended 31 March 2021. The Board conducted an annual
review on the risk management and internal control system and procedures
of the Group, covering all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance and it was considered that the internal controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate for the financial
year ended 31 March 2021.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst &
Young, for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 which has been reviewed and
approved by the Audit Committee, are set out as follows:
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Fees paid/payable
to Ernst & Young

BT R E AR

BEMZE A

HK$'000

Services rendered for the Group B 2 £ [ AT 4R 1 AR 7% THIT

Audit services: BIZIRT

—annual financial statements —FEMBHRE 5,600
Non-audit services: IEBEAZIRT -

— agreed-upon procedures —BEREF 640

— taxation and professional services — BB REERG 459

- other professional services — HAh B RS 1,525

Total st 8,224
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Accountability and Audit

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and publication
of the timely financial statements and ensure that they are prepared in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. In preparing the accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2021,
the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies which are pertinent
to the Group's operations and relevant to the financial statements and have
presented an understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and
belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the accounts are prepared on
a going concern basis and they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to the events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors continue to
explore any opportunities with potential investors to enhance its financial
position and business development of the Group by way of refinancing,
extension of borrowings and/or fund raising.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 85 to 94 of this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to commit to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations, such as the Companies Act, the Companies Ordinance, the SFO,
the Listing Rules and other rules and regulations implemented in relevant
jurisdictions. As far as the Board is concerned and save as disclosed herein, the
Group has complied in material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Company
and its subsidiaries during the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

60 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021

L%

EENEHARNGRREABEVBRERZE
£ WHERKRETHTERERGERR
B NMREBE-_T-_—F=A=1+—H1t
MRFEZRER ZEFCRABEANASE
EXEBREANBHRRABZAESFTBR -
WE 25| SRR 2 Ak BN KA °

EEMRLIEH A EERE  BREM
RE - BELRMEE  AEKRENRSELE
AR BRELTMBFABAEMHIMN
ZERERTEEERGEHARRFELE
RRNELBARM EFKEEEREEHS
BRIHEMKEE  ZBRERE EREER
R/ REET XA B AR EE 2 BB
HBHAEBEBER

ZHMBEERREAMEL 2 BRIARAF
RMESSEO4E Z B ZEBEHENR -

A T B AR

REBBEYNETHEBEZERN WA
AE - REMED) - BHEREEEG - LR
B AER R AR R B e 2 ELth AR BY AR ) o
REFEME REARSAHAEEEI - RE
EFZE-—FZAZ+—AHULEVEREE K
SEEREATEHETHARRREMRBEA
RIZEBREBERERNTZEZEBEEER
Bl o



Corporate Governance Report

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to enhancing and strengthening efforts on
environmental protection, so as to facilitate industrial upgrading. The Group
proactively implement environmental protection policies, gradually adjust its
portfolio, conduct energy-saving, using recycled paper, emission reduction and
pollution prevention and so forth. The Group not only improved the quality
management system but also strengthened the quality of the audit to ensure
the quality and safety of Chinese and western pharmaceutical project control.
Being an environmental friendly corporation, the Company will not print hard
copy of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report. More details of the
environmental policies and performance of the Group will be disclosed in a
separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the requirements
under the Listing Rules.

Investor Relations and Communications with
Shareholders

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective communications
with the Shareholders and investors (both individuals and institutions) to ensure
that the Group'’s information is disseminated to stakeholders in a timely manner
and enable them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise performance. A
shareholders communication policy has been adopted by the Company and
the same is available on the website of the Company. Other major means of
communications includes:

Disclosures on Corporate Website

Extensive information on the Group’s activities and financial position will be
disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports, announcements, circulars and
other corporate communications which will be sent to the Shareholders and/or
published on the websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.wyth.net). Other inside information is released by way of formal
public announcements as required by the Listing Rules and Inside Information
Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

General Meeting with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings and various
general meetings are valuable forums for the Board to communicate directly
with the Shareholders. Members of the Board and the members of various
committees are encouraged to attend and answer questions at such general
meetings.

e SEleE i

BRBEBUR LB

REBMKRRDE - (RETESA AL -
LKE@F*I?EEM%LBZ?% R ZR S HEE
CEREEL - RBE S
T”E AEE-FHEEEE
ﬂ%bﬂ%ﬁ%:ﬁr?ﬁi  FEAR AP PG
12155 PR o RRAIA—FTERRDE
AT ENRIRE « e RERAHRE
$ ° ¢‘§@i§i§:ﬂz%&i€fﬁﬂ’\]§%

ZiA&aiﬁi&i%jf’EHﬂ&
?iﬁiiﬁﬂyﬂ”im%ﬁﬁlliﬁmﬂzﬁ
Hﬁ??&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ o

e e
= W oa

/tg?ﬂ

!r

B B AR B BB R 2 0

ARREHERET R ERRMREE (BT
EAREE)NBRER  NERAEEZE
MRS EZEEHFNE  UWELHQBRAE
HIBMET il - AR R B — AR RBRIK
K REBRNENARA A, - b2
BERERR

RATRIEEE
BREAREEZES RGN 2 FRER R
Fik - PEHRE - A BRHEEMATB
AMABAEE MEAERBEFTETFRR
% KA TE 5 A5 (www.hkexnews.hk) & 72K
R E AU (www.wyth.net) FIIEL o HAabEHE
R ETRAIRES RBERGIEXVATZ
A E BAESUREBIBIE R AR B

ERRBITRRAE
ARBANEBRBRRBEFRERAABRRRE
REZSGERERRBEBZERYA  IE
BEEEXKEREZEEREHEZZTRR
RE - TRE EOERMA -

ML E LR AR DA 61
T —FFIR



Corporate Governance Report
SRR

In order to let the Shareholders to make an informed decision at the general
meetings, sufficient notices with not less than 10 clear business days for every
general meeting and 20 clear business days for every annual general meeting
were given to the Shareholders pursuant to code provision E.1.3 of the CG
Code, the Bye-laws and any other applicable laws. The chairman of such
general meeting will explain the detailed procedures for conducting a poll vote
during the proceedings of meetings and answered all questions raised by the
Shareholders. All resolutions put to vote at general meetings are taken by poll
and the poll results are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange immediately following the holding of the general meetings.

Investor Relations

The Group also has a proactive investor relations programme that keeps
investors and the Shareholders abreast the Group's latest development and
discloses relevant information to the public in a timely manner. During the year,
we held various meetings with investors and participated in investor and press
conferences.

Shareholders’ Rights Convening a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws,
the Board whenever it thinks fit call special general meetings and shareholder(s)
holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company to require a special general
meeting (the “SGM") to be called by the Board. The written requisition (i) must
state the purposes of the SGM; and (ii) must be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at
Suite 3101, 31/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon,
Hong Kong for attention of the Board or the company secretary of the Company,
and may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more
requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition.
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Such requisitions will be verified by the Company's share registrars and upon
their confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the company
secretary of the Company will inform the Board to convene a SGM by serving
sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been
verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, the SGM will not be convened as requested.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them may
convene a SGM in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after expiration of
three months from the said date of deposit of the requisition. A SGM convened
by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in any SGM to be convened by the Board.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either any number of
shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
or not less than 100 shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give
to shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next annual general meeting
notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The requisition signed by all the
requisitionists must be deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Suite 3101, 31/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon
Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong or the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer
office in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s relevant expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting in
case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week
before the meeting in case of any other requisition.
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Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as Director(s) at a general
meeting are set out in the “Corporate Governance” under section headed under
"Corporate Profile” on the website of the Company at www.wyth.net.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing
by email to contact@waiyuentong.com or by addressing their enquiries to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company in the following manners:

In respect of corporate affairs:
Company Secretary

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Suite 3101, 31/F., Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

In respect of other shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Secretaries Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the achieving
of high possible standards of openness, probity and accountability. Procedures
are formulated to enable individual employees to disclose internally and at a
high level, information which the individual believes that it shows malpractice
or impropriety within the Group. During the year under review, no incident of
fraud or misconduct was reported from employees that have material effect on
the Group's financial statements and overall operations.

Company Secretary

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus, who was appointed as company secretary of the
Company, reports directly to the Board and is responsible for, inter alia, providing
updated and timely information to all Directors from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, Mr. Cheung has complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

While the Group endeavours to promote business development and strives
for greater rewards for our stakeholders, we acknowledge our corporate social
responsibility to share some burden in building the society where our business
has been established and thrived. The Group is conscious of its role as a
socially responsible group of companies. It has made donations for community
wellbeing from time to time, supports the communities and encourages its
employees to participate in any charitable events and caring services. Given the
support from management, the Group built up a team of staff volunteers to get
involved in volunteer work.

Constitutional Document

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, there was no change in the
constitutional document. The memorandum of association and the amended
and restated bye-laws are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company, respectively.

Conclusion

Going ahead, the Group will continue to review regularly its corporate
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance
the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency and to ensure its
sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the stakeholders.
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Report of the Directors

R

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries comprise the production and sale of
traditional Chinese and western pharmaceutical products, health food, personal
care products, property investment, management and sale of properties in
agricultural produce exchange markets. Details of which are set out in note 1 to
the financial statements. During the year, there were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities.

Structured Contracts

Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment (2015
version), value-added telecommunications services are subject to foreign
investment restriction in which a foreign investor shall hold no more than
50% equity interest in a value-added telecommunications services provider
(excluding e-commerce) in the PRC.

The Internet Content Provider (“ICP") services belong to a sub-category of value-
added telecommunications services. According to the Administrative Rules
for Foreign Investment in Telecommunications Enterprises, foreign investors
shall contribute to no more than 50% of the registered capital of a value-
added telecommunications services provider (excluding e-commerce) and any
such foreign investor shall maintain a good track record and possess relevant
operational experience in the value-added telecommunications services
industry (the “Foreign Shareholding Restrictions”).

Shenzhen Gudeng Technology Limited (“Shenzhen Gudeng"), the then direct
wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of Shenzhen Zhibo Tianyu Trading Development
Limited ("Shenzhen Zhibo"), an indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of
CAP, was incorporated in September 2015 and received the ICP license on 7
September 2016. It holds one website and two mobile applications for the CAP
Group and is principally engaged in online provision of agricultural products in
the PRC.

On 19 June 2015, the Circular on Removing the Restrictions on Shareholding
Ratio Held by Foreign Investors in Online Data Processing and Transaction
Processing (Operating E-commerce) Business (the “E-commerce Circular”)
was issued, which allows the foreign ownership in online data processing and
transaction processing (operating e-commerce) business up to 100%. However,
since the E-commerce Circular does not provide any clear legal definition of
"e-commerce’, it is unclear as to whether the business to be conducted by
Shenzhen Gudeng would fall within the scope of the E-commerce Circular to
benefit from the loosened restrictions on the Foreign Shareholding Restrictions.
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Report of the Directors

As such, Shenzhen Zhibo (i) entered into a disposal agreement on 11 July 2016
with Yu Hui Jun (the "Nominee Shareholder”) and (ii) further entered into the
exclusive business cooperation agreement, the exclusive call option agreement,
the equity pledge agreement, the power of attorney and the ancillary
documents (collectively the “Structured Contracts”) with the Nominee
Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng on 9 October 2016 (other than the exclusive
business cooperation agreement which was entered into by and between
Shenzhen Zhibo and Shenzhen Gudeng only and the power of attorney which
was executed by the Nominee Shareholder in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo)
such that the CAP Group is entitled to acquire the rights and ability to control
the business of Shenzhen Gudeng and to obtain the economic benefit (the
“Contractual Arrangements”).

The exclusive business cooperation agreement and the exclusive call option
agreement had an initial term of 3 years commencing from the date of the
relevant agreements which were renewed for another 3 years on 8 October
2019. As security for the payment of service fees under the exclusive business
cooperation agreement and the performance of the exclusive call option
agreement and the power of attorney, the equity pledge agreement executed in
favour of Shenzhen Zhibo will only be terminated when all the said obligations
of the Nominee Shareholder contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
are fulfilled. Similarly, for protection of the CAP Group, the power of attorney
executed in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo will be valid so long as the Contractual
Arrangements are in place. CAP will keep exploring various opportunities in
building up its ICP services operations for the purposes of being qualified as
early as possible, to acquire the entire equity interest of Shenzhen Gudeng if
and when the Foreign Shareholding Restrictions are lifted. For details of the
Structured Contracts, please refer to the announcements of CAP dated 11 July
2016 and 11 October 2016, respectively.

Save for the exclusive business cooperation agreement which involves the
payment of a service fee by Shenzhen Gudeng to Shenzhen Zhibo on a monthly
basis, and the nominal consideration paid by Shenzhen Zhibo to the Nominee
Shareholder under the exclusive call option agreement, each of the Structured
Contracts does not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contracts, taken as a whole, permit the results and financial
operations of Shenzhen Gudeng to be consolidated in CAP, as if it was CAP's
subsidiary resulting in all economic benefits of its business flowing to CAP.
Through the appointment by Shenzhen Zhibo of all directors and senior
management of Shenzhen Gudeng, the Directors believe that Shenzhen Zhibo
is able to effectively supervise, manage and operate the business operations,
expansion plans, financial policies and assets of Shenzhen Gudeng, and at the
same time, ensure due implementation of the Structured Contracts. According
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, a subsidiary is an entity that is
controlled by another entity (known as the parent). An investor controls an
investee when it is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee.
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Although CAP does not directly or indirectly own Shenzhen Gudeng, the
Structured Contracts enable CAP to exercise control over and receive economic
benefits generated from the business operation of Shenzhen Gudeng and
the validity and legality of the Structured Contracts have been confirmed by
CAP’s PRC legal adviser. The CAP Group derives economic benefits from the
ICP services provided by Shenzhen Gudeng. Under such circumstances, the
Directors are of the view that it is fair and reasonable for Shenzhen Zhibo to be
entitled to all the economic benefits generated from Shenzhen Gudeng. The
Structured Contracts also permit Shenzhen Zhibo to exclusively acquire all or
part of the equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng, if and when permitted by PRC
laws and regulations. Notwithstanding the CAP Group's lack of equity ownership
in Shenzhen Gudeng, the CAP Group is able to control the business and financial
position of Shenzhen Gudeng in substance through the Structured Contracts. As
a result of the Structured Contracts, Shenzhen Gudeng is accounted for as CAP’s
subsidiary, and its financial position and operating results are consolidated in
CAP’s consolidated financial statements.

The amount of financial assistance made by the CAP Group to Shenzhen Gudeng
was approximately RMB500,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Manner of settlement of disputes which may arise from the Contractual
Arrangements

Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, any dispute arising from the interpretation
and performance of the Structured Contracts between the parties thereto
should first be resolved through negotiation, failing which any party may
submit the said dispute to the South China International Economic and Trade
Arbitration Commission (or Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration) with
a view to resolving the dispute through arbitration in accordance with the
arbitration rules thereof.

Arrangements in the event of death, bankruptcy or divorce of the
Nominee Shareholder

The Nominee Shareholder has undertaken in the exclusive call option
agreement and the equity pledge agreement that she shall make all appropriate
arrangements and execute all necessary documents to ensure that, in the event
of death, loss of capacity, bankruptcy, divorce (or other circumstances) of herself,
there would be no adverse effect or obstacle in enforcing the exclusive call
option agreement and the equity pledge agreement by her successors.
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Undertaking to mitigate any potential conflict of interests between
Shenzhen Zhibo and the Nominee Shareholder

The Nominee Shareholder may have potential conflicts with Shenzhen
Zhibo and CAP. To mitigate any potential conflict of interests, the Nominee
Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng have undertaken in the exclusive call
option agreement that, during the period the exclusive call option agreement
remains effective, unless otherwise agreed by Shenzhen Zhibo, the Nominee
Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng (i) would not participate in any business
which may be in competition with the business of Shenzhen Zhibo or its related
companies; and (i) would appoint nominees nominated by Shenzhen Zhibo as
Shenzhen Gudeng's director(s) or executive director(s).

Risk factors

The following are the major risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements:
(1) the PRC Government may determine that the documents for the Contractual
Arrangements do not comply with applicable regulations; (2) the Contractual
Arrangements may not provide control as effective as direct ownership; and
(3) the Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC tax
authorities and additional tax may be imposed.

Furthermore, the CAP Group conducts its business operation in the PRC through
Shenzhen Gudeng by way of the Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the
terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under the PRC
laws. As advised by CAP’s PRC legal advisers, the Contractual Arrangements were
narrowly tailored to minimize the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and
regulations.

Internal control measures

In order to effectively control and safeguard the assets of Shenzhen Gudeng, the
Contractual Arrangements have provided, without having obtained the consent
of Shenzhen Zhibo, the Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng (i) shall
not sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any material assets,
legitimate interest or revenue of Shenzhen Gudeng, or allow any encumbrance
thereon of any security interest; and (ii) shall always operate Shenzhen Gudeng's
business in the ordinary and usual course of business and shall maintain the
asset value of Shenzhen Gudeng and refrain from any action/omission that may
adversely affect Shenzhen Gudeng’s operating status and asset value.

No material change in the Contractual Arrangements

The Directors confirmed that there is no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted, and
its impact on the CAP Group, and the terms of the Contractual Arrangements
and the financial assistance are on normal commercial terms.

No unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements

The Directors also confirmed that there is no unwinding of the Structured
Contracts or failure to unwind when the restrictions that led to the adopted
Structured Contracts are removed.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 and the
Group's financial position at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 95 to 99.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recorded a revenue
and loss attributable to owners of the parent amounted to approximately
HKS$1,108.6 million (2020: HK$620.7 million) and approximately HK$376.0 million
(2020: profit of approximately HK$438.5 million (restated)).

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil). No interim dividend was declared
for the six months ended 30 September 2020 (for the six months ended 30
September 2019: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF KEY
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The business review and the key financial performance indicators to the
businesses of the Group, including, among other things, the information set out
below, are disclosed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 14
to 37 of this annual report:

(@)  afair review of the Group's business;

(b)  principal risk factors;

(c)  ananalysis using financial key performance indicators; and
(d)  future development in the Group’s business.

The corporate social responsibility, environmental policies and performance
of the Group are disclosed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
"Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report. More details will be
disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in due course.

As far as the Board is concerned, the Group has complied in material aspects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group during the financial year ended 31 March
2021.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of movements in share capital and share option scheme of the Company
during the financial year under review, together with the reasons therefor, are
set out in notes 33 to 34 to the financial statements, respectively.
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Report of the Directors

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 260 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the financial year ended 31 March
2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that for the time being acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company, every Director and other officers shall be entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, losses, damages and expenses which they may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done about the execution of the
duties of their respective office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
had arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and other officers of the Group for the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to equity
holders of the parent, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to approximately HK$2.6 million (2020:
approximately HK$198.9 million).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, G8s, Jp,
Chairman and Managing Director
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita
(appointed on 8 February 2021)
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
(resigned on 8 February 2021)
Ms. Tang Mui Fun
(resigned on 31 March 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, mH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David
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In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws, Ms. Tang Wai Man, Mr. Siu Man
Ho, Simon and Mr. Cho Wing Mou will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita, who
was appointed as an executive Director on 8 February 2021, will retire from
office and, being eligible, offer herself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from all
INEDs, namely Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou and
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, and as at the date of this annual report still considers them to
be independent.

DIRECTORS’” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 38 to 41 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 9 and 42 to the financial statements and the
section "Directors and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in
Share, Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations”, no Directors or a connected entity of a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective associates had an interest in a
business, apart from the businesses of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant
to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the year.

72 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021

RIBEABARIES7()F - HEH L BX
SREREXFRLEBRARRERERRER
FRELWERET INAERAMSER
HAE o

REARENF QMK - BRELL(R=F
T AN\BEZERNTER)HRAR
BRERRBFAG LRE IFEERE
FRBEREE -

ARAFCEEEEBYIFNTER(ARES
T BXREE  BREEERFRESS
E)ERNEBIUENEERRES  REBEA
FHRAPDREZER/BILIAL °

B R AR L R

AEFBEERSREEBRFEFBHNAE
REFE38E41H

EHEZRE A

BREERRBFAGEESENESHE
AR R Ko B AR B A BT SLA A B AN B]
R—FERE LI BARECEERERIN M
RIBEKI -

EHRZ Y ~ KRR Z R

BB HRERMTIORQUR [EERFETH
ABRARTF REBBOABAD - AR
dEEET ZEENMAR | —EAREEN  F
N EEEAEE HEERERIMEN
HAREBEGEERBARR B S H E AR
RERINATZERNZS - ZHHAOTHE
BEAEE -

T R B
ER - R ETRAISS 00 EEREES
D2 B9 A IR 1 SR S L S A MR A o T

BEERERAMERT 2 EB (REEEBKR
SN B R



Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code under Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company and its associated
corporation, Wang On and CAP:

(a) Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

Name of Director

EEHS

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (Note 1)
BB A (M)

(b) Long positions in the ordinary shares of Wang On, an associated
corporation of the Company:

Name of Director

Name of corporation

EEgE NCIEE A
Mr. Tang Ching Ho (Note 1) Wang On
BB A (et ) e

Number of shares

Number of shares
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(a) RADAZBERZEFAE:

Approximate
percentage of
the Company'’s total

issued share capital
AR REB/ITRE
BEBMYADL

%

ROBE

810,322,940 65.79 (Note 2)

(Htit2)

(b) RAQXNTHEBEIBEZNEERZHF
3

Approximate
percentage of
Wang On’s total
issued share capital
EEREBITRE
mESNE I

%

R B E

7,780,645,772 46.71(Note 2)

(Hret2)
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() Long positions in the ordinary shares of CAP, an associated () REQFEBIETHBERMNEER

corporation of the Company: ZHAE:

Number of Approximate

shares and percentage of

Name of underlying CAP’s total issued

Name of Director corporation Number of shares shares involved Total share capital
\ ErERER

s B4 B CBRITRAAE

Y NCIEE R & H HERHHE e BAE L

%

Mr. Tang Ching Ho CAP 7,320,095,747 130,000,000 7,450,095,747 74.85

(Note 3) (Note 3) (Note 3) (Note 3) (Note 2)
BB S (Hat3) FERER (Hfzt3) (Hti3) (Hti23) (Htiz2)
(d) Long positions in the ordinary shares of Wang On Properties (d) RARXAEBEIBERZMEERRDA

Limited (“WOP”), an associated corporation of the Company: TERENEBERZETR

Approximate

percentage of

WOP total

Name of Director Name of corporation Number of shares issued share cgpital

HERMECBRITRAE

EEgE AEER BRG B BERYB DL

%

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (Note 4) WOP 11,400,000,000 75.00(Note 2)
BB e E (Mt a) REME (Ftet2)

Notes: Bz

m Under the SFO, Mr. Tang was interested in 810,322,940 shares of the Company held by (1) AR & 55 R A& A 01 80 5% & Y Rich Time
Rich Time Strategy Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Strategy Limited ( B A % 2 2 & K1 & 1 7
Limited ("WOE") which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Wang On in which Mr. Tang \/\/an%On Enterprises (BVI) Li imited(fWOEJ)Z
together with his associates were taken to have approximately 46.71% interest. 2EWIB A F))F A R810,322,94008 A A AR

DHEEEE 8 ﬁ\ﬁi@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%/\?&
BRERR6T B -

(2)  The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure forms filed under Q  ZEDLRERESRPEGRIER 2 A
the SFO. BRGNS -

(3)  Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the Stock B BEAHEREZAEM I ERRERS
Exchange, amongst the 7,450,095,747 shares and underlying shares, 2,007,700,062 R 7,450,095,747 B B& 17 & 4B @@ Bk ) -
shares of which were held by Onger Investments Limited (“Onger Investments”), 2,007,700,062 % ﬁ 3 B Onger Investments
130,000,000 underlying shares of which were held by Peony Finance Limited (‘Peony Limited ( [ Onger Investments | )
Finance’) and 5,312,395,685 shares of which were held by Goal Success Investments 130,000,000 A% %ﬁ & 17 & Peony Fmance
Limited (“Goal Success’). Onger Investments and Peony Finance were directly wholly Limited ( [ Peony Finance | ) # iii}
owned by Loyal Fame International Limited (“Loyal Fame’, a direct wholly-owned 5312395685 f& Bx 7 E Goal Success
subsidiary of Easy One which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang Ching Ho). Goal Investments Limited ([ Goal Success ] )$5 5 ©
Success was directly wholly owned by Biomore Investments Limited (a direct wholly- Onger Investments & Peony Finance B Loyal
owned subsidiary of Total Smart Investments Limited which is directly wholly owned Fame International Limited ( (Loyal Fame | °
by the Company. The Company is owned as to approximately 65.79% by Wang On APFECEEZENBLAT  M55=
which was owned as to approximately 46.71% by Mr. Tang Ching Ho, together with HENEEZERE) E?ﬁi%é%ﬁ Goal
his associates. By virture of the SFO, Mr. Tang is deemed to be interested in the SuccessEE Biomore Investments Limited ( £ 78
2,007,700,062 shares, the 130,000,000 underlying shares (i.e. the Convertible Notes) and NEIEED? %ﬁZTota\ Smart Investments
the 5,312,395,685 shares which were held by Onger Investments, Peony Finance and le\tgngT 2EMBAR) BEHEE]
Goal Success, respectively. B RRBE A RAK6579% 2 Bk - ML

BASEAE N HE B AN R %2 #46.71% 2 B
B o RIBE S MG GRAI - B AR IER

2 Onger Investments * Peony Finance & Goal

Success 7 Bl ¥ A 2 2,007,700,062 i % 15
130,000,000 A% 481 8 % 1) (BN ] ¥ i 22 1% ) 2
5,312,395 685 AR 1A R A #E 2 o
(4)  With reference to note 1 above, 11,400,000,000 shares of WOP were held by Earnest 4) 2 EX M1 - R % HEE11,400,000,000 8%
Spot Limited (a direct wholly owned subsidiary of WOE). “T’ﬁfb EEEamest S ot Limited (BWOE 2 B 12

ZEMBEL

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors and B EXHEEN RZTZ—F=A=+—
chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates H- $E%ﬁ§$&$ﬂﬁ?$%ﬁﬁ/\%&/ﬁi
had registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying f&%REZEHHﬁ*%/\iE’\$ D230
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations LB (& RES RBEFRGIEXVEL) Z
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register Bty ~ RO EREFEEHARRD

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, BIEFSRBAE Im1§ﬂ%3521\k2,\ﬁ§2’énﬂ
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant it - SIRIRFE F R E RG] B XVEB S IR 2

to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code. AR BTG AR R KB FﬁZ%ﬁiE}Z/}(F o
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Share Option Scheme(s) of the Company

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2013, the
Shareholders approved the termination of the share option scheme previously
adopted by the Shareholders at the special general meeting held on 18
September 2003 (the “2003 Scheme”) and the adoption of a new share option
scheme (the “2013 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentive
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Upon termination of the 2003 Scheme, no share options
was granted thereunder but the subsisting share options granted prior to the
termination will continue to be valid and exercisable during the prescribed
exercisable period in accordance with the terms of the 2003 Scheme. The 2013
Scheme became effective on 22 August 2013 and, unless otherwise terminated
earlier by the Shareholders at a general meeting, will remain in force for a period
of 10 years from that date.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, share options may be granted to any Director
or proposed Director (whether executive or non-executive, including INEDs),
employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time), secondee,
any holder of securities issued by any member of the Group, any person or
entity that provides research, development or other technological support or
any advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to any member of the
Group or any substantial shareholder or company controlled by a substantial
shareholder, or any company controlled by one or more persons belonging to
any of the above classes of participants (the “Participants”).

Under the 2013 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the Participants
to subscribe for shares of the Company for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each
lot of share options granted which must be accepted within 30 days from the
offer date. Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at the Shareholders’ meetings.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the maximum number of share options that may
be granted under the 2013 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company is the number, upon their exercise, not in aggregate exceeding 30% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to time, excluding any shares
issued on the exercise of share options.

o

Bl JB HE it )

RO FERAER B

RIE—=F N A+ -_HRETZRRBF
REL BRHELLEERENR -TZ=
FAATNABITHRRFSHAGRANE
gt ([ =22 =558 ) X RATER
BAE([Z2—ZF78)  ZEERYRN
SEZRDEEREHZERZ A AR H
ATZ BB REE - RIE-FT=F+32
Gk —ET=FEEARLR  THREZ
AEREERE  ERLAEREITFEZ
BRENEEZTEMEAEEERL AT
AfTE - —B—=FHIR_ZE—=F/\A
“HBAER BIFRBRRABERERARE LS
TTIRAAR L BAIEmZ AR +FREM -
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The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each
Participant (except for a substantial shareholder or an INED or any of their
respective associates) under the 2013 Scheme within any 12-month period
is limited to 1% of the number of shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of such limit must be separately
approved by the Shareholders with such Participant and his associates
abstaining from voting. Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
must be approved by the INEDs (excluding any INED who is the grantee of the
option). Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
INED (or any of their respective associates) will result in the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of share options already granted
and to be granted to such person under the 2013 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue, and having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at each
date of grant, in excess of HKS5 million, such further grant of share options is
required to be approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting in accordance
with the Listing Rules. Any change in the terms of a share option granted to a
substantial shareholder or an INED (or any of their respective associates) is also
required to be approved by the Shareholders. The exercise price must be at
least the highest of (i) the official closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of
the Company.
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Details of the movements of the share options under the 2003 Scheme during
the financial year ended 31 March 2021 were as follows:

Number of share options
EREXA

Exercised
during
the year

Granted
during
the year

Outstanding
asat

1 April 2020
R-B-%F
mA-H
BAR{TE

Lapsed
during

Outstanding
asat

31 March 2021
RZB=-%
ZR=t-A
HATE

Name or category
of Participant the year
gz

RAAER FRERH FRETE EREAX

Other employees
In aggregate
HfpEe

At

16,537 - - (16537) -

During the year under review, no share option was granted and outstanding
under the 2013 Scheme. Apart from 16,537 share options lapsed under the 2003
Scheme, no share options under the 2003 Scheme were exercised during the
year.

At the end of the year, there was no share options outstanding under the 2003
Scheme immediately following its expiry on 11 May 2020 and no share options
were outstanding under the 2013 Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available for issue
under the 2013 Scheme is 126,514,288 shares, representing approximately 10.3%
of the Company's total issued share capital.

Other particulars of the 2003 Scheme and the 2013 Scheme are set out in note
34 to the financial statements.

The Share Option Scheme(s) of CAP

On 3 May 2012, CAP adopted a new share option scheme (the "CAP 2012
Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentive to selected eligible
persons (the “CAP Participants”) to take up options for their contribution to
the CAP Group. Under the CAP 2012 Scheme, the board of directors of CAP may
grant share options to the CAP Participants to subscribe for the shares of CAP
(the "CAP Share(s)") for a consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share options
granted. The exercise price is to be determined by its board and shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the official closing price of the CAP Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be
a business day; (ii) the average of the official closing prices of the CAP Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
CAP Share.

o

BE_Z-—#=ZA=+—BILHBFE -
ST =FHEBE T EREZSFBEET ¢

Exercisable
period

Exercise price

Date of grant per share

RLRH SRITEE
HKS

B

i

125.2010 74197 125.2011-11.5.2020
Z2-Z£5f ZE—ERATZRE
tz8 ZECEERAT-A
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The number of CAP Shares in respect of which options may be granted to any
CAP Participant in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the CAP Shares in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the shareholders of CAP. Options granted to substantial
shareholders of CAP or independent non-executive directors of CAP, or any of
their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the CAP Shares in issue and with
an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by
the shareholders of CAP.

The CAP 2012 Scheme became effective on 3 May 2012 and will remain in force
for a period of 10 years. There is no specific requirement that an option must
be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised but its board is
empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at the time
of grant of any particular option. The period during which an option may be
exercised will be determined by the board of CAP at its absolute discretion, save
that no option may be exercised for a period of more than 10 years from the date
of grant.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of CAP at general meeting, the
board of CAP may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of
CAP Shares in issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of CAP at its
general meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the CAP Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the CAP 2012 Scheme and any other share option schemes of CAP at any
time shall not exceed 30% of the CAP Shares in issue from time to time.

Since the adoption of the CAP 2012 Scheme and up to 31 March 2021, no
option had been granted. As at the date of this annual report, the total number
of CAP Shares available for issue under the CAP 2012 Scheme is 995,306,782,
representing 10% of the existing issued share capital of CAP.

Other particulars of the CAP 2012 Scheme are set out in note 34 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the headings "Director’s and chief executive's interests
and short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations” and “Share option schemes” above and in the
share option scheme disclosures in note 34 to the financial statements, at no
time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares, or underlying shares in, or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the register of
substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO showed that the following shareholders (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had notified the Company and the Stock Exchange
of relevant interests and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company:

Long positions in the shares of the Company:

Name of shareholders

BRREE BB

Rich Time (Note 1)

Rich Time (Afz#1)

Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited ("WOE") (Note 1)
Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited ([WOE]) (#/7£71)
Wang On (Note 1)

R (Miat1)

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (Note 2)

WA R (fi72)

Notes:

1. Under the SFO, Mr. Tang was interested in 810,322,940 shares of the Company held by Rich
Time Strategy Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of WOE which is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Wang On in which Mr. Tang together with his associates held approximately 46.71% interest in
Wang On.

2. Ms. Yau Yuk Yin is taken to be interested in the shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang is
interested.

3. The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure forms filed under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, there were no other persons
who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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B
RELDRBHEFRE :
Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s total
issued share capital
Number of shares (Note 3)
ERRARE BT
RAEBEBOB DL
RDEE (Ffat3)
%
810,322,940 65.79
810,322,940 65.79
810,322,940 65.79
810,322,940 65.79
Wit -

1. RIR K S &G - B 5% &£ R Rich Time
Strategy Limited (/R 7A % 2 2 & Wi & 2 FIWOE
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the following transactions continued to be continuing

connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.55 and 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules:

(a)

80

On

19 September 2016, Daywin Limited, an indirect wholly-owned

subsidiary of the Company, entered into the following office sub-licensing
agreements for a term commencing from 18 September 2016 and expiring

on 17 July 2019 which were renewed for further three years commencing

from 18 July 2019 and expiring on 17 July 2022:

(i)

(ii)

Wang On Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Management
Services Limited ("WOMS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of Wang On, to sub-lease Units 02, 03, 05, 06 and 15, 32/F., Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
at a monthly fee of HK$188,940 (up to 17 July 2019) which was
increased to HK$193,375 (from 18 July 2019 onwards until the end
of the tenancy agreement), together with other monthly expenses
(including management fee and air-conditioning charge, rates and
Government rent, subject to annual increment); and

WOP Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Properties Services
Limited ("WOPS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WOP,
to sub-lease Units 01 and 07 to 12, 32/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang
Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong at a monthly fee of
HK$414,672 (up to 17 July 2019) which was increased to HK$425,745
(from 18 July 2019 onwards until the end of the tenancy agreement),
together with other monthly expenses (including management fee
and air-conditioning charge, rates and Government rent, subject to
annual increment).

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the aggregate office sub-licensing
fee received by the Group from WOMS and WOPS amounted to

HKS10

,162,368, which were within the prescribed caps, as disclosed in the

Company s announcement dated 19 September 2016 and 17 July 2019
respectively; and
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Report of the Directors

(b)  on 30 November 2018, WYT Medicine, an indirect subsidiary of the
Company, as the supplier, and Wang On Management Limited ("WOM"),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On, as the purchaser,
entered into a new master sales agreement for supplying Chinese and
Western pharmaceutical products, health food and personal care products
by the Group to WOM (for itself and on behalf of other members of Wang
On) for the three financial years ending 31 March 2021 at annual caps of
HK$9.8 million, HK$9.9 million and HK$9.9 million, respectively. During
the year, total sales proceeds received by the Group from WOM was
HK$4,628,235 which were within the prescribed annual cap of HK$9.9
million.

The Directors (including all of the INEDs) have reviewed and confirmed that the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business; (ii) in accordance with
the terms of the respective agreements governing such transactions on terms
that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole; (iii) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no
less favourable to the Group than those available to or from independent third
parties; and (iv) have not exceeded the respective caps.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to
Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

Further details of other related party transactions and/or connected transactions
undertaken by the Group in the ordinary course of business during the
year under review, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules, where
appropriate, are set out in note 42 to the financial statements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were
no other transactions which need to be disclosed as continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

R

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 4 May 2020, Caister, a company wholly owned by Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the
controlling shareholder of Wang On, and the chairman and managing director
of the Company, requested the board of Easy One to put forward a proposal
to the other shareholders of Easy One for the privatisation of Easy One (the
"Proposal’) by way of a scheme of arrangement (the “Scheme”) under Section
99 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981. Pursuant to the Proposal, all the
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in Easy One (the “Scheme Share(s)”) were
cancelled in exchange for the consideration comprising the cash consideration
of HK$0.3 per Scheme Share and the consideration shares on the basis of eight
(8) ordinary shares of Wang On as held by Caister, for each Scheme Share (the
"Consideration”). The Proposal constituted a major and connected transaction
for the Company under the Listing Rules, details of which were set out in the
joint announcement published by the Company, Wang On, Easy One and Caister
dated 4 May 2020.

On 26 August 2020, at the respective special general meeting of the Company
and Wang On, the independent shareholders of the Company and Wang On
respectively approved the Proposal and the disposal of the Scheme Shares held
by the Group in exchange for the Consideration. On 8 September 2020, the
resolution proposed at the meeting of the shareholders of the Scheme Shares
to approve the Scheme was duly passed by the Scheme Shareholders. On 17
September 2020, the Scheme was sanctioned by the Supreme Court of Bermuda
without modification. The Scheme eventually became effective on 16 October
2020 when all the conditions to the implementation of the Proposal were
fulfilled.

Details of the transaction were set out in the joint announcement published by
the Company, Wang On, Easy One and Caister dated 4 May 2020; the scheme
document dated 12 August 2020 jointly issued by Easy One and Caister in
relation to the Proposal and the Scheme; the circulars of the Company and
Wang On dated 24 July 2020 respectively and their respective poll results
announcements dated 26 August 2020 in respect of the disposal of the entire
shareholdings in Easy One of the Company and Wang On; the respective joint
announcements of Easy One and Caister dated 8 September 2020, 18 September
2020, 12 October 2020 and 16 October 2020.

Further details of other related party transactions undertaken by the Group in
the ordinary course of business, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules,
during the year are set out in note 42 to the financial statements. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were no other
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transaction in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group's emolument policy for its employees is set up and approved
by the Remuneration Committee and the Board on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Remuneration
Committee and the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting, having regarded to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.
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Report of the Directors

The Company has adopted the 2013 Share Option Scheme at the annual
general meeting held on 22 August 2013, as incentives to Directors and eligible
employees, details of the 2013 Scheme are set out in note 34 to the financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for less than approximately 8.9% (2020: approximately 22.3%) of
the Group's total sales and the sales to the Group’s largest customer included
therein accounted to approximately 3.5% (2020: approximately 6.9%).

During the year, the largest supplier accounted for approximately 19.8% (2020:
approximately 14.5%) of the Group’s purchases and the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 54.8% (2020: approximately 36.7%) of
the Group's purchases.

At no time during the year did a Director or any of their associates or a
shareholder of the Company, which to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares, had any beneficial interest
in any of the Group's five largest customers or the largest suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations totaling
approximately HK$2.7 million (2020: approximately HK$1.8 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws of
Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the code
provisions under the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the financial year under review, except for the deviation of the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. Details of the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 42 to 65 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors

R

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient amount of public float
as required under the Listing Rules throughout the financial year under review
and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established its Audit Committee with specific written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
comprises Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon and
Mr. Cho Wing Mou, all of them are the INEDs, and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is elected
as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the financial year, the Audit Committee met twice with management
and the external auditor to review and consider, among other things, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the financial report
matters (including the review of audited consolidated financial statement for
the year ended 31 March 2020 and the consolidated interim results for the six-
month ended 30 September 2020), the statutory compliance, internal controls
and risk management, continuing connected transactions and the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function as well as their training programmes and
budget. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 with the independent auditor and
management of the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events after the reporting period of the Group are set out in
note 47 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 have been audited
by Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
EY::

To the shareholders of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Holdings Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") set
out on pages 95 to 258, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
"Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key audit matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BN EST N AEERRETSH

Key audit matter

BREITER

Valuation of investment properties

KREYWEZ1G1E

The Group holds various investment properties in Hong  Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment
Kong and Mainland China for rental earning purposes.  properties included the following:
Such investment properties are measured at fair value  BIFHIREVEGEZ BHIRFEIENATSE :

at the end of each reporting period and the aggregate
carrying amount of these investment properties was
HK$3,507,623,000 as at 31 March 2021, which represented
approximately 44% of the total assets of the Group.
EEEREERTEAMFEZEREMEURRES - 4
REWMERNSRERRRAFENE  MZFKREVER-Z
——F=A=1+—BZEKREER35076230008T 15 &
SEBEEELN44%

Management of the Company engaged external valuers
to perform the valuation of these investment properties as
at 31 March 2021 and in the absence of current prices in
an active market for similar properties, the external valuers
considered information from a variety of sources such
as current prices of properties with similar locations and
conditions. This has been identified as a key audit matter
because significant estimation is required to determine
the fair values of the investment properties, which reflect
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.
BEARBEER T —F=A=1T—HBZE/INILERMEZ
EREMFEETMHE - NRZEUYEEERTSH 2 RITE
BERT - JNEMEERE ZERE ZERRZER - WEHEM
B KGR 2 MR EIRITER - LIRS R — AR ERT F18
TREEREMHEZ A HERELEAMG - HrREHREH
R M5 o

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
valuation of investment properties are included in notes
24,3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRAREMFEAEZ St BERRREH NG S P BHRRM T
24~ 3R15°
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obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared
by the external valuers engaged by the Group;
BERENE BEEZREZINBEBEMARRZ HERS

assessing the external valuers’ qualification, experience
and expertise and considering their competence,
objectivity and independence; and

FHEINEDEER 2 B KBRREXEANBLZEEED &
B RIEME - R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
the assessment of the valuation methodologies applied
and the key assumptions and estimates adopted in the
valuations.
BREEMOABEEER G RMTEEEFER 2 GES
TEA R 2 B RER Ak Et o
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BN EST N AEERRETSH

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

BRPYERIFEL EYFEZ TETFE

The Group holds properties under development and
properties held for sale in Mainland China, which are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. As at 31 March
2021, the aggregate carrying amount of these properties
was HK$1,955,025,000, which represented approximately
25% of the total assets of the Group.
EEEFAHRE A2 B R P Y RIFEL E YR AR EA]
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During the year, write-down of HK$6,326,000 was
recognised in profit or loss against properties held for sale.
FR - FHEHE YR B & T R MUR6,326,000 7T ©

The Group engaged an external valuer to perform the
valuations of these properties under development
and properties held for sale as at 31 March 2021. This
is identified as a key audit matter because significant
estimation is required to determine the net realisable value
of the properties under development and properties held
for sale, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.
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The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
properties under development and properties held for sale
are included in notes 2.4, 3, 19 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BRAERPYERFELEYHE 2 STBER MRB SN FE M
TEIREMIEE24 3 1920

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of
properties under development and properties held for sale
included the following:

BARHEE R ERSEHEME T FE 2 EHIRFEEN
T&IE -

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared
by the external valuer engaged by the Group;
BERENE BESEEZREZINMEEMARE . GERS

assessing the external valuer’s qualification, experience
and expertise and considering its competence, objectivity
and independence; and

FHESNEREERM . BE  KBREREXEANBUZREEN &
B REME R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
the assessment of the valuation methodologies applied
and the key assumptions and estimates adopted in the
valuations.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

BREITER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BN EST N AEERRETSH

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

W BB R R EZRET

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) before current
year impairment of HK$891,275,000, which relate to the
cash-generating units ("CGUs") of Chinese pharmaceutical
and health food products and Western pharmaceutical
and health food products. Given that the operating results
of both CGUs were loss-making for the current year,
management of the Company performed an impairment
assessment of the related property, plant and equipment
to determine their recoverable amounts based on either
their value in use or fair values less costs of disposal.

RZTEZ—F=A=+—HB  BEEFFEPERRER
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During the year, impairment of HK$21,914,000 was
recognised against these property, plant and equipment.
RER - ERZEYHE - BB RRERRIRE21,914,000/ 7T ©

The impairment assessment has been identified as a key
audit matter due to the materiality of the carrying values
of the property, plant and equipment, and the significant
judgements and estimations involved in the assessment of
their recoverable amounts.

Y% - BB RREEREE B2 ARG E R E 8RS
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The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to
the impairment of property, plant and equipment are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BRAME - BERREREZGFTEBR RRBEHNGEE M5 ®
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For impairment assessments using the value in use calculations,

our audit procedures included the following:

A EEBEEETRENGEN S @ RPINBIFEFEEBEUTS

15
enquiring of management in relation to the key
assumptions applied in the cash flow projections, such
as the revenue growth rates and gross margins, and
comparing them to historical information and our
understanding of the latest market information and
conditions; and
MERESARSRIBAPER 2 ARRR(NRALRER
) W A AR FR A0 B 6 fER AR B FE 52 Bk I BP9 Sl A T
HEMBARRRBEEITLEE &

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
the assessment of the methodologies and the discount
rates used to determine the recoverable amounts.

BB AIH A EB (B F R 0 BB IR E Al Y Bl @ FE P IR
RZFAERFEE -

For impairment assessments using the fair value less costs of
disposal of the relevant property, plant and equipment, our
audit procedures included the following:

AR FER G EREYE - BE RRENKAETRETET
F o HMNEAEFBFEATRIA

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared
by the external valuer engaged by the Group;
BERENE BESEEZREZINMEEMARE . MERS

assessing the external valuer's qualification, experience
and expertise and considering its competence, objectivity
and independence; and

AR R ERN 2 E1% - KRR EEMB L ZEEEEN &
BIMERBM R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
the assessment of the valuation methodologies applied
and the key assumptions and estimates adopted in the
valuations.
BERMNABEEZR G MT HEETEBZEES
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BN EST N AEERRETSH

Purchase price allocation for a business combination
EBEHBIERED I

On 26 September 2019, the Group proposed a general
offer to acquire a maximum of 54.83% equity interest
in China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (“CAP”) and a
maximum of 46.86% of the outstanding principal amount
of convertible notes issued by CAP (the "CAP Acquisition”).
On 12 February 2020 (the “Acquisition Date”), the CAP
Acquisition was completed and 5,312,395,685 shares of
CAP were acquired at HK$0.091 each and CAP became a
53.37%-owned subsidiary of the Group.
RZZB-—NFRAZTARB - BEERZZEELN @ UK
BHEREMRZIAERAR([HERER])&RZ5483%2 K&
R R B R B £ 46.86% 2 B BT A AR BIR AR EE A S5
(THEREMKEEE]) RZZE_TF-_AT+=-H(KER
B HEEERBEFELE K - B53123956850F &
BREMRMEIEFR0.091F T 2 BRTUKE  PRERER
BRAR BEEWAS337%ZMBAR -

Management of the Company accounted for the
CAP Acquisition as a business combination using the
acquisition method under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations.
In the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, the gain
on bargain purchase from the CAP Acquisition was
determined on a provisional basis.
ERAIEEECRAEBNBMELEEIREFSHETHK
BHERHEREMRESHEIEREBAHAR -£FE &
RABZEZZ_ZF=A=+T—HILFENGRSUNBHRERE
FEREREBEENZERS KR RGFEEET

Our audit procedures to assess the purchase price allocation for
the CAP Acquisition included the following:

BMFAETREER KB EENBEENECETREFBENATE
I8 :

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared
by the external valuer engaged by the Group;
BERENE BESEZEREZINEMEEMARE MERS

assessing the external valuer’s qualification, experience
and expertise and considering its competence, objectivity
and independence;

FHESNEBEEMZ BE KRR EENBLZREREN &
B R E M

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
the assessment of the valuation methodologies applied
and the key assumptions and estimates adopted in the
valuations;
BERMNABEEZR BB RMT GEETEBZEES
TEARIRR 2 BASERRR S fdaT

obtaining and reviewing the judgements handed down
by the courts and legal advice from external lawyers
engaged by the Group for the liabilities of CAP Group;
BEREMEERE FTHHRN R BESEERE N
HhEREMEENEERENEEER
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

BREITER

P o 2 5t = 0 ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BN EST N AEERRETSH

Purchase price allocation for a business combination (continued)

XA BB B DI (&)

During the current financial year, with the assistance of
an external valuer, the Group has finalised the fair value
assessment of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed of CAP and its subsidiaries (collectively “the CAP
Group”) as at the Acquisition Date and as a result, the
gain on bargain purchase from the CAP Acquisition was
restated from HK$230,844,000 to HK$571,478,000 in profit
or loss during the year ended 31 March 2020. Retrospective
adjustments were made, and the financial effects of the
adjustments are detailed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RAMBEE - EIDEEMOBET - BEEEERAKE
HBREEZEHHERERRAMBAR (KB [FRREMRE
E )R B R SRl P B E R AT AR RGN AT E
G Bl BEZT_TF=A=+—RHIEFEMNERT
HERE MK B RIENZEE R B WEE 2308440008 TEY =
571,478,000/ 7T - BEEHEBMAE - AENI BT ERGEE M
TEHRKRM F4FF

This area has been identified as a key audit matter given
the magnitude of the amount and significant management
judgement being required to determine the fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the CAP Group,
which was finalised during the year ended 31 March 2021.
EREETFEREREBAHREERBBENATEMTNS
BREABEEHE HERBREWETABREETSE 23
HERBETZ—F=A=1+—"HILFEZE -

The nature and financial effects of the CAP Acquisition are
disclosed in notes 4 and 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PEEEMBEFENEE RVBEERRE M ERERN T4
K37 EE -
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checking the arithmetical accuracy of the gain on bargain
purchase from the CAP Acquisition; and
BEXTREREMRBEETEENZEBREENENEE
Wt R

assessing the adequacy of the disclosures of the CAP
Acquisition in the consolidated financial statements.
AT ERERPEFREGAMBRRTRENT DM -



Independent Auditor’s Report

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

T8 S A S

TIHR 4 iz T Al %R}

EATESEHAMEHAR - ARG
ETRRERAMFEER - ETEERA
BTSRRI MO BAT R -

B ESVBRRNBERL NREEME
o BHPAT T EZERMERBERENTER
HYEERE A

REMY RSB BEREROBETM S - LMD
EERHMEEMER  FEUBEED  EEE
tERRE EEES M B RRIRMESRTB
RHMERENBELFEENEENEUTF
HEBRFERRANER - EREMERITH
TE - RERMBREMENFEERER
ot - BB EREXFE - EEHE &
28 ERE -

A A R R R
£

ERREFAEEREEBGMASEM
HKEBIR B IR EERD) REE (AR ERED K
BEREGRHEEEMTENEE M B]RE
THERSREEAVBERROBERINFE
H A R R 28 AR T G 2R #O BE K 8 AR BRI P 75
BAEER A E -

EREUSEVBHEE - HAREZEER
A BERBERFELENRESD  LEERE
ATHEEFELLAHNEIR - ARER
FELERSTER RIE BERREERH
B BEEEBRINFLLE  SHAIEEM
BERNERTR -

EREZBEWME BEAREBEERETRE &
B ERENMBRERERE
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required

T8 S A S

% BT R 2 BT A% I R R i
i = AT ()

HEEEMRASTRRNBEERIE
&R AR MR EN S RN -

HEERAKECE ST ERN \‘“‘:"\‘i
e o RIBEPAERNERE - 7
ERAFEEFHABREMNEAT
HEEE - MRl ReEEY BERENF
BRERNELEETRRE - MRKEMR
REEEATHEEN  RIBEVERERE

to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence

RSP IREFREEREES VB RE
RERERE - REEENKETE

Al MEEERIFEREER - B
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. ﬁaﬁ%%ﬁ"?%ﬁﬁﬂi#&i B IEPTEUSEY
FTBEE o AT - RIRFIALIF R AIGEE

B EKIT%‘E FEEE -

obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the . FHEAR A MBS WMRNERIFAR - &
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and BANAR - BEHRE - ARGEVHER

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying KEAPERMRZFHMEIE -

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

5h ﬁ%lﬁ%%i%ﬁiﬁiﬁﬁ’]ﬂﬁ%%
SERFR - HENEEE - AEY
REMBHRERER - HMEE &
SETSHTR - BEEMAT - HFIH
B BRAEDIPEE -

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, BREMEBIREN  RMEEZEEGER T
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, BWESEE - SHETHE  EAFTER
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during BB APIER T 5 H 7 #BE E
our audit. DEPNYER
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's
report is Mr. CHUNG, Ho Ling.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

29 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Ao 1R A S At 2 g R

Year ended 31 March 2021 2= -—#=A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHTT
(Restated)
(% 5E51)
REVENUE Y 2% 6 1,108,565 620,741
Cost of sales SHE KA (663,283) (339,165)
Gross profit EF 445,282 281,576
Other income and gains, net HA WA R Mss - FEE 6 120,629 838,682
Selling and distribution expenses HENDHFX (167,442) (233,238)
Administrative expenses i3 (261,822) (178,229)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net WM EERERES - F58 7 (40,627) (16,013)
Other expenses Hipx (264,300) (93, 487)
Write-down of properties held for sale FRES & W E MO 20 (6,326) =
Finance costs & AR 8 (107,724) (52,780)
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial BATEKEER AR MBE
assets and liabilities at fair value through ENBEZAFERZE S
profit or loss, net (E18) « % 6,601 (7,323)
Fair value losses on owned investment EREEYEZ A TFEEE -
properties, net FEE 15 (32,056) (99,198)
Share of profits and losses of associates DIGHEE R Fa N RIEE 4,654 15,177
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRBATER, (K518) 7 (303,131) 455,167
Income tax expense FriSHiMA X 11 (148,132) (17,199)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REERF (5R) (451,263) 437,968

NTTEEEER AR A

—=—

=



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Aok 1R A S At 2 g R

Yearended 31 March 2021 2 - - —F—_A=+—HItFE

2021 2020
—E_—F
HK$’000

—E-TE

—= =

HKS$'000

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that

Hit2EWE (BE)

B RERME IR B R 7 4R 2

FERT

FHIT
(Restated)
(& E5)

may be reclassified to profit or loss in B 2 B2 Eam,
subsequent periods: (E#8) -
Debt investments at fair value through other &2 T E&LH b2 iz
comprehensive income: ARz BB E :
Changes in fair value NFEES 11,981 (16,428)
Reclassification adjustments for losses/ stABR 2 BB (Was)
(gains) included in profit or loss: ZEHDEAE
— Impairment losses, net —REEE - 7 382 10,165
- Loss/(gain) on disposal/redemption, —HE ERZ
net B8, (Mas) - FHE 6,7 476 (100,078)
12,839 (106,341)
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) PEBE AR ZHEMEE
of associates Wz, (E518) 9,978 (13,093)
Translation reserve: b 5
Translation of foreign operations REGINET 286,512 (83,845)
Release of translation reserve upon disposal R — B & A AR A R
of investment in an associate R 0B 5 G 29,850 =
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) AR RIREF S EZIE
that may be reclassified to profit or loss in w2 B 2 mEEs (E18)
subsequent periods SREE 339,179 (203,279)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not — #TF@RE#EBFIEF HHE
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BT EmEEE
periods: (Ei1E) -
Fair value adjustment upon transfer from BEFEBRMEERILEY
owner-occupied property to investment ERNATEERARE Mk
property, net of tax FHIE 76,103 -
Share of other comprehensive loss of an associate 95— B N & 2
Hith 2 HEE518 (869) (6,331)
Equity investments at fair value through A ELE M2 E R
other comprehensive income: ARz R & -
Changes in fair value A EES 30,305 (35,522)
Deferred tax IR IR 32 - 1,832
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that B A E@RERBEEFHES
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in Bz e mkEs
subsequent periods (&518))%%8 105,539 (40,021)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) ZAF&EHM2mEIE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (F518) » MRBIE 444,718 (243,300
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) AEERERE (FE)#AE
FOR THE YEAR (6,545) 194,668
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Ao 1R A S At 2 g R

Year ended 31 March 2021 2= -—#=A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—B——fF —ETEF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTET FAEIT
(Restated)
(#=71))
Profit/(loss) attributable to: AR AT EAE# R (F518)
Owners of the parent [SYNCIEZ 2SN (375,995) 438,548
Non-controlling interests FEFRAR A (75,268) (580)
(451,263) 437,968
Total comprehensive income/(loss) LA ALEGEERE
attributable to: (E518) 48
Owners of the parent BAREER A (77,461) 204,896
Non-controlling interests FEVERS M 2 70,916 (10,228)
(6,545) 194,668
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BAREEERISEAENG
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BREF (FE)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 13
(Restated)
€==x))
Basic and diluted BERREE HK (30.53) cents  HK 35.61 cents
(30.53)5841L 35.61781

ML E LR AR A A
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

i B I BEIR DLk

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

2021 2020
—B-—F —T_THF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHAT
(Restated)
(#=71))
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MERE 14 961,775 974,940
Investment properties KA 15 3,507,623 3,190,791
Net investments in subleases DR EFHE 16 4,496 9,619
Investments in associates REEENRZIRE 17 2,832 314,033
Financial assets at fair value through other BAFELEHEMEEWEAR
comprehensive income 2B EE 18 234,871 125,100
Deposits sy 24 19,134 19,905
Deferred tax assets EERIRE B 32 48 48
Total non-current assets BIETB A E 4,730,779 4,634,436
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Properties under development BEEAYIE 19 68,528 297,146
Properties held for sale FEREME 20 1,886,497 1,645,165
Inventories T8 21 162,670 154,890
Trade receivables B 5 WA 22 53,300 67,302
Loans and interest receivables EUE RN A S 23 30,301 68,250
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — J&f3(18 - &4 & H b fELL
KIE 24 308,632 249,376
Net investments in subleases PR EFHE 16 8,852 10,526
Financial assets at fair value through other BAFELE D2 E RS AR
comprehensive income 2 EE 18 47,944 48,120
Financial assets at fair value through BAFELERARZ
profit or loss B & E 25 102,603 56,675
Tax recoverable Al E RIS 34,884 14,438
Restricted bank balances SR HIRITAE R 26 22,302 8,157
Cash and cash equivalents He kRS ZREER 26 507,234 475,702
Total current assets ERENEE 3,233,747 3,095,747
CURRENT LIABILITIES FBEE
Trade payables B 5 e I8 27 72,204 66,709
Other payables and accruals HAb (I kBT E A 28 809,710 546,370
Contract liabilities EHAaE 28 596,568 548,829
Financial liabilities at fair value through BAFELEBRARZ
profit or loss BiEas 25 37 621
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 324817 R E S & 30 628,736 653,127
Convertible notes AR SR 31 131,901 -
Tax payable FETIIE 132,239 58,006
Total current liabilities BwrEa & 2,371,395 1,873,662
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 862,352 1,222,085
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERGEESRE 5,593,131 5,856,521

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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A B AR DU

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

2021 2020
—B-—fF —T_THF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAEIT
(Restated)
(#=71))
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERABEE 5,593,131 5,856,521
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE
Other payables H b e~ IR 28 56,089 81,586
Financial liabilities at fair value through BATEKIERARZ
profit or loss MBatE 25 810 =
Unsecured notes RS R 29 199,348 181,220
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st 8R1TREMEE 30 701,092 716,598
Convertible notes B 31 - 249,814
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIE R & 32 685,443 633,916
Total non-current liabilities RIERBEE 1,642,782 1,863,134
Net assets BEFE 3,950,349 3,993,387
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 F#HG A EERER
Issued capital B EITRAR 33 12,316 12,316
Reserves EtE 35 2,553,009 2,630,470
2,565,325 2,642,786
Non-controlling interests AR 1,385,024 1,350,601
Total equity B 3,950,349 3,993,387
Tang Ching Ho Tang Wai Man
550 HEH
Director Director
e e
LT = BEEAT AR

=
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Yearended 31 March 2021 2 - - —F—_A=+—HItFE

Fairvalue

Contributed

premium

At 1 Aprl 2019 HZE-1EMA-B 1236 2106799 [21150) 1569 8 (36404 3% 019 9,529 9034 8014 (28403 2437890 3956 244184

Poftfoss fortheyer  AERER|/(BE)
Rt (#55) . } B , _ , - - - - FOY € 1 (o) 4378
Other comprehensive income/ AEEEM2E
(loss) fortheyear: Wit/(Ef):
Financil sstsat far RATEREEGRE
valuethrough other WEAE 2t
compreensiencone;  &E:
Changes nfirvalie, ATERY:
T RRE _ _ - - = - - - (16428) (3369) = = (son8) = (50118)
Recassicationadjustment St AlBEZ B/
forlosses/lgainginduded (W) 2 &%

inproftorloss Fax
~Impaimentlosses.net -~ HERE
et _ _ - - - = - - 10,165 - - - 10,165 - 10,165
- Gain on disposal -1 /BB
redemption, net W& 58 = - - - - ) : - (o : : - -l
Siareofoher comprehensive. AEEEATZ
los ofasocites Af2EER s - - - - - : ) (631 ) - -
Tranltion resee B

Behange diferenceson ~ EEIER
translaion offoreign HETZES

oerton e - - - - - ) : : : : : B Y7 1]
Tota compreiensiveincome/  AEE2ENE/
(lss) forthe year (Restated) (512 58K - - - - - (87200) - - (10634 40021) - 48548 20489 (10228) 194668
Acquistionof subsidares ~ IKEKEA
[Restated) (&5 3 = = = = = = = = = = = = = 1356873 1356873
Foretureof shaeoptions ~ ERIEM - - - - 8 - - - - - - 3 - -
A3 Narch 2000 Restated)  H=F=FE=7
S+-R(@E7) 12316 2,106,799 (211507 0569 8 (136941 39 209 (10812 (30987 1014 4006t 2640786 1350601 3993387
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At 31 March 2000, as orginally == FF=A

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AR REdR S B

Year ended 31 March 2021 2= -—#=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BAAREARE

Share Fairvalue  Fairvalue Asset Non-
Issued Share Special  Contributed option ~ Translation Reserve Other reserve reserve  revaluation  Retained controlling Total

capital ~ premium resrve surplus reserve reserve funds reserve  (recycling) (non-tecycling) reserve profits Total interests equity

AVERE ATERR &

BRTRA  RMEE  GUBE  REER BRERE EXEE  REER  HbBE (TEE) (FUEM)  EfRE  REEA gt FEREE  GER
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wi TEn TR TR TR TR TR TEn  fEn  fEn TR TR TR TR TR TR

(note 33) (note 35(i)) (note 35(ii)) (note 35(iv))  (note 35(iii))

(Kits3) (Wakasfi) (ks (HieE3siiv) ~ (HEasti)

reported =t-A(EE

25) 12316 2,106,799 (27,150) 275,693 8 (123,69 359 2019 (10,812) (30,987) 28,014 67421 2300061 1,051,213 3351274
Adjustment aising from prior  BAFEER SRR
yearpovisonalaccounting B4 HER 4 - - - - - - - - - - -5 35 299388 643
A1 Aprl 000 Restated) 5 "F-%EMA-R

(&E5)) 12316 2,106,799 (27,150) 275,693 8 (123,69 359 2019 (10,812) (30,987) 28,014 40146 2642786 1350601 3,993,387

Lossfortheyear TEERE
Other comprehensive income/ A% b2
(loss) forthe year: &/ (B8):
Financil sstsat far RAVREENRE
aluethrough other YEAE 2t

onpehensieincome:~ BE

- - - - - - - - - - - (315995 (375995 (75.268) (451,263

Changes i farvalue ATERY - - - - - . . S N300 ) - oo
Reclssficaion adjustment i A& BiEZ
forlosses ncludedinprofit~ EHAEEE
orloss
- Impaiment losses.net— ~HEBE
58 _ - - ki) - ki) 38
~Loss on dispose/ -he/BE2
Tedemption net BR 58 - - - i ) e i
Rirvalueadjusimentupon BT ARNZER
transfer fiom owner- RENZRY
occupie poperty o ATERE
investment propety bl
netoftax - - - - - - - - - - 76,103 - 76,103 - 76,103
Share ofother comprehensive SHEBEATZER
incomefloss) of assocates 2R/ (8) - - - - - 9918 - - ) 189 ) ) e i ol
Tranltion resne Bk
Behangediferenceson ~ REENER
translation offoreign fEEs
operaion Ejzg - - - - - 140,328 - - - - - - 140,328 146,184 286,512
Relezseoftransaton HER-FBE
reseneupondiposal ol ATREERE
inesmentinanasocite  EREE - - - - - e . - . . . - M o B
Totd comprehensieincome/ REE2EAE/
(o) forthe year (BR)gE - - - - - 180156 - SN VA6 T6I03 BIS9%)  (del 006 (6543)

Dividend declred o BEERERER
norcontolinginferests R

- - - - - - - - - - - - - (36,493)  (36,493)

Expiyofshate options EREER - - - - (83) - - - - - - 8 - - -
Releaseof esenesupon  HER-FBEDAR
dsposlofinvestmentin~~ EBBREE
anassodiate - - - - - - - (2,019) - 10,300 - (8,281) - - -
Tendertoresenefinds ~ BEZEREES - - - - - - 82 - - - 832) - - -
At31 March 2021 i
=t-H 12316 2106799 (27,150  275,693* -* 56,462 1191 -+ 2,021 8,749* 104,117% 25,121 2565325 1,385,024 3,950,349
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,553,009,000 (2020: * ZEHEBEREEOESEAMBRARP LR
HK$2,630,470,000 (Restated)) in the consolidated statement of financial position. A #152,553,009,0008 7T (ZE_FF :

2,630,470,000/7C (K&E5) ) -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MO Bl emER

Yearended 31 March 2021 &2 T - —F ==

+—HIEFE

2020
—T_TF
HK$'000
T
(Restated)
(g&&E5)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES R&EEXB2HERE
Profit/(loss) before tax M ADRF, (EE) (303,131) 455,167
Adjustments for: EFRBATRIE
Finance costs LB A A 8 107,724 52,780
Interest income on loan receivables EWE R 2 F S A 6 (3,798) (9,922)
Interest income on financial assets at fair BRAFELIER AR S EE
value through profit or loss and financial R A THEEE 2 E Y
assets at fair value through other ANBR 2 BT B EE 2 R EHA
comprehensive income 6 (16,284) (61,386)
Interest income on bank deposits BITIF R FEWA 6 (4,489) (5,541
Dividends from financial assets at fair value REZAFELIER AR 8T
through profit or loss and financial assets BEMRAHELE 2R
at fair value through other comprehensive s NBR 2 BITS A 2 R B
income 6 (4,383) (4,371)
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets BAFELBES AR M
and liabilities at fair value through profit or BERBEZATEE
loss, net B (zs)  BE (6,601) 7,323
Loss/(gain) on disposal/redemption of debt HeE BERAFEEEME
investments at fair value through other AR EEERE 2 &
comprehensive income, net B/ (a) - F58 6,7 476 (100,078)
Gain on disposal of an investment property N E —IEIRE Y 2 W 6 - (7,464)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries EEHB AR ZEE 7 - 2,937
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries ZEBEWE AR 2 Hm 6 - (571,478)
Loss on disposal of investment in an associate &R AN THTE 2 BB 7 237,740 =
Fair value losses on owned investment BRREMEZ AFERRE -
properties, net R 15 32,056 99,198
Fair value losses on sub-leased investment PEREMEZ NFEEE
properties 7,15 2,976 662
Accrued rent-free rental income EsteAmEe A 15 (32) 10
Finance income on net investments in DRI EFER 2 IR A
subleases 6,16 (705) (1,059)
Depreciation of owned assets kB RENE 14 58,999 50,768
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 14 33,624 61,906
Impairment losses on property, plant and M - BE REEREERE -
equipment, net HER 7,14 21,914 81,813
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, HEYE  MEKREEE
plant and equipment ZEE (e 6,7 237 (56,306)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net MISEERERE  FHE 7 40,627 16,013
Allowance for obsolete inventories PREFERE 7 4,747 8,200
Write-down of properties held for sale FEEH & V1 ZEMOR 20 6,326 -
Impairment of investment in an associate M—EEE R TR E 2 RE 7,17 - 8,737
Share of profits and losses of associates DAREE & A B ) K E5 18 (4,654) (15,177)
Gain on modification/termination of lease contracts &2k 4R ILTRE A 42 Uiz 6,16 (13,737) -
COVID-19-related rent concessions from R E HFACOVID-1918
lessors HeER 16 (6,888) (1,743)
Loss on redemption of convertible notes FE Bl AT AR R 2 518 7 3,933 -
186,677 10,989
Increase in inventories FEEM (12,245) (1,493)
Increase in properties under development EJEGLE Sl (82,238) (12,261)
Decrease/(increase) in properties held for sale  #H{EREWER LD (&) 220,557 (1,723)
Decrease in trade receivables 2 5 WG IER 16,493 19,880
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - e REMEWR
receivables FRIEIE AN (38,529) (11,681)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B 5 RN FEE I, O A) 1,682 (17,182)
Increase in contract liabilities SHABIEN 2,515 24,917
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals Hfth fE 1 3538 & fE 51 & F
#h CFid) 191,462 (47,876)
Cash from/(used in) operations wER/ (A R& 486,374 (36,430)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MO Bl emER

Year ended 31 March 2021 #;

=

—#=A=+—AILEE

2020
—Z_TF
HK$'000
FHT
(Restated)
(s =51)
Cash from/(used in) operations wEmE/(FTA)RE 486,374 (36,430)
Proceeds from subleases DS IA 16(i) 11,560 11,606
Interest received on bank deposits RITERZ EUWFE 4,489 5,541
Tax paid BfHE (89,872) (13,241)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating eSS (TR 2
activities RE&mEFE 412,551 (32,524)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEZRERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEWE  BELRREES
equipment (56,462) (4,551)
Deposits paid for acquisition of items of IWEEMEE - BB MR EIE B
property, plant and equipment ZEfES (3,040) (2,254)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEMHE - BEKREEEB AT
plant and equipment RIE 4,248 142,950
Proceeds from disposal of an investment property H & —IBREMEFTSHIE - 18,464
Additions to investment properties NEREME 15 (30,725) (3,705)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HE KB R A FTSIA 38 - 148,723
Proceeds from disposal of investment in an EER—REHBERRKE
associate FriS 5K38 48,514 -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through B EiZ A FELIERZAR
profit or loss Z A E (38,796) (82,062)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair H&E& A FELIEZR AR
value through profit or loss Z BB EFTIS IR - 44,243
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through B EIRAFELE M2 EKZIEA
other comprehensive income RIS EE (64,716) (396,600)
Proceeds from disposal/redemption of debt HE BRZAFELHEMEE
investments at fair value through other WS ABR Z BISIR A5 08
comprehensive income 63,139 588,584
Increase in loan receivables FEUCE FRIE N (3,947) =
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank balances SR #5847 &805m4~ (350) (13,036) 754
Return of capital from an associate DN =Rl Al/NE - P NEIE - 2,364
Dividends received from associates R =N S 3,873 203
Interest received from loan receivables and debt R B EKRER MEKRE 2
investments 2 W F 8 22,077 82,253
Dividends received from financial assets at fair REBEAFELEMERERBEEA
value through other comprehensive income and Bk 2 BA % B E R IR A FELE
financial assets at fair value through profitorloss 5 ABR 2 Bi#&E 2 B WK E 4,383 4,371
Acquisition of subsidiaries WK B A R 37 - (118,500)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities &&EEETS,(FTH)
REREF58 (64,488) 425,237
(LT E BT B R A A

=
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MO Bl emER

Yearended 31 March 2021 &2 T - —F ==

+—HIEFE

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHT
(ENEIE))
(re&75)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZE2RERE
New bank borrowings LR ITEE 426,364 590,780
Repayments of bank borrowings BEBRITEE (500,478) (535,996)
Redemption of unsecured bonds B I A E S - (26,000)
Redemption of convertible notes FE [ AT IR AR R IR (130,000) -
Principal portion of lease payments HEMRZ KL ED (62,368) (65,282)
Interest paid BEATFLE (84,394) (45,126)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEESFTAR S REFE (350,876) (81,624)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND BeRRESHBHEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS CR2) 25 (2,813) 311,089
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year #F#z3E £ KkIBEERIER 475,702 171,209
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ERBH w8 FH 34,345 (6,596)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATENDOF S#XzRE&RBELZ[EER
YEAR 507,234 475,702
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReRBESLERAER 28I
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances e RIBITHER 432,061 455,023
Non-pledged time deposits with original REERRIHBEIR=ZEAZ
maturity of less than three months when AT RER
acquired 75,173 20,679
507,234 475,702
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Notes to Financial Statements

Corporate and Group Information

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the "Company") is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its head office and principal place of business are both located at Suite
3101, 31/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the "Group") were involved in the following principal activities:

production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products

production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health food
products

property investment

management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Rich Time Strategy Limited, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Wang On Group Limited ("Wang On"), which
is incorporated in Bermuda and is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange").

B 285 A Fi e

31 March2021 —E=—F=A8=+—H

2 ] B 4 R

UL ESEEERERAT(TAAF])
RARBREFMK Y 2 EREER
A BREmEEREBEEMEIN
RRBEBNENEERNBIRAERNE
H311E3101E ©

RER > ARRREKE XA (5B
[AREE)EEF N TFIER

AR R T B N AR R am E
EEMHEEAZERRERMAER

MERE

ERNHERERR M HLY
ES

ARAFEERR  ARAZEEER
‘A @] ARich Time Strategy Limited + HR
KBRLESEMKL - KRR Z&
BRERRAREAEEBARAR(E
Z]) ERBEREFMEYL - TRE
BHMARSFARRR ([B])*
R T e

R EEFEIERBRAF]
—E - FFH
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Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 A Fi

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. A6 REEER )
Information about subsidiaries MEARZER

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: AAREEMBARZFFBAT ¢
Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
Place of

incorporation Indirect

106

Asia Brighter Investment Limited

HERERRAA

Billion Good Investment Limited

BERARRAA

China Agri-Products Exchange
Limited*/A (‘CAP')

HERERRSERAT Y
(hEEER])

City Brighter Limited
REBRAT

Cloud Hero Limited

Full Gainer Investment Limited

ShhEARRAR

Good Excellent Limited

EHEERAT

Grand Quality Development
Limited
BIERARAR

Info World Investment Limited

HABERRAA

Luxembourg Medicine Company
Limited
EREXERARAA

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2021

and business

Hong Kong
3

Hong Kong
Bk

Bermuda

BRE

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
B
Hong Kong
(3

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
B
Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
3

Issued ordinary/ RAFEERERI L

registered Direct

share capital E#

E 2021 2020 2021

E ~g--% "B-%F 8=

Ordinary HKS1 - - 100%

ERRAT

Ordinary HK$2 - - 99.79%

ERRET

Ordinary - - 53.37%
HK$99,530,678

ERHR99 5306785

Ordinary HK$700,000 - - 100%

ERRI0000%7T

Ordinary HKS1 - - 100%

ERRIAT

Ordinary HKS1 - - 100%

ERRAT

Ordinary HKS1 - - 100%

ERRIET

Ordinary HKS2 - - 100%

ERkoET

Ordinary HKS1 - - 100%

ERRIET

Ordinary HK$933,313 - - 99.79%

LRR9333135T

3

99.79%

5337%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

99.79%

Principal
activities

IEEH

Property investment

UEST

Property investment

Investment holding

Property investment

VEST

Provision of financial
service

RRERMH

Property holding
ST

Property holding
VESE

Property holding
L]

Property investment

Production and
sale of Western
pharmaceutical and
health food products
HERHERERRRE

RRER



Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 e Fi

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. A REHER @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) M B 2 E R ()

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARREEWBRARAZFBOT :
(continued) €))

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company

Place of Issued ordinary/ RAAEERERAL

incorporation registered Direct Indirect

and business share capital B 584 Principal

‘ g 2021 2020 2021 activities
Z§--F ¥ TERK

Oriental Sino Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - = 100% 100%  Property holding
RERERRAA 3 ERkoET VST
Sino Fame Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - = 100% 100%  Property investment
[ERRARRAT &% BRRIET VESE
Star Sense Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
AARRAA & LERET Ve
Sunbo Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - = 100% 100%  Property investment
RERERRAA (30 BRRIET VESE
Sunny Victor Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
REBRAT 3 ERkoET VST
Topmate Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
BERRERRAA (30 BRRIET VSR
Total Smart Investments Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary USD1 100% 100% - - Investment holding

RERIES BRRET RARR
Wai Yuen Tong Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
frTEBRAT (30 BRRIET VSR
Wai Yuen Tong (Regional) Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
fizz(tE)ERAR &4 BRRIAT VST

ML E LR AR A A
T —FFR
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

1.

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

1. 2w REEER (@)
] At NC )

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARREEWBRARAZFBOT :
(continued) €))

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ARREERER DL

Place of

Issued ordinary/

Wai Yuen Tong (Macao) Limited
iz (%) ERAR

Wai Yuen Tong (Retail) Limited
fi% (FE)RRAR

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Company Limited
("WYT Medicine Company’)
T2 2HARAR
(Mur2%m))

MImEREREARDAY

BE(RAERRARAR

OB EERRARAT

108
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incorporation

and business
AR
CES

Macau

27

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
Bk

People's Republic of
China (the "PRC")/
Mainland China

HEAREAE
(wEl)/
SETd

The PRC/Mainland
China
RE/RER

The PRC/Mainland
China
HE/ RN

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited

registered Direct

share capital Hig
¥rda/ 2021
—EC-E

Ordinary Macau -
Pataca 25,000
LB 05000257

Ordinary HKS2 -
ERRAT

Ordinary -
HKS13417,374
Non-voting
deferred shares**
HK$17,373,750

LEfR13417374
ETERFEELR
(1737375087

Registered capital -
Renminbi ('RMB')
102,000,000
T ERARY
(TAR%])
102,000,007

Registered capital -
HK$100,000,000

AR
100,000,000/ 7

Registered capital -
RMB61,220,000

iER
ARH612200007

Indirect
3 Principal
2021 activities
“8--% IEER

Retail sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and
health food products

SEPERRERDER

= 99.79% 99.79%

- 99.79% 99.79%  Retail sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and
health food products

PEMERRRARER

Production and
sale of Chinese

= 99.79% 99.79%

pharmaceutical and
health food products
BERHEPERRE

RRER

- 99.79% 99.79%  Retail saleand
wholesale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and
health food products

SERBETERRE
RmER

- 100% 100%  Property holding

UESL]

- 27.22%" 27.22%"  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation

BERERRATS



Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. A REHER @

Information about subsidiaries (continued) B AR ZER (&)
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARREEWBRARAZFBOT :
(continued) €-))

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company

RERYNRBERATS
ERRA

IHEERBIERSETS
ARAR ("Yulin Hongjin')*

INEERAERNETS
BRAF( AR ]

INEENREEARD A

TNRERBIER ST
BRAF

RATERBERYETS
BRAAY

Place of Issued ordinary/ RAAEERERAL
incorporation registered Direct Indirect
and business share capital B 584 Principal
ek R RLR/ 2021 2021 activities
LSk - IBS-F ZBC-F ITEH
The PRC/Mainland Registered capital 53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce
China RMB88,500,000 exchange market
hE /R &R operation
AR 8850000070 BERERRANS
The PRC/Mainland Registered capital 34.69%* 3469%°  Agricultural produce
China RMB76,230,000 exchange market
wE /RER iy operation and
ARE76,2300007C property sales
BERERRATAR
WEHE
The PRC/Mainland Registered capital 53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce
China RMB320,000,000 exchange market
HE /R AR operation and
ARE3200000007C property sales
WERERRS TR
NEEE
The PRC/Mainland Registered capital 53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce
China RIMB450,000,000 exchange market
e/ RER AR operation and
AR 4500000007 property sales
BERERRS TR
NEHE
The PRC/Mainland Registered capital 53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce
China USD23,230,000 exchange market
HE/ER SRR operation and
B000KTT property sales
BERERRATAR
NEHE
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. A REHER @

Information about subsidiaries (continued) B AR ZER (&)
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARREEWBRARAZFBOT :
(continued) €-))

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company

110

ABLERIEREETE
BRAF

KB LERAERNETS
ARARH

ERTERAERNETS
BRRAY

EZTERIERNR
BRRAY

RREERIERNEETS
BRARH

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

HERERRSTAR
NEEE

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

BERERRATAR
NEHE

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

BERERRATAR
NEHE

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

BERERRSTAR
NEHE

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation

BERERRSTS

Place of Issued ordinary/ RRAEERERAL
incorporation registered Direct Indirect
and business share capital B 584 Principal
ek R RLR/ 2021 2021 activities
CESIE - 3--f - IR IREH
The PRC/Mainland Registered capital 53.37% 53.37%
China RMBA443,000,000
hE/hER AR
ARH443,00000070
The PRC/Mainland Registered capital 40.03%" 40.03%*
China RMB140,000,000
hE/ R AfER
ABRH140 0000007
The PRC/Mainland Registered capital 53.37% 53.37%
China RMB200,000,000
hE/hEh Ry
ABRH20000000070
The PRC/Mainland Registered capital 53.37% 5337%
China USD35,000,000
hE/hER HER
3500000070
The PRC/Mainland Registered capital 42,70%* 42.70%"
China RMB2,000,000
hE/hERk &R
ARE20000007



Notes to Financial Statements

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

*

*¥

CAP is a company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. It is an investment holding company and the principal activities
of its subsidiaries are the management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets. The CAP Acquisition (as herein defined in note 3) was completed
on 12 February 2020, further details of which are disclosed in note 37 to the financial
statements.

The non-voting deferred shares carry no voting rights nor rights to dividends. On the
wind-up of WYT Medicine Company, holders of the non-voting deferred shares have a
right to repayment in proportion to the amounts paid up on all ordinary and deferred
shares after the first HK$1,000,000,000,000 thereof has been distributed among the
holders of the ordinary shares.

A wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.
A Sino-foreign equity joint venture under PRC law.
Listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

A subsidiary of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and, accordingly
accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company's control over it.

Details of the subsidiaries acquired and disposed of during the year are
summarised in notes 37 and 38 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

B 285 A Fi e

31 March2021 —E=—F=A8=+—H

2 ) B 4 & B )

MBS 2 &8 ()

2 FREEMRITREBREETMRIZ A
Al EROARERATERET - HA
BREZRAR  HIBARIZ EB %
BREBRHEEREMRZIMHZY
¥ -YBEFEERERFHE(EERLARN
XHFDNER=_Z=_TF_A+=H
TR i EER M B IRER M E37
HFE o

o BEEZREEERMEEZZHK
AR B o R TT B B IE B E -
MEBRFEADPREBZEE
1,000,000,000,000 7 JT. 18 * %1% = 4
BIERDIEE ABERA LT BERR
RIERR 1D 2 B IRGK L PIERRIER
7 o

* FEEETHIINGBEEDE -

# FEUEETHHRINEEEERE -

A B R ATER £ o

+ RARBFZEMBRAZME R
Al ERAREEHEEAEGIE
It ZAE AR ABRBEIE ©

FRWERDEZHNB A RFBERT
R M EE37 Ko 38t

ERFIARREZRRAIBEXEARE
Bz FEXEERMBEFEEANDIZ
RRBIMBAR - KAREEBRIIL
HHB ARz FEe<RIBBRIT
£ o
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2021 —E=-—F=A=+—H

2.1 Basis of Preparation

112

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties, financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income which have been
measured at fair value.These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HKS") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2021. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued) 2.1 HRFEAE ()

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and
(iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 2.2

114

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 and the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current
year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are described below:

(@)  Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) sets out a comprehensive set of concepts for
financial reporting and standard setting, and provides guidance
for preparers of financial statements in developing consistent
accounting policies and assistance to all parties to understand and
interpret the standards. The Conceptual Framework includes new
chapters on measurement and reporting financial performance,
new guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities, and
updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and liabilities.
It also clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement
uncertainty in financial reporting. The Conceptual Framework is not
a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein override
the concepts or requirements in any standard. The Conceptual
Framework did not have any significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an
integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a business,
it must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs
to focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance to assess whether an acquired
process is substantive and introduce an optional fair value
concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of whether
an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group
has applied the amendments prospectively to transactions or other
events that occurred on or after 1 April 2020. The amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.

B 285 A Fi e

31 March2021 —E=—F=A8=+—H

2.2 Ot BUR Z 2B K #E R

(%)

(b)

FRP B REEAF IR ZIER]
REBRBGHES - LIRS
15l » RERT A BIR AR R
B —HESRBHNEE - WAS
LEE-BRAR-BHEEBR
12 MM E AT ARE HRAE
NBEERRR - BHABRRET
REL IR MAERANBIRE -
ZIERTABUER AT IS 28 ER
BERENBBEBLRSEES
Yt o MR - ERREATEUSE
RAFE ZBIR KR HRE H
MBENBBERER ° ZIERT IR
BEWEEHNERRE  EHH
I RRE PR R MR
REWAR B EEBEENEM
WA o 5 - REERT AR A
Rt S PTEER BE ER EAW
5l WHIEAFEEFEAHA
BIR - ARTHAKEN —RES
MEERETEREBETHIL
Al o AEB D FREHZFER]
AERER-_Z-_ZTFMA—H
H 2 REENRXGREMEN -
& FHE R AR S ACER [ B A A
RRRRELEATE

R EEFEIERBRAF]
—E - FFH

115



Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 A Fi

31 March 2021 —E=-—F=A=+—H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

116

(@]

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address issues
affecting financial reporting in the period before the replacement of
an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate
("RFR"). The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable
hedge accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty
before the introduction of the alternative RFR. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships which are directly
affected by these uncertainties. The amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group as
the Group does not have any interest rate hedging relationships.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the
nature or magnitude of information, or both. The amendments
did not have any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4

and HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28 (2011)
Amendment to HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12
Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Reference to the Conceptual Framework®
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2!

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 20212

Insurance Contracts*

Insurance Contracts*”’

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current*®

Disclosure of Accounting Policies*

Definition of Accounting Estimates*

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction*

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use?
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Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract®

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 413

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

} Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

° No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

U As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was
amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39
rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

118

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framewaork to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope
of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather than
assumed in a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets
do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2022. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the date of first application, the Group will
not be affected by these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced
with an alternative RFR. The Phase 2 amendments provide a practical
expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be updated without
adjusting the carrying amount when accounting for changes in the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis immediately
preceding the change. In addition, the amendments permit changes
required by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge
designations and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on transition
are dealt with through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a
temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable
requirement when an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume that the
separately identifiable requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably
expects the RFR risk component to become separately identifiable within
the next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to
disclose additional information to enable users of financial statements to
understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s
financial instruments and risk management strategy. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 and
shall be applied retrospectively, but entities are not required to restate the
comparative information.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi based on the Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR") and the RMB base lending rate as
at 31 March 2021. If the interest rates of these borrowings are replaced by
RFRs in a future period, the Group will apply this practical expedient upon
the modification of these borrowings when the “economically equivalent”
criterion is met and expects that no significant modification gain or loss
will arise as a result of applying the amendments to these changes.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was
removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in May 2020 (the “2020 Amendment”)
provides a practical expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease
modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Amendment to HKFRS 16
issued in 2021 (the “2021 Amendment”) changes the date to apply to
lease payments up to 30 June 2022. Therefore, the practical expedient
will continue to apply only to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and only if (i) the change in
lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and (iii)
there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.
The 2021 Amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 April 2021 with earlier application permitted and shall be applied
retrospectively. The 2021 Amendment is not expected to have significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

120

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer settlement of
the liability at the end of the reporting period if it complies with those
conditions at that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling
items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any
such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant
and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of
the earliest period presented in the financial statements in which the
entity first applies the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether
a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract
comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate
directly to a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs
that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used
in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and supervision
costs). General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract
and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts
for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning
of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
equity at the date of initial application without restating the comparative
information. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments to HKFRS
1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.
Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity
includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified
financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the
original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or
received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid
or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.
An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment.
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The amendment is
not expected to have a significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from the
lessor relating to leasehold improvements in Illustrative Example
13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential confusion
regarding the treatment of lease incentives when applying HKFRS
16.

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it
is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

122

(continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates is included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is
included as part of the Group's investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In
all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss
of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value
which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned
to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, financial assets,
properties under development, properties held for sale, investment
properties and deferred tax assets), the asset's recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's
or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person's family and
that person

(i)

(ii)

(i)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or
to the parent of the Group.
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(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, including owned assets and right-of-
use assets classified as property, plant and equipment and other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a disposal
group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting
policy for "Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale". The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

At the date of change in use, any difference at that date between the
carrying amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation. Changes in the values are dealt with as movements in the
asset revaluation reserve. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant
portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous
valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 FEEFBERME @)

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Owned assets

Buildings 2 - 3'/3% or over the terms of the relevant
leases, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements 20 - 33'/3% or over the terms of the relevant
leases, whichever is shorter

Plant and machinery 10 - 20%
Furniture and equipment 20 -33'/3%
Motor vehicles 10 - 20%
Computer system 20 -33'/3%

Right-of-use assets

Leasehold land 2% or over the terms of the relevant leases
ranging from 27 to 68 years, whichever is
shorter

Buildings Over the lease terms of 2 to 6 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis.
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(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

If ownership of the leased assets transferred to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and machinery under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property, it is
included in investment properties. The corresponding right-of use asset is
initially measured at cost, and subsequently measured at fair value.

Property under construction or development for future use as an
investment property is classified as investment property under
construction. If the fair value cannot be reliably determined, the
investment property under construction will be measured at cost until
such time as fair value can be determined or construction is completed.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or
disposal.
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(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties
or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting
is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by the
Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property,
the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy
stated under "Property, plant and equipment and depreciation" for owned
property and/or accounts for such property in accordance with the policy
stated under "Right-of-use assets" for property held as a right-of-use asset
up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date between
the carrying amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as
a revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under "Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation" above.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales
transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the
asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale
of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable.
All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a non-
controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment properties
and financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower
of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are not
depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible assets may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the commercial
lives of the underlying products not exceeding five to seven years,
commencing from the date when the products are put into commercial
production.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-
of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. The
right-of-use assets which meet the definition of investment property
are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at fair value in
accordance with the Group's policy for "Investment properties". Other
right-of-use assets are included in property, plant and equipment, the
accounting policy of which are included in the policy for "Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation" above.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in
the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a
change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in other payables and
accruals.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of buildings and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
that are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease
or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in profit or
loss. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, are accounted for as
finance leases. At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and related
payments (including the initial direct costs), and presented as a receivable
at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The finance income
on the net investment in the lease is recognised in profit or loss so as to
provide a constant periodic rate of return over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a
finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group
classifies the sublease as an operating lease.
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(continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees, payments for land use rights and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development period.
Net realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the prevailing
market prices on an individual property basis.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the
construction of the relevant property development project is expected
to complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the
properties are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Sales deposits/instalments received and receivable from purchasers
in respect of the pre-sale of properties under development prior to
completion of the development are included in contract liabilities.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties under development, they are subsequently measured at the
lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's
policy for properties under development.

Properties held for sale
Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total land and
building costs attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is
estimated by the directors based on the prevailing market prices on an
individual property basis.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties held for sale, they are subsequently measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's policy for
properties held for sale.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
"Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI")
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets
classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified
or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt
instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses
or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining
fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
(equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its
equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of equity
under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or
loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when the
Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost
of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and certain investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as
a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not
closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as
the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and
the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a
change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through"
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At each reporting
date, the Group evaluates whether the debt investments are considered
to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation,
the Group reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments. In
addition, the Group considers that there has been a significant increase in
credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and net investment in
sub-leases which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

Stage 1 =

equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage2 -

Stage3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and net investment in sub-leases that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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(continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings and payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, lease liabilities, interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, derivative financial liabilities, unsecured
bonds and notes, and convertible notes.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for
the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains
or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. The
net fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or
loss, except for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk
which are presented in other comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and payables)

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in "Impairment
of financial assets"; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Unsecured bonds and notes, and convertible notes

If the conversion option of convertible notes and the early redemption
option of unsecured notes and convertible notes exhibit characteristics
of an embedded derivative, it is separated from its liability component.
On initial recognition, the derivative component of the unsecured notes
and convertible notes is measured at fair value and presented as part
of derivative financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the derivative component is recognised
as the liability component. Transaction costs are apportioned between
the liability and derivative components of the unsecured notes and
convertible notes based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and
derivative components when the instruments are initially recognised.
The portion of the transaction costs relating to the liability component is
recognised initially as a reduction of the liability. The portion relating to
the derivative component is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Company
of the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in equity at cost. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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(continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of
(i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the general
policy for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, the amount of income recognised in accordance with
the policy for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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(continued)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15

(a)  Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally
on delivery of goods.

Some contracts for the sale of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical
and health food products provide customers with rights of return.
The rights of return gives rise to variable consideration:

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to return the
goods within a specified period, the expected value method is
used to estimate the goods that will not be returned because this
method best predicts the amount of variable consideration to
which the Group will be entitled. The requirements in HKFRS 15
on constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied in
order to determine the amount of variable consideration that can be
included in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be
returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised. A right-
of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales)
is also recognised for the right to recover products from a customer.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)  Sale of properties
Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point in
time when the purchasers obtained the physical possession and/
or the legal title of the completed property and the Group has the
present right to payment and the collection of the consideration is
probable.

(c)  Provision of management, promotion and property ancillary services
Revenue from the provision of management, promotion and
property ancillary services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

(d)  Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets
Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets are
recognised at the point in time when the services are rendered in
accordance with the terms of the agreement.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders' right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.
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(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment
is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers
the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Costs of obtaining contracts

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract were those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer it would not have been
incurred if the contract had not been obtained e.g., sales commission
to sales agents. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will be recognised in a
future reporting period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other
costs of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the goods
expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured at the
former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any expected
costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases in the value of the
returned goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset for any
revisions to the expected level of returns and any additional decreases in
the value of the returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or
all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer and
is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have
to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the
end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Share-based payments

The Company and CAP each operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments ("equity-settled transactions").

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the
end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee
are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme") under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees' basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute to a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company's memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss.
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(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising
on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties including commercial and industrial properties in
Hong Kong and agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China
are revalued at the end of the reporting period on a market value, existing
use basis by independent professionally qualified valuers. Such valuations
were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and
might materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimation,
information from current prices in an active market for similar properties is
considered and assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of the reporting period are used. Further details of the
valuation are given in note 15 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development and
properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of each unit is
determined using the weighted average method. The estimated net
realisable value is assessed at the end of the reporting period on a market
value, existing use basis by independent professionally qualified valuers.
Such valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. In making
the estimation, information from current prices in an active market for
similar properties is considered and assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period are used.

3.
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3.

156

Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial non-current assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment of
all non-financial non-current assets (including the right-of-use assets)
at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm's length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of
the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

The carrying value of an item of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) is reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not
be recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy as disclosed
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. Given that both the Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food products cash generating unit (the
"Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU") and Western pharmaceutical and health
food products cash-generating unit (the "Western Pharmaceutical CGU")
(together, the "CGUs") were loss-making during the year, the directors of
the Company performed an impairment assessment of the property, plant
and equipment relating to these CGUs to determine their recoverable
amounts. The recoverable amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment is calculated as the higher of its fair value less costs to disposal
and value in use, the calculations of which involve the use of estimates.

Business combination

On 26 September 2019, the Group proposed a general offer to acquire
a maximum of 54.83% equity interest in CAP and a maximum of 46.86%
of the outstanding principal amount of the convertible notes issued
by CAP (the "CAP Acquisition"). On 12 February 2020 (the "Acquisition
Date"), the CAP Acquisition was completed and 5,312,395,685 shares of
CAP (representing 53.37% of the issued shares of CAP) were acquired at
HK$0.091 each and CAP and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "CAP Group")
became the subsidiaries of the Group.

The assessment of the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed and allocation of the purchase price required
significant management estimation, details of which are set out in notes 4
and 37 to the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Adjustments Arising from Prior Year Provisional
Accounting

As further disclosed in note 3, the Group completed the CAP Acquisition
in February 2020. In the preparation of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, the purchase
price allocation of the CAP Acquisition and the resulting gain on bargain
purchase were determined on a provisional basis. During the year ended
31 March 2021, the Group has finalised the fair value assessment of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the CAP Group (the "Finalised
Assessment") as of the Acquisition Date.

On 18 January 2021, the Court of First Instance in the High Court of Hong
Kong ("CFI") handed down a judgement in respect of the Baisazhou
Acquisition (as herein defined in note 43(b)), pursuant to which CAP is not
required to make any payment under the Instruments (as herein defined in
note 43(b)) to Ms. Wang Xiu Qun ("Ms. Wang") or Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial
and Commercial Development Co. Ltd ("Tian Jiu"). The trials in the CFl were
completed before the Acquisition Date, and the judgement was handed
down within one year from the Acquisition Date, which is within the
measurement period. As such, on completion of the fair value assessment,
retrospective adjustments were made to the provisional amounts related
to identifiable liabilities of the CAP Group recognised as of the Acquisition
Date. Consequently, the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended
31 March 2020, and certain explanatory notes have been restated to reflect
these restatements.

Further details of the litigation in respect of the Baisazhou Acquisition are
included in note 43(b).
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4. Adjustments Arising from Prior Year Provisional 4. JB%E4 W € & 5t o2 B A A

Accounting (continued) PR B ()
The effects of the adjustments arising from the Finalised Assessment PR EENFABREN -
described above on profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2020 by line FZA=T—HNERBEZENT :

items were as follows:

Impact on profit and total comprehensive income for the prior HBTFERANR2EAWRRAENY
year: &:
2020
—ETEF
HK$'000
FHET
Adjustments arising from the Finalised RIS EEENFARE
Assessment:
Increase in other income and gains, net AU R Moz F ZEHE AN 340,634
Decrease in finance costs BE AR 3917
Increase in profit and total comprehensive F R R 2 E W s 42 R 3 N
income for the year 344,551

Net increase in profit and total comprehensive — 31| & I8 fE(5 % A & & E UN 2R 42 58 18 HNSH 58 -
income attributable to:

Owners of the parent [SUNCIEZ =N 342,725
Non-controlling interests IR 1,826
344,551
The effects of the adjustments arising from the Finalised Assessment on RRTEEANFARHR S -_TF=
the financial position as at 31 March 2020 by line items were as follows: A=+—H®PBHRREEZEWT ¢
Adjustments
arising from
31 March the Finalised 31 March
2020 Assessment 2020
=== R =
=A=+—H EERAZE =A=+—H
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHT
(Originally stated) (Restated)
(REZ3) (&2 5&75)
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables and accruals HiEN FIBERETE R (1,188,483) 642,113 (546,370)
Net assets BEFRE 3,351,274 642,113 3,993,387
Equity i
Retained profits R R 67,421 342,725 410,146
Non-controlling interests FEIE R 1,051,213 299,388 1,350,601
Total equity FE 3,351,274 642,113 3,993,387
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Adjustments Arising from Prior Year Provisional
Accounting (continued)

Impact on basic and diluted earnings per share:

Basic and diluted earnings per share,

BREAREERTI(REZ5)

B 5

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

3B A AR B W S i B AR
VR A B (m0)

HEREXARBERANTE

2020
—E-T&

—=—=

HK cents
7L

as originally reported 7.78
Adjustment arising from the BRARFHAEE LR A B

Finalised Assessment 27.83
Basic and diluted earnings per share, as restated G & E 7 & #5E & F| (48 E5)) 35.61

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

(@)  production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products - manufacture, processing and sale of traditional Chinese
medicine which includes Chinese medicinal products sold under
the brand name of "Wai Yuen Tong" and a range of products
manufactured using selected medicinal materials with traditional
prescriptions, mainly in Mainland China and Hong Kong;

(b)  production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health food
products - processing and sale of Western pharmaceutical products
and personal care products under the brand names of "Madame
Pearl's" and "Pearl's", respectively;

(c)  property investment - investment in commercial premises for rental
income; and

(d)  management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted
profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group's profit/loss before tax except that other
income and gains, net, finance costs, fair value gains/(losses) on financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, net, head office and
corporate income and expenses and loss on disposal of investment in an
associate are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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5. Operating Segment Information (continued) 5. BEEER @)
Segment revenue and results PEREREE
Year ended 31 March BE=A=+t—HLFE

Production and Productionand Management and
sale of Chinese sale of Western sale of properties in
pharmaceuticaland  pharmaceutical and Property agricultural produce
health food products  health food products investment exchange markets Eliminations
EERHEDER LERHERER EBRHERER
RESRER RERRER HES XaTENR He

2021 2021 2021 2020 2021 ) 2021
—E--F —B--F —E2-- : - - “E--F -

HKY000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKY000  HKY000  HKS'000

Tkt TEr  Thn BT TRL ThR AT

Segment revenue: ARRE

Sales to external customers HETINGRP 453380 467020 25,669 100306 8,704 9249 620812 44166 - - 1,108,565 620741
Intersegment sales NEEEE 1,206 362 - - 12388 13012 - - (13,594 (13374) - -
Total e 454586 467380 25669 100306 21,092 22061 620,812 44166 (13,594)  (13374) 1,108,565 620,741
Segment results PE%E (860) (176998)  (42,391)  (34603) (25649)  (84341) 33,551 5071 - - (35349)  (290871)
Other income and gains, net Rl ARYE 78 120629 838682
Unallocated income and expense, net - APEMARFS « 58 (49,548)  (32541)
Finance costs RERA (107,724)  (52,780)

Fair value gains/(losses) on financial ~ RATERBEAEZ
assets and liabiltes at fair value HBEERBE/ATE

thiough profitor loss, net s/ (E8) 58 6601 (73)
Loss on disposal of investment in HERN-FRENAZRE

anassociate BB (237,740) -
Profit/(loss) before tax RiaER /(B8 (303,131) 455167
Income tax expense i (148,132) (17,199
Profit/(loss) for the year EEER/(BE) (451,263) 437968
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5. Operating Segment Information (continued) 5. BEEER @)
Other segment information HitpEER

Year ended 31 March BZE=A=1+—HLFE
Productionand
sale of Western

pharmaceutical and

Production and
sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and

Management and
sale of properties in

Property agricultural produce

Other segment information:

Interest income

Capital expenditure (note)

(Gain on bargain purchase (Restated)

Depreciation

Fair value losses/(gains) on financial
assets and liabiites at fair value
through proft or loss, net

Fair value losses on owned
investment properties, net

Fair value losses on sub-leased
investment properties

Loss/(gain) on disposal/redemption
of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income

Loss/(gain) on disposal of tems of

property, plant and equipment, net

(ain on disposal of an investment
property

Impaiment losses/reversal of
impairment losses) on financial
assets, net

Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment, net

Impairment of investment n an associate —F&

Investments in associates

Share of profits and losses of associates Al

Loss on disposal of investment n an
ass0ciate
Allowance for obsolete inventories

RAgEN

HEKA

B (i)

SEREZa(8E7)

it

BRATERREAEZ
BHRERARLAT
HEE/ (e =8

ERRENZZATE
BRFE

MERANELOTE
BR

E/BERATES
EfRENENEL
EBRELEE/
(k&)

HENZ  HERRERE
2EE/ g =8

HEERENZ 2

WhAERERS/ (MR
ERRE) 5%

% - BERRRERE
BRFE
2 N RERE
AN
BELALHRER
HER-FBERT RE
BR
RERERE

health food products

EERAERER

RERRER
01 )

I3z
HKY000

T

9,356

50,812

37

(1,158)

8,020

2,832
(485)

92

HKY000
T

7061

8m

9200
15615
6,220

(3129

4235

health food products

LERHERER

2021
“§-f
HK$'000
Tin

11,448

3

4,074

3,955

RERRER

2021

Z8--F -

HKS000
Thn

99 47,646
143 1810
- 20830
(201) -
61% 9,820
3,965 -

investment

exchange markets

ERREERER

pUTEPAIES

2021

—=—¢ =

HKS1000

95490

(56407)

(7464)

HKS0

31,589

17,113

2,082

11,226

2,976

01

=
HKS000
TEL

(24,571)

3,705 10
2500 5440
(1403)  (8,683)
3,708 -
662 -

= 476

25 350

- (4169)

- B4

b3f:

Eliminations

(76,849)

(571478)
5425

8,726

(100,078)

6,799

8737
307813
(12048)

(24,571)
89,441

92,623

(6,601)

32,056

2,976

476

37

40,627

21914

2,832
(4,654)

237,740
4,747

(76,849
11,755
(571478)
112674
133

99,198

662

(100,078)

(56,306)

(7464)

16013

81813
8737
314033
(15177)

8200

Note: Capital expenditure includes additions to investment properties and property, plant Mzt : BAB L BIEHIB 2B EMERY
and equipment (excluding the additions of buildings included in right-of-use assets and ¥ BELEREB(DTBFEIIETAE
assets from business combinations). AREEREBAHMEBEENE

F) e
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5. Operating Segment Information (continued)

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

5.

B HE R )

HEE R
(a) RENBEFZWE

2021 2020

—E-—fF —TTHF

HK$’000 HKS$'000

F#ExT FHIT

Hong Kong &5 373,494 438,484
Mainland China R A 716,463 149,810
Macau JBFY 17,236 29,951
Others HAt 1,372 2,496
1,108,565 620,741

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

(b) Non-current assets

o

Eiles &R TR E P AT &
2

E

(b) FREBEE

2021 2020

—E-—fF —T-THF

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FHIT

Hong Kong HiB 1,221,727 1,467,357
Mainland China AR R A 3,238,817 2,997,925
Macau JEFY 11,686 14,482
4,472,230 4,479,764

The non-current assets information above is based on the locations
of the assets and excluded financial instruments and deferred tax
assets.

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no revenue from
transactions with a single external customer amounted for 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group.
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Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net

An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:

31 March 2021 —E==-—%=A1

=+-A

W gk B LAl A B W g o

#
REBIEEZ HMT -

2021

2020

—E-—fF —TTHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT

TET

Revenue from contracts with REEF&HzZWE
customers 935,858 585,040
Revenue from other sources R EH MRz =
Gross rental income from investment KREMELLHE AW ALEE
property operating leases 172,707 35,701
1,108,565 620,741

ML E LR AR A A
T —FFR
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6. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers REAEFEHNZ W
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) DFkzEER
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-ZE--F=ZA=+—-HL
FE
Segments DI
Management
and sale of
Productionand Productionand propertiesin
sale of Chinese sale of Western agricultural
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical produce
and health and health exchange
food products  food products markets Total
EEREETE LERGERE EERHERER
RRERRER RRBRRER RZME2N¥ @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THER TER
Types of goods or services EME R ER
- Sale of goods —HEEN 449,226 25,669 41,961 516,856
- Management and promotion - BB REERE
services 4,154 - - 4,154
- Sale of properties —SHEME - - 233,183 233,183
~ Commission income from ~RERRFNHEZESKA
agricultural produce exchange
markets - - 83,276 83,276
- Agricultural produce exchange  —BERRZTHZEERS
markets ancillary services - - 98,389 98,389
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERF A4z WL
customers 453,380 25,669 456,809*% 935,858
Geographical markets HETH
Hong Kong A 357,756 7,034 - 364,790
Mainland China B 79,237 16,414 456,809 552,460
Macau b A 15,015 2,221 - 17,236
Others Hit 1,372 - - 1,372
Total revenue from contracts RERPAENZWmEHE
with customers 453,380 25,669 456,809*% 935,858
Timing of revenue recognition IR REREA
Goods or services transferred ata  RE—HHEHER SMe RS
pointin time 449,226 25,669 358,420 833,315
Services transferred over time FE B R 75 IR 75 4,154 - 98,389 102,543
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERF AKXz K@%
customers 453,380 25,669 456,809*% 935,858

6. Wozs R H A A R W s > B
B (a0

Gross rental income from investment property operating leases of
HK$164,003,000 (2020: HKS26,452,000) that was attributable to the
management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets
segment was not included in the above disclosure.
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6. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued) 6.

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Segments

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

()

W gk B LAl A B W g o

REZEFEHZ WS ()

(i)  DFEREER )
HE_T-_TF=A=+—HI
FE

Productionand ~ Production and

sale of Chinese  sale of Western
pharmaceutical

and health

pharmaceutical

and health

food products
HERHERE
RRERMER
HK$'000

TEL

food products
HERHERE
RRBERMER
HK$'000

FA7

Management
and sale of
properties in
agricultural
produce
exchange

markets Total

EENHERER

RHMELNF
HK$'000

TET

3t
HK$'000
57

Types of goods or services BB ER
- Sale of goods —HEEN 465,166 100,306 3,484 568,956
- Management and promotion - EBREERE

services 1,854 - - 1,854
- Commission income from -EEMRIMHEZETWA

agricultural produce exchange

markets - - 5618 5618
- Agricultural produce exchange - BERRSTHZEERS

markets ancillary services = = 8612 8612
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RBRFEAK 2 W58

customers 467,020 100,306 17,714% 585,040
Geographical markets BETS
Hong Kong B 379,421 49814 - 429,235
Mainland China R A3 62,827 42817 17,714 123,358
Macau BPY 23,495 6,456 - 29,951
Others Hit 1277 1,219 - 2,496
Total revenue from contracts KRERPA#NZWHEE

with customers 467,020 100,306 17,714* 585,040
Timing of revenue recognition IR REREA
Goods or services transferred ata  RE—BRZEBE MRS

point in time 465,166 100,306 9,102 574,574
Services transferred over time RER: R RS 1,854 - 8612 10,466
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REZRF &AW E5E

customers 467,020 100,306 17,714% 585,040

T EEFIERER AT

T —FFR
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6. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued) 6. W% K& H ALK A R %% - F

(a0
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFEFEHZWE(E)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) AHFKEERGE)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts TREFHREBF G 2 Wil
with customers to the amounts disclosed in the segment DEEHATIRE SRR
information:
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-_Z-_—F=A=+—-HL
FE
Segments S

Management

and sale of

Productionand Productionand  properties in
sale of Chinese sale of Western agricultural
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical produce

and health and health exchange
food products  food products markets Total

EEREETE LERGERE EERHEREM
REERGER RRRRERER XBWE2UX @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THERT THERT

Revenue from contracts with REEFEHzNE

customers
External customers IR 453,380 25,669 456,809* 935,858
Intersegment sales DEEMEE 1,206 - - 1,206
Segment revenue 2EWH 454,586 25,669 456,809* 937,064
Intersegment adjustments and B R

eliminations (1,206) - - (1,206)
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBBFEAK 2 W8

customers 453,380 25,669 456,809* 935,858
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6. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued) 6. W% K H ALK A R % - F
()

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) REEFEHZWE(E)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) AHFKEERGE)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HE_Z_TF=A=+—HIt
FE
Segments DI

Management

and sale of
Productionand  Production and properties in
sale of Chinese  sale of Western agricultural

pharmaceutical ~ pharmaceutical produce
and health and health exchange
food products  food products markets Total
EERHERE LEREERZE ERRHERER
RRBERMER RRERRER RZTHI0NEF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET FHET TET

Revenue from contracts with REEFANzhE

customers
External customers INBE P 467,020 100,306 17,714* 585,040
Intersegment sales DERHE 362 - - 362
Segment revenue SEW R 467,382 100,306 17,714* 585,402
Intersegment adjustments and DERRRAE L

eliminations (362) - - (362)
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERF AKXz KEHE5E

customers 467,020 100,306 17,714% 585,040
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in NRBETR AR E B e R
the current reporting period that were included in the contract Z e ARWmEBRVE AL
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised B1E - ARBBEMBETRZE
from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods: HEFER :

2021 2020
—E-—fF —TTHF

HK$'000 HK$'000
FiBT T

Revenue recognised that was included  RIFEHVFALDEBEZ
in contract liabilities at the beginning WS TERR -
of the reporting period:

Sale of goods HEEY 8,173 7,098
Sale of properties SHE R 43,447 _
51,620 7,098

1ITE_%§?§%E:EH:§?E/;§§ 1 67



Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 A Fi

31 March 2021 —E=-—F=A=+—H

6. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued)

168

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations
The following information about the Group's performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods
and payment is generally due within 7 to 120 days from delivery,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. Some contracts provide customers with a right of return
which gives rise to variable consideration subject to constraint.

Management, promotion and property ancillary services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered.

Commission income from agricultural produce exchange markets
The performance obligation is satisfied upon the completion of the
related sales transactions.

Sales of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical
possession and/or the legal title of the property is obtained by the
purchaser.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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6. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

6.

We £5 B oAb e A B W %5 0 R
Baw)

2021 2020
—E-—f —T-THF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FERT FHET
(Restated)
(& =7))
Other income Hplt A
Interest income on loan receivables U E R 2 F B YA 3,798 9,922
Interest income on financial assets at fair IRAFELBRZARZHEEEN
value through profit or loss and BAFELEMEEKEARZ
financial assets at fair value through B FE = 2 F B WA
other comprehensive income 16,284 61,386
Interest income on bank deposits BITERZFBUA 4,489 5,541
Finance income on net investments in SR & F5E 2 BB A
subleases 705 1,059
Dividends from financial assets at fair RABAFELCEBSARZTBEEER
value through profit or loss and BAFELEMEERE AR
financial assets at fair value through BBEEEZIRE
other comprehensive income 4,383 4,371
Rental income from other properties REHMYFE 2 HESRA 37,188 12,636
Government subsidies* R 48 B * 26,673 3,531
Others HAh 11,299 4910
104,819 103,356
Gains, net H&rﬁ EH
Gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries (B8 B B A &) 2 Yezs (FizE37)
(note 37) - 571,478
Gain on modification/termination of B/ RIEAEE K2 W
lease contracts 13,737 -
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE BMENRREEER 2 W= F58
plant and equipment, net - 56,306
Gain on disposal of an investment HE—EREWE 2 W
property - 7464
Gain on disposal/redemption of financial H% /BEEIZ A FELHEMEEWZEARZ
assets at fair value through other M EEZ W - FHE
comprehensive income, net - 100,078
Exchange gains, net MEH Wz - R 2,073
15,810 735,326
Other income and gains, net Hap WA R ss - FEE 120,629 838,682
* Government subsidies represent: (i) The PRC government subsidies of HK$23,433,000 @ BRTF#EBE T35 ¢ (i) 7 52 B h B A

granted to the Group by the local governmental authority in Mainland China for the
business support on its investments in an agricultural produce exchange market in
Mainland China; (i) one-off subsidies of HK$3,080,000 granted from the Anti-Epidemic
Fund under The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region’s Retail
Sector Subsidy Scheme and Food Licence Holders Subsidy Scheme; and (iii) one-
off subsidies of HK$160,000 granted from The Government of the Macao Special
Administrative Region’s 10-Billion-Pataca Fund. The Group has complied with all
attached conditions before 31 March 2021 and recognised these grants in profit or loss

as "Other income and gains, net”.

T MR 4% T 2 R B BT A B
23,433,000/ 7T * MEBERFBEA
WIEEREMR G2 EBTH
(WBBFATHRERFEEXEE
e RERRMERNEDTET
W RNRESREN — IR MG
3,080,00078 7T :ZQUH)EEF%¢#EU??E£EE
BENEEREEDESREEN—
&ﬁ%mwm%m NEBER= f
ER=Ea— EIﬁ\JL#FﬁﬁFﬁm
et - LIS ERAMBE RS ER
[HMRA RIS - F58] -

ﬁfuﬁl%% H&*ﬁf‘&

=
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7.

170

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax

The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories recognised as
an expense (including allowance
for obsolete inventories of HK$4,747,000

BRERAIZEFEERA(E
FERRE T & #54,747,000

BIL(ZEZTF -

7

I e i i A1, Ol 48

AEEzBRERT R, (BE) R
B (GEA) T3S THRES

2021
—E_—F

HK$'000
FET

2020
—ETF

HK$'000
T

(2020: HK$8,200,000)) 8,200,000/57T ) ) 338,909 323,996
Cost of properties sold BEME KR 224,745 -
Cost of services provided PR AR 75 2 AR 2N 99,629 15,169
Research and development costs % K B B A AR 4,972 10,843
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEEBEHEZHRE

measurement of lease liabilities INES 16(c) 6,156 15,448
Auditor’s remuneration e il 5,600 4,700
Depreciation of owned assets e EENE 14 58,999 50,768
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 14 33,624 61,906

92,623 112,674
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERAAZ(CTRREES

directors’ remuneration (note 9)): Bl < (P E9))

Wages and salaries and other benefits* I%& - #FrekEmEmx 204,044 166,098

Pension scheme contributions RIRERTEIHER 6,890 9458

210,934 175,556
Foreign exchange differences, net EHZR - FH (2,073) 638
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment & EREEIE,

losses) on financial assets, net: OREEER D) - 55

Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIA 22 (1,160) 9,167

Financial assets included in prepayments, STAFENRIE  RER

deposits and other receivables H MR IE 2
WS EE 24 (646) 30
Debt investments at fair value through BAFELEMEERZ
other comprehensive income ABRZ EBIRE 18 382 10,165
Loans and interest receivables FEUS B = % F A 23 42,051 (3,349)
40,627 16,013
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B B AT 2 A, OB 48) ()

AEB 2 RE AR, (BE) R
B/ (GEA)TEIEHZES : ()

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax (continued) 7.

The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
(continued)

2021 2020
—B-—F —ZBFTF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAET
Gross rental income THe WALz (209,895) (48,337)
Less: Direct outgoing expense B B 656 289
(209,239) (48,048)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, HE¥% - BE&XEEE
plant and equipment, net** Z R (Wam) - JFEE 237 (56,306)
Loss on redemption of convertible notes** B E A #f% = 4% 7 E518** 31 3,933 -
Loss/(gain) on disposal/redemption of & EER AT ELSEMD
debt investments at fair value through ZHKSARZEBERE
other comprehensive income, net 2 B8 (as) @ R 476" (100,078)
Loss on disposal of investment in an HER—HEEQFZ
associate** BEEE 17 237,740 -
Impairment of investment in an associate** R—RE#E AR 2
& RE 17 - 8,737
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries** HE B A Rl 2 B 38 - 2,937
Impairment losses on property, plant and Y BEREEREE
equipment, net** 1B FEEe 14 21,914 81,813
Fair value losses on sub-leased investment S HHIEEYE 2
properties*** ASRIEY 5=k 15 2,976 662
& Wage subsidies of HK$26,986,000 granted from the Employment Support Scheme * BE-_T-_—F=A=+—HLtHF

& AEEC WRERP R EES R
MEFEHE AN =S _FF
ANAE+—AEREIENITEME
26,986,000 7T - B RS REE RN B
TR - 0 EL{E B AR AR SRS -

under the Anti-Epidemic Fund for the use of paying wages of employees from June
to November 2020 had been received during the year ended 31 March 2021. The
amount was recognised in profit or loss and had been offset with the employee benefit
expenses.

*%

> ZERGAGR BRR LEMEEK
HMERAZ [HMRE] -

These expenses are included in "Other expenses" in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

o ZEBIREH A LY [FHR IR 2 A
x]

These expenses are included in "Cost of services provided" above.

T EEEER AR A
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8.

172

Finance Costs

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

8.

il A
BAREZ AT -

2021

—E_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
(GESEYEe)
(#=7)
Interest on bank and other borrowings  $R1T M EMEE 255 53,631 39,175
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBEZFE 6,303 5,648
Interest on unsecured bonds and notes  EIXIES &K ZiE 7 58 21,529 3,295
Interest on convertible notes AR ERE 2 5 B 26,261 4,662
107,724 52,780

Directors' Remuneration

Directors' remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing
Rules") issued by the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:

=M E

TRARBE X AT B M OB X P 8 5 AR A
(TEW#RAL) « BERRMEFIF383(1)a)
b) OROERAT(FEEEFHE

T

FORBIE —fREFANESH S

2021 2020
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Fees 1w 791 756
Other emoluments for ITES 2 HMMS -
executive directors:
Salaries, allowances and benefits e REREDAZ
in kind 11,108 14,906
Performance-related bonuses* BRIA 2 RBATEAT 354 2,969
Pension scheme contributions RIS T EIH R 108 92
11,570 17,967
12,361 18,723
i Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which are @ RARETHTESARZRTLA

determined with reference to the Group's operating results, individual performance of
the directors and comparable market statistics during the year.
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9. Directors’ Remuneration (continued) 9. #HHME @)
The remuneration paid to executive directors and independent non- FA - BNATEERBIIFNTES
executive directors during the year was as follows: ZHEmT
Salaries,
allowances Performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e 2R ERAHN Bikg
ne RENHG 24 B 8N Fmam
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT FHT BT FHT
2021 —B--F
Executive directors: HITESR:
Mr.Tang Ching Ho ("Mr. Tang")  B5&5@ 5t 4 (8854 ) 35 7,800 325 18 8,178
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas*  BRIRRESE 4+ - 1,585 - 33 1,618
Ms. Tang Mui Fun** Higs gL - 1,102 - 36 1,138
Ms. Tang Wai Man HEgut - 551 29 18 598
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita*** BB - 70 - 3 73
35 11,108 354 108 11,605
Independent non-executive BV IEHITES :
directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho REERE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon %)‘(%%E 184 - - - 184
Mr. Cho Wing Mou EXBLE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David FRELE 204 - - - 204
756 - - - 756
Total Bt 791 11,108 354 108 12,361
2020 —BCEF
Executive directors: HITESR:
Mr. Tang Bk aE = 11,650 2,963 18 14,631
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas  BRiR B % & - 798 6 20 824
Ms. Tang Mui Fun HigAut - 1,650 - 36 1,686
Ms. Tang Wai Man HEfHat+ - 808 - 18 826
- 14,906 2,969 9 17,967
Independent non-executive BAFRTES :
directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho REERE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon BEXZhE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Cho Wing Mou BkEEE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David FRERE 204 - - - 204
756 - - - 756
Total Fabrs 756 14,906 2,969 92 18,723
& Resigned as a director on 8 February 2021. * RZE-_—F-_AN\HBEEES -
s Resigned as a director on 31 March 2021. £33 R-ZTE-_—F=A=+—HEEE
Fp
**  Appointed as a director on 8 February 2021, w RN T —F-_AN\BEZEERE
$ °
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non- FA - jﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂfgﬁéﬁi#iﬂﬁ%%Z
executive directors during the year (2020: Nil). e (=2 =_FF : &) -
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to HE_Z-_—FR_Z_ZTF=H
waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. =+—HIFE - 1%%§$E&§IHE

HEEMEHZHE -
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10. Five Highest Paid Employees 10. T 5w % B
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2020: two) FAN AR HEEEERA(ZE

—TECRB)EE HMEFENL
NXEEOWE - AT =R (ZF_FF :
=R)FEERSFEENFAMSF

directors, details of whose remuneration are disclosed in note 9 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2020:
three) non-director, highest paid employees are as follows:

BT

2021 2020
—E-—fF —T-THF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %4 - 8RBz 3,274 3,149

Discretionary performance related RRIEIE TN 2 B RETEAL
bonuses 92 46
Pension scheme contributions RIKETEIf R 52 54
3,418 3,249

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration HEZHRSFEE 2 ABRME N T A
fell within the following bands is as follows: TE#E :

Number of employees

EEAZ
2021 2020
—B-—fF —EETF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 251,000,000 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HKS 1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000 7T 3 2
11. Income Tax 11. Fifs 8

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of
tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
The provision for PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT") is estimated according
to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations.
LAT has been provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation
value, with certain allowable deductions.

BENGSHRNEARETBELE 2 A5
FERT ) FIHRTH K 16.50( Z B T4 :
16.5%) {E i B - EfibiR 2 R BUA
MZBHBAERAEBELEXBAER
R/AVERENRTHEAGE - PEL
B ER ([ L3R ER |) B TH R AR
B rh BUA R SOR R AT B AR E (EH AT ©
TR ETR B IRIEERE N RET R (EL
B WA TRHRER °

2021 2020
—E-—F =S das
HK$’000 HKS'000
FTHET FHAT
Current - Hong Kong NH — S

Charge for the year AEEHH 1,707 1,074
Overprovision in prior years B E R (234) (39)

Current — other jurisdiction AREJ— HAth R AR
Charge for the year AEEHH 126,902 3,406
LAT TR ET 8,819 -
Deferred taxation (note 32) ERER A (M 3E32) 10,938 12,758
Total tax charge for the year REEFIFLAST H 148,132 17,199
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11. Income Tax (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at
the statutory/applicable rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rates is as follows:

B 285 A Fi e

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

11. 3B ()

RBEARD R R E AR M8 A B FIAE R)
EREHETEBAREAERTAE
A (B1R) BRANHEMBARER
BB R E SRR E RO T

2021 2020
—E-—fF —TTHF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FrET
(Restated)
(g&&7))
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI AT A, (&) (303,131) 455,167
Tax at the statutory/applicable tax rates &ZTRBXR /"ERRE 2 EE
of different countries/jurisdictions ERB R E 2 BR (56,435) 74,211
Adjustments in respect of current tax of ~ FtiB{E AR 2 BNEATIIA{E I 2 T8
previous periods (234) (39)
Profits and losses attributable to Bt N Bl e 2w R &R
associates (768) (2,505)
Income not subject to tax BARUA (27,323) (136,464)
Expenses not deductible for tax EE T 152,466 33,523
Tax losses utilised from previous periods & & {E HifE 2 FiIEE 8 (2,924) (43)
Tax losses not recognised AERHIEERE 33,789 38,033
Utilisation of deductible temporary BRBERER MR ERERE
differences previously not recognised (6,720) (28)
Deductible temporary differences not KR Z Al &R =58
recognised 29,747 813
Impairment of deferred tax asset RIERTH A E R E - 9,891
Effect of tax concession RSEE T2 (80) (193)
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the — 10%# T8 0% 1 78 &< B R B ff &8 2 7]
distributable profits of the Group's PRC Al 2 Eis AR 2 &
subsidiaries 20,000 -
LAT provided TIIBETI B 8,819 =
Tax effect on LAT THIRET OB BT E (2,205) =
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate  AAREE BRI RFHE 2 HIEZ H 148,132 17,199

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the weighted average applicable tax
rate was 18.6% (2020: 16.3% (Restated)). The change in the weighted
average applicable rate was resulted from the consolidation of the results
of CAP Group since the Acquisition Date as CAP Group's major operation
was located in Mainland China.

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to HK$652,000 (2020:
HK$1,315,000) is included in "Share of profits and losses of associates" in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

HE-_T-—F=-A=t+—HLFE "
MEFEHEARER186%(ZT=F
F 1 163%(EF5)) - METFHERTR
EHEHIHRTBREEREENEE
¥BARPEAL - #UETREEMRSE
B 5 U e B B AR TR ARRAT
@( o

DEE & A E 2 BiTH652,0008 L (= F
ZZTF ¢ 13150008 L) BEEFALRE B
mRkHEMEERRERAZ [DEBER
Al A &R ] o

ML E LR AR A A
o :Z:—i%ﬂﬁ 175
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12.

13.

176

Dividends

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of any dividends
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

Earnings/(Loss) Per Share Attributable to Ordinary
Equity Holders of the Parent

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts is based
on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year of 1,231,642,888 (2020: 1,231,642,888).

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 in
respect of a dilution as the impact of the share options of the Company
during the year had no dilutive effect and the convertible notes issued by
CAP outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings/(loss)
per share amounts presented.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. Y3 ~ Wb Bk fli
Right-of-use assets Owned assets
RRERE fgEE

Furniture

Leasehold Leasehold  Plantand and Motor  Computer  Construction

land  Buildings Buildings improvements  machinery equipment vehicles system  inprogress
| b ; 5 HERMR i FE ERER
H

Cost: A

At 1 Aprl 2019 R-5-NERA-H 23520 96893 310413 10323 71506 97,05 6719 213 15260 525 916590 1227003
Additions e - 58335 58335 - 4197 1358 1,165 - &l - 8050 6638
Acquiston ofsubsidiares nofe 37) WENERA Ry) 12544 14538 1108 4109 300 - 3120 4055 493 - 41376 TA458
Wrtten off i - - - - (1728) - (1) - (60) - (2513) (2513)
Disposals e (1539 - (539 (2466) (16) (%)) (1 - (39) - (344 (28763)
Modfcation B - T8l Tl - - - - - - - - Tl
Transfer & - - - - 59 - - - - (59 - -
Exchange realignment L 376) (39 %) 4 9 - 1% (%) (1 4 33) (1,168)
Kt31 March 2020and 1 Apil 2000 R-E-FE2R1-AR

“E-5ERR-A 200359 170,168 30527 103,351 18,167 97,661 57618 6,08 0757 - 9563 1336163
Adaitions g 1666 4%9 69032 2016 14219 5% 6930 1801 6,869 - 32650 101682
Disposals fE 1 (864) (1,701 (259) (31) (300) (3075) (957) (16) - (15) (924
Modfication 5] - 1634 1634 - - - - - - - - 1634
Tansterto ivestment properties ote 19~ ERZHEHE(Kstrs) (1306) - (130 (11859 - - - - - -mgy (1316
Exchange reaignment E ] 200 1640 3840 591 1600 - ARl 31 04 - 10673 14513
At 31 March 2021 R-E--E=f=1-H 1648 2554 44026 698411 93,665 976% 64204 30 B4 - %957 1431603

1ITE_%§?§%E:EH:§?E/;§§ 1 77
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 14. W3k ~ Wps B il (a0

Right-of-use assets Owned assets
kRRgE fgEE

Furniture

Leasehold Leasehold  Plantand and Motor  Computer  Construction

land  Buildings Total  Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles system  inprogress

ik ; 87 HEXE  ERRES ; nE ERAR
e .

Accumulated depreciation and impairment: ZifERAE !

At 1 Aprl 2019 R-5-NERA-H 370 64% 8700 £390 41062 2280 170% 1125 11633 - 135,58 179285
Provided forthe year EERE 488 57000 61906 24% 118 9311 4463 0 23 - 50768 112674
Witten off i = = = - (1,708) - (687) - () - (285 (283
Disposal fig (8208 - (8.08) (1%9) 0 (833 (8) - (9 - (1,688) (9:8%)
mpgiment il 635 59559 65,194 1187 378 - 3N - - - 16019 81813
Bichenge redignment Eisg § (15 0 (110) 1 - (66) 4 () - (19) ()
At31 March 2020and 1 Apil 2000 R-E-ZE=R=1-AR
“5TRERE-A 413 13062 163,183 76308 54853 184 21,167 1552 13834 - 19%0% 36128
Provided forthe year EERE 5100 1194 33604 2058 12268 938 1041 1173 3801 - 58999 92623
Disposal & - (864) (864) = (31) (328) (2340) (817 (19) - (3875) (4739
Transfer toinvesiment popertes e 15~ EAZRENE (i) (54 - () B456) - - - - - - B56) (£050)
mpgiment B 2848 - 1048 18867 199 - - - - - 19066 21914
Bxchange reaignment [HiE m 103 g4 T8 61 - 39 ) 19 - 1983 2857
At 31 March 2021 RNE--%=R=1-H 448 150825 199073 115039 67600 38734 19597 196 17819 = 10735 469808
Carrying amount: BHEE:
At 31 March 2021 R-5--E=f=1-R 17834 64719 242953 583372 26065 5892 34607 5301 10435 - 718822 91,175
At 31 March 2020 R-E-5E=f=1-H 160236 47108 0734 628543 1314 67837 3451 453 6913 - 7615% 974840
At 31 March 2021, certain of the Group's owned buildings with an RZZE-_—F=A=+—H  AKEE
aggregate carrying amount of HK$175,692,000 (2020: HK$186,777,000), E4818175,692,0008 70 (Z T ZF4F :
leasehold land, which is included in right-of-use assets, with an aggregate 186,777,000/ 7T ) 2 & T B AEF R IR
carrying amount of HK$114,450,000 (2020: HK$118,047,000) and furniture HA2{E 114,450,000 L (ZE_ZF :
and equipment of HK$3,852,000 (2020: HK$4,534,000) were pledged to 118,047,000 ) st AR EEEZ &
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30). T8 & 4 b DA R R 47L e 7% 68 3,852,000

TE(ZT T4 : 4534000/7C) ' 5
BERFAREEZ —MIBITEEELE
R (HI7E30) ©

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had property, plant and equipment, before R-TE-—F=A=+—0 ~EEH
current year impairment, of HK$891,275,000 (2020: HK$975,105,000) BHEABERSEFSUANAERSE
relating to the Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU and Western Pharmaceutical EBNBZYE - BB RE AR
CGU. As mentioned in note 3 to the financial statements, given that both AR EIREAT) 891,275,000 L (=T =
CGUs were loss-making during the year, an impairment assessment has T 1 97510500087 ) © 0B S &K
been performed. For the purpose of impairment assessment of property, MtzE3pril - ERMERSELESBMLR
plant and equipment, each individual retail store is identified as a separate FAERBER - NEEDEITRER
CGU. iy o AW ~ BB MR 2 R E R T
= HETEEOWETEABILNES
EEEBNL o
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Notes to Financial Statements

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020, as a result of the impairment
assessment, impairment losses of HK$3,446,000, HK$370,000 and
HK$59,559,000 were recognised based on value-in-use in respect of
the leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment, and right-of-
use assets, respectively, of certain retail stores which continued to
underperform during the year ended 31 March 2020 and were therefore
fully impaired. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was
11.0%.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, as a result of the impairment
assessment, impairment losses of HK$7,222,000 and HK$2,598,000 were
recognised based on fair value less costs of disposal in respect of the
owned buildings and leasehold land of certain retail stores due to the
decrease in the recoverable amount of those retail stores for the year
ended 31 March 2021. As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment amounting to HK$397,200,000
represented the recoverable amount of owned retail stores of the Group
that are subject to the impairment test. The recoverable amount was
determined based on the fair value less costs of disposal based on a
market approach determined by an independent professional qualified
valuer which took into account current prices of properties of similar
locations and conditions and other unobservable inputs, and accordingly
the fair value measurement was categorised within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy.

In addition, impairment losses of HK$11,645,000, HK$199,000 and
HK$250,000 (2020: HKS11,871,000, HK$332,000 and HK$6,235,000) were
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2021 in respect of the owned
buildings, leasehold improvements and right-of-use assets of the Group's
manufacturing facility due to the decrease in the recoverable amounts.
As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate carrying amount of HK$358,000,000
(2020: HK$389,000,000) represented the aggregate recoverable amount
of these assets for which impairment loss has been recognised during
the year. The recoverable amount was determined based on the fair
value less costs of disposal based on a market approach determined by
an independent professional qualified valuer which took into account
current prices of properties of similar locations and conditions and other
unobservable inputs, and accordingly the fair value measurement was
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

B 285 A Fi e

31 March2021 —E=—F=A8=+—H

14. W3 - W K s

BE—_Z_ZF=-A=+—HItFE -
HRNETTRERN S  REREEZE=Z
TEF=A=+—HILFERARBER
ENETEEEZHEEE - BAKLE
HEA RS AEEEFREEBED RIERR
1B /&5 183,446,000 7T * 370,000/ T K&
59,559,000/ 7T * WE Z2HERE ° Re
METERABEAZITIREAR11.0% °

HE_Z-_—F=A=+—HULFE "
HARBENG  BEREAFERET
TEEMZEREFREE T AT
& K 7N 1 SRR (B E5 187,222,000 7 T K&
2,598,000/ 7T + WIIHREBE=ZT = —
F=RA=+—HILFE  ZSETEEH
MR EeERD  c RZE=_—F =1
=+—H " 9% HERREOREDR
{E/4397,200,000/8 7T + BIANE B EETT
BEFENEATEENTREEE -
AR ESEIREE L XS ERGE
R EE iE 2 Th 3B A IR BR A 1B R HH & A
A WiEEERANUNE R 2 W2
ERTERREAM D8RG A SIRE
T A A TFEAEFSARTFEERD
=4 o

A

o BE—BE-—F=A=+—HIt
FE - ARAIREISERD  ERLASE
EEELEzEREFT  HAEEEBL
N R E E R E R 11,645,000
P& 7T+ 199,000 7 7T K 250,000 7% 7T (=
T T4 11,871,000/ 7T * 332,00078
TL 1% 6,23500087L) e RZEZ—F=
A=+—H ' ERE#{&358,000,000% 7T
(ZZ == : 389,000,000 7C) BANE
EFAEBRBESBNEE 2 ATKE
4278 o A E R EIIRBATERLE
RAERBLEEESERGEMEBETEZ
TEE WSS BN E MR 2 Y
2 & AT{EAR R E fth S AT ER 2528 A B
EE ARAFEFEFEARFEER
WE=MH -
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15. Investment Properties

180

15. #&EWE

2021 2020

— ==& —E-EE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Carrying amount at beginning of year FHEREE 3,190,791 558,000

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) W REFT B A & (Mi7E37) - 2,912,560

Additions during the year FRRE 30,725 3,705

Transfer from owner-occupied property B F ¥ 8 # 85,800 -

Disposal of subsidiaries HEHE AR - (99,800)

Disposal during the year FAHE - (11,000)

Accrued rent-free rental income EsteERS WA 32 (10)
Net losses from fair value adjustments B EWEAFERE 2 EEEE

for owned properties (32,056) (99,198)
Net losses from fair value adjustments  HHEYE QA FEFHE 2 Ei8F5HE

for sub-leased properties (2,976) (662)

Exchange realignment [ 5 28 235,307 (72,804)

Carrying amount at end of year FREREE 3,507,623 3,190,791

The Group's investment properties are commercial and industrial
properties in Hong Kong and agricultural produce exchange markets
in Mainland China. The investment properties were revalued by Asset
Appraisal Limited and RHL Appraisal Limited, respectively, independent
professionally qualified valuers, at 31 March 2021. The finance department
of the Group has a team that reviews the valuation performed by the
independent valuers for financial reporting purposes and reports directly
to the senior management of the Company. Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between management and the valuers
twice a year when the valuation is performed for interim and annual
financial reporting. At the end of each reporting period, the finance
department holds discussion with the independent valuers to verify major
inputs to the independent valuation reports. The finance department also
assesses property valuation movements when comparing to the prior year
valuation reports.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further details of which are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2021, the Group’s owned investment properties with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$1,385,453,000 (2020: HK$1,652,579,000)
and certain rental income generated therefrom were pledged to secure
the general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30).
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Notes to Financial Statements

15. Investment Properties (continued)

As at 31 March 2021, certain investment properties of the Group situated
in Mainland China, with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$371,174,000
(2020: HK$347,465,000), did not have the property certificates registered
under the names of the respective subsidiaries of the Group. In the
opinion of the Company’s directors, the risk of the Group not being able
to obtain the legal titles for the relevant properties is low and the Group
will continue to complete the ownership registration of the investment
properties.

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are included on
page 259.

Fair value hierarchy

The recurring fair value measurement for all the commercial and industrial
properties and agricultural produce exchange markets of the Group uses
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) and details of their movements
are disclosed below.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2020:
Nil).

B 285 A Fi e

31 March2021 —E=—F=A8=+—H

5. EWE @)

RZZFE=Z_—F=A=+—80 "  ££H
LA AR B Ay 3t R TED 48 1B 45 371,174,00078
TL(ZZT T4 : 347,465,000/ 70) 2 &
T & Y AR IS B SR IE AN SR [E AR
B ARG THEREZE - ARAIEER
A REEEEESIEBEY AT X E
ZEBER - mASEBEETKIZEE
MEFMBEELEH °

AEBREMERNE—THBIRE
2598 °

DR EER
REEMARERTIENERBRERR
ZMinHEEEAFEAEHRAEN
THBRGARE(E=FR)  EHE
B IBEN T XHE -

TR EREF-HrBz AT EF
EMEER  TESAREHE=R
—EomE ) o
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15. BE&EWEmw)

15. Investment Properties (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) RPEERE)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of PERATFEERE=-FNATETZ
the fair value hierarchy: ZHER

Agricultural
produce
exchange
markets
BEm

R mE A5t
HK$'000 HK$'000

Commercial
properties

Industrial
property Total

TRM%
HKS$'000

[20izEYE S
HKS$'000

Carrying amount at

R-ZE-NAFEA—-BZ

THETT

TR

THET

TR

1 April 2019 BRMEE = 558,000 = 558,000
Accrued rent-free rental  EEFRERE WA

income - (10) = (10)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W EEHTEB A T (FFE37)

(note 37) = = 2,912,560 2,912,560
Additions during the year FRARE - - 3,705 3,705
Disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR - (99,800) - (99,800)
Disposal during the year FRHE - (11,000) - (11,000)
Net losses from fair value B RWEQ T ERAR 2 EIE

adjustments for owned HER

properties - (95,490) (3,708) (99,198)
Net losses from fair value S HERAFERAE 2 EE

adjustments for sub- R

leased properties = = (662) (662)
Exchange realignment Ve 5 AR - - (72,804) (72,804)
Carrying amount at RZZE=FTF=A=1+—H

31 March 2020 and RZZT=_TFWA—HZ

1 April 2020 BREE = 351,700 2,839,091 3,190,791
Accrued rent-free JEET R B HA

rental income 22 10 - 32
Additions during the year FRARE - 21,198 9,527 30,725
Transfer from owner- SR ES T

occupied property 85,800 - - 85,800
Net losses from fair value B RWERQ T ERAR 2 EIE

adjustments for owned 8

properties (3,822) (17,009) (11,225) (32,056)
Net losses from fair value S YERAFERAE 2 EE

adjustments for sub- R

leased properties - - (2,976) (2,976)
Exchange realignment Ve 5 AR - - 235,307 235,307
Carrying amount at RZZE=_—F=A=+—H

31 March 2021 ZARHEE 82,000 355,899 3,069,724 3,507,623
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15. Investment Properties (continued) 15. #EWE @)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) RPEERE)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to TREGIRE YR EERRA 2 GBS
the valuation of investment properties: EREEBABE

Significant

Valuation technique unobservable input

fR{E Rl EXFTUEEBANE
Commercial properties Direct comparison method  Price per square foot HK$42,000 to HK$68,000 to
[ENiEEAES BHELBE FT¥HRER HK$112,000 HK$116,000
42,0008 TE 68,0007 T2
112,0007& T 116,0007% 7T
Industrial property Direct comparison method  Price per square foot HK$4,000 N/A
TIEYE HELBRE BYARER 4,000 7T TER
Agricultural produce exchange  Direct comparison method  Price per square foot HK$352 to HK$280 to
markets and investment method ~ &F 7 RER HK$367 HK$339
REMXHT%H HERELBERKREE 3522 280BTLE
367/ T 33987
Estimated rental value per HK$115 to HKS$84 to
square foot and per month HK$1,052 HK$991
BABTHRMEHES 1M5BTE 84BILE
EfE 1,052 7T 991787T
Capitalisation rate 7% to 9% 7% to 9%
BARfEXR 7%Z9% 7%ZE9%

R-BE-_—F=A=+—8  BEYW*E
TR E A (B ENRITHER

As at 31 March 2021, the valuations of investment properties were based
on either the investment method which capitalises the rent receivables

from the existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent
of the properties or the direct comparison method by reference to
comparable market transactions.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot in isolation
would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value
per square foot in isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower)
fair value of the investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease)
in the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significantly lower/
(higher) fair value of the investment properties.

Weile REERERETSEEEARL)
FEELEE(2ZAELBRT ISR
2)EITH(E -

T HREREBAE LT CRRE)
HEBBREWERFEREZM, OR
) - BT T RESEBEEB AR
EF (TR SEHRENEATE
RIEE M, ORD) - EXLREFK
LA (R BEBREMERT
EXRERD, () -

ML E LR AR A A
T —FFR
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16. Leases

184

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of leasehold land,
buildings and equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease
periods of 27 to 68 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under
the terms of these land leases. Leases of office properties generally have
lease terms of 5 to 6 years, while retail shops generally have lease terms
between 2 and 4 years. Other equipment generally has lease terms of 12
months or less and/or is individually of low value. Generally, the Group
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside
the Group. There are several lease contracts that include extension and
termination options and variable lease payments, which are further
discussed below.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amount of the Group's right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are disclosed in note 14 to the financial
statements.

(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under other
payables and accruals) and the movements during the year are as
follows:

16. H&

REBEREBA
AEEREHREEERZZREEL
- BFRREZHESL - AREE
e B — IR E A R OA () 3% 2 W B 7 B
R7EESFHE L - MIBEZF L
WHEZ GR B SEESTERIR
B PRAEMERE 2 HBBERE
6%F - TEEMH 2 HPABEN F254
F o iR HBET A1208 A3 A
Th/AENEERE - —RME - &
SEAAEEUIA T ERRSEHEE
BEXERS - BATRIAE TESEM
Mg \EgaNngHaN Rz EiE8s
) BREBEE— ST o

(@) ERAEEE
REE EREEE 2 REERSF
BB A BA T Sk MY o 1 49 R -

(b) HEERME
& & (GTAH A B 5B &
BEBRET) ZEEERFR
T

HK$'000
THT

Carrying amount as at 1 April 2019 RZZE-NFOA—BZERHEE (122,890)
New leases ¥R HE (60,272)
Additions as a result of acquisition of AU FBEH B AR MAE

subsidiaries (25,155)
Accretion of interest recognised during FRIERZ BIEF| 5

the year (5,648)
Payments B 70,930
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors 3k & 78 ACOVID-1948E A& E % 1,743
Lease modification HEEF] (761)
Exchange realignment b 5, A 616
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 and R TF=A=+—HBE-_ZT-_TFWA—AH

1 April 2020 ZEEEE (141,437)
New leases HEIHHE (46,538)
Accretion of interest recognised during FRERZ RS

the year (6,303)
Payments B 68,671
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors 3k & H#8 ACOVID-1948FHH & &% 6,888
Reassessment of a lease term arising from a FERTE AT AL A& s 4 T S 3 AT ik AE R

decision not to exercise the extension option 11,430
Lease modification MREET 673
Exchange realignment b AR (2,027)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2021 RZT——F=A=+—HZEKHE (108,643)

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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The Group as a lessee (continued)
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16. L @)
AEBERFBAA (K)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued) (b) HEBEGHE)
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under other HEAREGIALEMNRIER
payables and accruals) and the movements during the year are as B EREBET) 2EEHAERFA
follows: (continued) 20T : (&)
2021 2020
—E-—fF —T-THF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FTET T
Analysed into: DR :
Current portion BERED (55,558) (63,015)
Non-current portion FEENEAE (53,085) (78,422)
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ERA=+—HZKHE (108,643) (141,437)
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 46 to the HEBEZSIE B DR B 75 R
financial statements. RIS E46HFE -
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as (0 MREZERAZHERBEIEN

follows:

T

2021
—EB-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHAT
Interest on lease liabilities HEABEZFE 6,303 5,648
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  FREZBEZINEMX
assets 33,624 61,906
Expense relating to short-term leases EfGHIFRE M FGHEBER=A=+—H
and other leases with remaining sz AlfEm 2 KB ERRE A
lease terms ended on or before (Gt ASHE M)
31 March (included in selling and
distribution expenses) 5,132 11,256
Expense relating to leases of HREELEEAERACHAZ GIATTE
low-value assets (included in )
administrative expenses) 765 682
Variable lease payments not included KRt ATHE &G 2 Al #AERR
in the measurement of lease (FIASHE RS HRAX)
liabilities (included in selling and
distribution expenses) 7,147 5,253
COVID-19-related rent concessions kg H A ECOVID-19/8FEE S
from lessors BE% (6,888) (1,743)
Gain on modification/termination of {&5] /& IEHEA #) 2 Wz
lease contracts (13,737) -
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERME 2,848 65,794
Finance income on net investments S FRi& & F58 2 BT A
in subleases (705) (1,059)
Total amount recognised in profit RIBEER 2258
or loss 34,489 147,737

T EEEER AR A

B FER 185
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16. Leases (continued)
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The Group as a lessee (continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Extension and termination options

The Group has leases with remaining lease terms ranging from
year to 17 years (2020: 2 years to 18 years). The leases
containing extension and termination options are managed locally

more than 1

and vary in terms. The Group has included extension or termination
options in the measurement of the lease obligations when it is
reasonably certain to exercise the options.

Variable lease payments

The Group leased a number of retail stores which contain variable
lease payment terms that are based on the Group’s turnover
generated from the retail shops. There are also minimum annual
base rental arrangements for these leases. The amounts of the fixed
and variable lease payments recognised in profit or loss for the
current year for these leases are HK$25,315,000 and HKS$7,147,000
(2020: HK$37,928,000 and HKS$3,510,000), respectively.

The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflows relating
to leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed in notes 39(c)
and 41(b), respectively, to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

(i

Operating leases

The Group leases its properties consisting of 5 (2020: 4) commercial
properties, 1 (2020: nil) industrial property in Hong Kong and 11
(2020: 11) agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland
China under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases
generally require the tenants to pay security deposits. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was HK$209,895,000
(2020: HK$48,337,000), details of which are included in note 6 to the
financial statements.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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ZZE T F 37,928,000/ 7T K
3,510,000 78 ) °

\

]

() FEZRS L EERE KA
M2 AEHBNARTESRE D
B A BA 75 FR 2R T 5 39(c) }e 41 (b) B
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16. Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Operating leases (continued)
At 31 March 2021, the undiscounted lease payments receivables by
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases
with its tenants are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

Notes to Financial Statements
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16. & @)

AEBERHBEA(E)

(i) KERSEHA)
RZE-_—F=A=+—H" ' &K
S BERE B 5 5] 3 2 Al
428 T E PR R AR 2 R MR 4T

REERROT -
2021 2020
=EB=—F ZTTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT T
Within one year —FR 211,696 155,822
After one year but within two years —~ —4 £ ERE R 81,755 52,856
After two years but within three years F4E£1E=%FR 16,227 19,739
After three years but within four years =41&{BPH4F R 7,230 8,468
After four years but within five years P& B RER 5,089 6,246
After five years A% 12,264 23,380
334,261 266,511

Finance leases (i) MEERSE

The Group sub-leased office premises to its fellow subsidiaries
and 3 (2020: 5) retail shops to its franchisees under finance lease

ZKEIETFEQEEETZTJF@EE
XUy NCIBaRi:E N/ E Sl

arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from 2 to 3 m?ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂ:iﬁfﬁ(—g—;qz : 5[)

years (2020: 2 to 3 years). The terms of the leases require the tenants

to pay security deposits.

The carrying amounts of net investments in subleases and the
movements during the year are as follows:

TEEH - BEMAPN T283F
(ZE2_ZF : 2535F) - HEK
REFMELRFS ©

AHALEFE L REEREANE
R :

HKS$'000
THETT

Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 RZZE-—NFMOA—BZEKEEE 27,588
Additions arising from new leases A HEMRE 3,104
Accretion of finance income recognised FRIERZ BIZI A

during the year 1,059
Proceeds from subleases DTS RIE (11,606)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 and REE-ZRF=A=+—HK=Z-ZFMA—H

1 April 2020 ZARE(E 20,145
Additions arising from new leases AFIHEMRE 4,058
Accretion of finance income recognised FATERZ R E A

during the year 705
Proceeds from subleases AHFEFIE (11,560)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2021 RoB-—F=A=+—HZKHE 13,348

ML E LR AR A A
T —FFR
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16. Leases (continued) 16. HlE @)
The Group as a lessor (continued) AEEERHBAE)
(ii) Finance leases (continued) (i) MMEESEHE)
2021 2020
—E-—fF —TTHF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FTHET FET
Analysed into: DA :
Current portion BREAER 8,852 10,526
Non-current portion FEENERER 5 4,496 9,619
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—HZKHE 13,348 20,145

R-E-_—F=A=+—H &
E BRI EMF T 2 N A] BE
AVE R E R R R EARE 2 R MR 3T

At 31 March 2021, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable finance leases
with its tenants are as follows:

RESERNRAT :
2021

—E=-—fF —ZE=F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FExT FHIT
Within one year —FER 9,268 11,206
After one year but within two years ~ —&F&EMRER 3,597 7,878
After two years but within three years & {E=FR 1,023 2,167
13,888 21,251

B bt ES - FERAESIRE
MEXBEZADLAE -

In addition to the above, the annual contingent rental is calculated
on a percentage of the turnover of the store.
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17. Investments in Associates

Cost of investments in associates:

R ERBZRERA

Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 e Fi

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

17. RBE AR ZHRE

2021
—EC-—F

HK$’000
FTHET

2020
—TTF
HKS$'000
FHET

Shares listed in Hong Kong, at cost REE Lz K @ KA - 600,031
Unlisted shares, at cost FEETRG + KA 4,331 4,331
Less: Impairment losses recognised B BRI EEE (831) (223,552)

3,500 380,810
Share of post-acquisition losses and Bl iERERREMEE
other comprehensive income, net of zs - MBRE WEAR 2
dividends received (668) (68,797)
Share of other reserve FE(R B ftb - 2,020
2,832 314,033

The Group's trade receivable balances with the associates are disclosed in
note 22 to the financial statements.

AEBHEBENT 2B 5 RKFIBAH
R SRR 22 R -

ML E LR AR A A
o :Z:—igﬁ 189
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17. Investments in Associates (continued)

190

Particulars of a material associate are as follows:

Easy One Financial

Percentage of ownership

17. BB AFZH#E )
— R BHAAT Y HEMT

interest attributable
to the Group

EBEGREEERE DL

Place of

incorporation/
registration and
business
Eaiiisavyd

B R E —EBE-—fF

Particulars of

issued shares held 2021

s B BTN FE

Ordinary shares Cayman Islands/ -

2020 Principal activities

—TOTF FEXRK

29.06 Provision of finance and

Group Limited HK$0.01 each Hong Kong (Note) securities brokerage services
(“Easy One")* BREEIBILZ HEHS &5 (BFF&E) in Hong Kong and property

S5 cREEER E B development in Mainland
REA[HHE])* China

REBIREBE MEFELIRS
KRBt YRR

Notes: On 4 May 2020, Caister Limited (“Casiter”), which is wholly and beneficially owned by MizF: R—ZE-_FTERAMNAE - AE L
Mr. Tang, requested the board of Easy One to put forward a proposal of privatisation 4 2 & B A 2 Caister Limited
of Easy One (“the Privatisation”) at the cancellation consideration, comprising the cash ([Caister] ) Bk B F =& E & AT
consideration of HK$0.3 per share of Easy One and the consideration shares on the basis HE(RIEESYHEERSI=SERGD
of eight (8) ordinary shares of Wang On held by Caister, for each share of Easy One (the 0.3 7T & LA Caisteri5 B 9 N\ Q) IR &=
“Proposal’). REBRAERORERD)RE S

SELBLTRBLEDNZETE
) RS SENEF RN
The Proposal was approved by the shareholders of Easy One at the court meeting held BN -_E-_TENANBETHE
on 8 September 2020 and was sanctioned by the Bermuda Court on 17 September 2020. e FEEZFSREIE - I
The Proposal became effective on 16 October 2020. Loss on disposal of investment in NZE_ZTENA++RZIEEE
an associate of HK$237,740,000 was recognised and included in “Other expenses” in EREHE c BBR -_E-_ZTE+A
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Further +ABEAR c HERBMEARIREY
details of the Proposal are set out in the Company’s circular dated 24 July 2020. 518237,740,0005% 7T 2 FER I 5t A 4R
aRaEkEEKER L [HMFEX] -
BRE—IHBRINARAESR
ZE_EHELATMAZBE -

* Easy One was delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange after the completion * SERILEE @ 555 AT ER
of the Privatisation. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of Easy One before the Bre o NEKILBLRE - BB=2MH
completion of the Privatisation were the provision of finance and securities brokerage BARIZEBEBANEBIRERE
services in Hong Kong and property development in Mainland China. R EAKLERERANRR AL EY

EEE -
(a) Included in the cost of investments in associates is goodwill arising from the acquisition (a) REEENT ZIRBERABIFERES S

of Easy One. The movement in the cost of investment attributable to goodwill is set out
below.

EEAZES - RERABEEEY
SBRIIWT -

HK$'000
T

At 1 April 2019, net of cumulative impairment R=ZT—NFMA—A ' Nk ERE 23,231
Impairment during the year FRRE (8,737)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-E-_TF=-A=+—HAR=-ZT=-_ZTFWMA—AH 14,494
Disposal during the year FALE (14,494)

At March 2021 RZZE=_—®F=A=+—H B
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17. Investments in Associates (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 e Fi

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

17. R BE AW Z-E ()

Notes: (continued) FisE - (&)

(b)  The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect of Easy (b) TXRHAASHSZTEEZFZERA-F
One for the period up to 16 October 2020, when the Proposal became effective, and
reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:

—ZE+ A TANB BRI BEERE
2 ARREAM B RERZ REES

BE :
2021
—B-—F
HK$’000
T FH7
Current assets mEEE - 1,099,609
Non-current assets EMENEE - 308,682
Current liabilities mEBAE - (389,949)
Non-current liabilities FERBAG - (8,986)
Net assets BEFE - 1,009,356
Reconciliation to the Group's AEBEREE AR 2SR ¢
interest in the associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEBEG R N/ATEA 29.06%
Group's share of net assets of the associate, AEBDOEBERARZEESRE
excluding goodwill ENEETEES - 293,319
Goodwill on acquisition Wig B CRARE)
(less cumulative impairment) - 14,494
Carrying amount of the investment at 31 March A= A=+—H 1R EREE - 307,813

2021 2020

—E--fF —E-TF

HK$"000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Revenue & 31,751 113,393

Profit for the period/year = E RN 14,346 41,461
Other comprehensive profit/(loss) 8/ FREM RSN, (EE)

for the period/year 31,345 (67,310)
Total comprehensive profit/(Ioss) HFRRERN,(EB) 858

for the period/year 45,691 (25,849)

Market value of the Group's investment at R=EA=+—BAEEREZME
31 March N/ARE A 80,859

T EEEER AR A
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17. Investments in Associates (continued) 17. RBE A w2 B & @)
Notes: (continued) fIeE : (48)
(c)  The following table illustrates the aggregate summarised financial information of the () THRFIALEEHEARERNTEKX
Group's associates that are not individually material: REBI T ERBEE
2021 2020
-5 —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Share of the associates’ profits for the year JEAGEE & N B AN E 5 7 485 3,129
Share of the associates’ other comprehensive FEARE & A R HE b2 mE S
income - 136
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive B & AR 2 E KSR
income 485 3,265
Dividend received B kAR S 3,873 203
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AEBRBENRZTZEZ BEERE
investments in associates 2,832 6,220

18. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other  18. &2 “FAf &8 H fib 2 vil # 28 A

Comprehensive Income AR S 85 ¥
2021 2020
—=E=——f —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Listed equity investments, at fair value ERERE - BAFE (i), (i), (iii) 146,857 51,866
Listed debt investments, at fair value FHEBERE  BRAFE (i), (iii), (iv) 124,378 121,354
Unlisted debt investment, at fair value JFELETERRE  LHAFE (iii), (iv) 11,580 -
282,815 173,220
Portion classified as current assets DERRBEEDD (47,944) (48,120)
Non-current portion IERBEE D 234,871 125,100
Notes: B 7
(i) The above equity investments are investments in companies listed on the Stock (0) AR E BB R AT LT AR
Exchange and were irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive KE  BHREAEERRZEREERER
income as the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature. BESMEE - EE TR S B iR
ATFELE M2 EB S AR ©
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group received dividends in the amount of HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HIL#HF
HK$4,334,000 (2020: HK$4,371,000) from the equity investments designated at fair value B AEEEEERATELEMS
through other comprehensive income and recognised them in profit or loss. TH Wz A BR 2 AR #E 52 & W ER 4,334,000
BIT(ZZT =T : 4,371,000 BIT) IR
B WRIB R o
(i) Assuming the portfolio of the Group's listed equity investments and listed debt (i) R AR E z FTARERE & ETHE
investments remained unchanged, the market values of the Group’s listed equity BREBESHERITE  AEBHIEZQT
investments and listed debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive EEE M2 E S AR ETARER
income at the date of approval of these financial statements were HK$153,652,000 and BER EEBRENZS I RKRE
HK$120,924,000, respectively. & B M {E S 5l 45153,652,0007%

7T $2120,924,00078 7T °

192 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021



Notes to Financial Statements

18. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other
Comprehensive Income (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ifi) At 31 March 2021, certain of the Group's equity investments and debt investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income of HK$54,817,000 and HK$ 135,958,000,
respectively, were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(2020: HK$44,341,000 and HK$121,354,000, respectively) (note 30).

(iv) Impairment assessment of debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income

As at 31 March 2021, except for a defaulted listed debt investment of HK$1,788,000
(2020: HK$3,794,000) which was categorised within Stage 3, none of the listed and
unlisted debt investments were overdue and all of them were categorised within Stage
1 for the assessment of expected credit losses.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering the
expected credit losses, which are estimated by applying the probability of default
approach with reference to risk of default and loss given default of the issuers or
comparable companies. As at 31 March 2021, the probability of default applied ranged
from 0.2% to 100% (2020: 0.2% to 6.0%) and the loss given default ranged from 56.5% to
73.8% (2020: 50.1% to 59.3%).

The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of debt investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income are as follows:

B 285 A Fi e

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

18. A P4 &8 H fth 4l W28 A
W 2 W5 ()

feE - ()

i)y R-ZTBE-_—F=A=+—8 ' 4Kx&
EEBETRAFECEMEEK
HmABRZREZLERBEBHRE S
Bl 54,817,000 # JT K 135,958,000 %
TL(ZZT =T F : 44341,0007% 7T &
121,354,000% 75 ) © ARG F AR &
Bz —RRITEE (FisE30) °

vy BRATFELEMBE2EREARZED
HRE 2 RERE

R-ZE-_—F=A=+—0 ' BREH
LT {ERIRE 1,788,000 L (=T =
T4F : 3,794,000 7T) DR RE =
BRAN - HAth b RIF EEBIRER
g - AptTEHE B A BAF G
T ARSEBEREESERE —
EE o

jull

s

REREAHEBEREREEEE
EITREDN - MEMEEBIEE
BEREAMRELTZ2EZORBRN
BAT AR A E LB A A2 AR /Y B 18
ETHE R —F=fA=+—
B ZHOBENT02%E100%(=F
ZEF 1 02%%6.0%) ' BHBENT
56.5%%2738% (=T =FF : 501%%E
59.3%) ©

BATELEM2ERE AR AR
REZREBRREEESMNT

2021 2020

—B-—F —E-TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT FAT

At beginning of year REF 10,165 101,781

Assets derecognised RILFER 2 B E (526) (101,781)
Impairment losses, net (note 7) REEE - FRE (T

Changes in risk parameters RR2EEE) 112 -

New investments purchased BEINEE 270 10,165

382 10,165

At end of year RER 10,021 10,165
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19. Properties Under Development 19. FEhYIE

2021 2020

B —T T

HK$’000 HK$'000
FH7 FHT

Properties under development expected TEEER 2 B EHR YL -
to be completed:

Within the normal operating cycle RIEB & EBBAIIERBNE E
included under current assets 68,528 297,146
Properties under development expected to be completed within the TEEIR IE T & @B BN AR KU B 2 B
normal operating cycle and recovered: ErhY%
2021 2020
—=B-—fF ZTTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Within one year —FR - 234,844
After one year —F% 68,528 62,302
68,528 297,146
20. Properties Held for Sale 20. FFEHEWE
2021 2020
—F-—F —T-THF
HK$’000 HKS'000
THET FHT
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—HZKHE 1,886,497 1,645,165
Notes: B
(i) At 31 March 2021, the Group's properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying value (i) R-ZE_—F=A=+—0 ' &~£H
of HK$565,032,000 (2020: HK$375,451,000) were pledged to secure the Group’s general 5 4 B8R T 48.{8 /5 /565,032,00078 7T (=
banking facilities (note 30). T T4 375,451,000/ 7T) 2 #FEE

EWE  UERBETASEEZ —RIER
T8 (Mi&E30) ©

(if) During the year ended 31 March 2021, a write-down of properties held for sale of (if) BE_Z-_—F=A=+—HULHF
HK$6,326,000 was charged to profit or loss (2020: Nil), which was related to two & - F1EE & Y 3 MUR6,326,00078 T
agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China with carrying value of (ZZB-ZTF : T)PIEZFN% - &
HK$166,531,000 as at 31 March 2021. BAMR—T=-—F=A=+—A2Z

BRI {E /166,531,000 7T H) /A 8 2 =
mRSH5HE -

@iy Further particulars of the Group’s properties held for sale are included on page 259. @iy AEERBIEHEMEZE—SFER
HE2598 -
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21. Inventories
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21. 8

22.

2021 2020

—E——f —E-EE

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET THT

Raw materials and consumables RRREE 56,958 42,879
Work in progress F B M 3,529 5,340
Finished goods 2URK 102,183 106,671
162,670 154,890

Trade Receivables 22. ¥ 5 REWKIE
2021 2020
—=E-—fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Trade receivables Z 5 W RIE 71,542 86,103
Less: Accumulated impairment B RETRIE (18,242) (18,801)
53,300 67,302

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The
credit period ranges from 7 to 120 days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit and the credit limit is reviewed regularly. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables are amounts due from the
Group's associates of HK$8,181,000 (2020: HK$14,805,000) which are
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major customers
of the Group.

AEEHERENESKEREEARE
& EEHNF7/EER1208 - REFH
HARREARE  mEeREARES
TEHAEERT o AEEY MR E R EUGR
BHBBRZRERUEEERRBRESR
Ko MREShHaAEEETHE
B o ERU L R AEERNE 5K
FESRBETREE WA EENE
BRBREF o A5 B &R E SRR
BRESFEFTMEARREMEER
%o BHEBFEARE

AEEZ ZEYGHRIETERERIAER
Bt 45 X 5] 2 XIA8,181,000/8 L (=T =
T4F 1 14,805000/87T) @ HAREEL
FTAREEEXTZRFHENEEKRE
;;% °
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22. Trade Receivables (continued)

196

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

22. © 5 MWK ()

BIRKFERBEMRBEERAH
MR ERBRR ZREDITT

2021 2020

—E-—fF —TTHF

HK$’000 HKS'000

FHET FBT

Within 1 month & B AR 25,272 24,426
1 to 3 months 12318 A 8,186 25,600
3 to 6 months 3ZE6MEA 10,167 12,078
Over 6 months B iE6fE A 9,675 5,198
53,300 67,302

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

2 S RW IR 2 RERBEREE SN
T~

2021 2020

—B—_—fF —ETF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TERT FET

At beginning of year REA] 18,801 5113

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) W R B 8 2 B (M 5E37) - 5,969
Impairment losses/(reversal of REEE, CREBEED) @ FEHE7)

impairment losses), net (note 7) (1,160) 9,167

Exchange realignment FEE 5, 28 624 (135)

Amount written off as uncollectible [ s 97 qEIE /O (23) (1,313)

At end of year RERXR 18,242 18,801

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer
type and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables are written off if past due for more than one year and are
not subject to enforcement activity.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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22. Trade Receivables (continued) 22. ® 5 BEWGKIE (=)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the TREIANEEF AR EEEFEHNE
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: SEBFIERNEERBRER
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZB-_—f=HA=+—H

Past due
EH

Within 1to3 3to6 Over
Current 1 month months months 6 months
B 1EAMR 1ZE3f8R 3ZF6fA #EiBeM@A

Expected credit loss  FAEfE & E51E X

rate 0.6% 2% 2% 2% 99% 25%
Gross carrying HRAREE

amount (HK$'000) (F#m) 34,497 7,863 9,166 2,239 17,777 71,542
Expected credit TBHIE B AR

losses (HKS'000) (F%7T) 212 151 201 50 17,628 18,242
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-_ZTF=A=+—H

Past due
1 HA

Within 1to3 3to6 Over

Current 1 month months months 6 months
BVER 1EAA 1231@ A 3ZE6MEA  EBiBefEA

Expected credit loss  FEEA(EEEIEXR

rate 0.2% 2% 6% 12% 92% 22%
Gross carrying RAREE

amount (HK$'000) (F%7T) 51,478 4,882 3,984 6,745 19,014 86,103
Expected credit EEE B EsE

losses (HKS$'000) (F%7T) 87 112 252 790 17,560 18,801

1ITE_%§?§%E:EH:§?E/;§§ 1 97
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23. Loans and Interest Receivables

198

23. MEW SR KA S

2021
—E-—F =_F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

F#ExT FHIT

Loans receivables, secured EWER - S (i), (iii) 38,323 35,381
Loans receivables, unsecured FEWE R - EiKiE (i), (i) 13,632 15,288
Interest receivables FEWFI B 23,183 18,871
75,138 69,540
Less: Impairment allowance B ORERE (iv) (44,837) (1,290)
30,301 68,250

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

As at 31 March 2021, these loan receivables were stated at amortised cost at effective
interest rates ranging from 8% to 12% per annum. The credit terms of these loan
receivables are 3 years.

As at 31 March 2021, these loan receivables were stated at amortised cost at effective
interest rates ranging from 1% to 6% per annum. The credit terms of these loan
receivables range from 1 year to 6 years.

As at 31 March 2021, all of these loan receivables are either overdue or with maturity
within one year, and they have been classified as current assets accordingly.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of loans and interest receivables
are as follows:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

RZBEZ—F=A=+—H %5k
W E IR R ATIER - BB F R =
NFBENRE - ZERKERZEE
HR=F -

R-_ZTE-_—F=A=+—H %k
W B SR E R AR - EREF=X
NFIE6E - ZERWERZEEH
NE—FEZREF -

R-ZTE-_—F=A=+—8 " FiB&
ERBEFRHEBHKIR —FAT
B 2ESFARDEE -

R B SRR B R E R R R B
W

2021

-5

HK$’000

FTHERT
At beginning of year REH) 1,290 3,463
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) BB M A R (Fff7E37) - 1,207

Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment REEE, CREEBERE) - Fma(HE7)

losses), net (note 7) 42,051 (3,349)
Exchange realignment [ 5, 5% 1,496 (31)
At end of year REXR 44,837 1,290

As at 31 March 2021, except for loans and interest receivables with gross amounts of
HK$1,656,000 and HK$57,475,000 (2020: HK$58,029,000 and HK$86,000) were overdue
and categorised within Stage 2 and Stage 3 for the assessment of expected credit losses,
respectively, none of the loans and interest receivables were overdue and all of them
were categorised within Stage 1 for the measurement of expected credit losses.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering the
expected credit losses, which are estimated by applying the probability of default
approach with reference to the risk of default and loss given default of the borrowers or
comparable companies. As at 31 March 2021, the probability of default applied ranged
from 0.2% to 100.0% (2020: 0.2% to 6.0%) and the loss given default ranging from 56.5%
to 78.0% (2020: 50.1% to 62.5%).
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24. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables
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24. TARHSKIR ~ % 5 B ot R W

X JH
2021 2020
=EB=—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Prepayments FEfF KB 30,418 25,785
Deposits paid for the acquisition of WS BMERREZEMNES
property, plant and equipment 3,040 2,254
Rental and other deposits He REMiEe 102,353 103,974
Other receivables H i jE U 5B 124,018 89,763
Right-of-return assets REREE 1,393 1,848
Cost of obtaining contracts BB A #)Z A 66,781 46,492
Total prepayments, deposits and other — FEfHFRIE - 12 & & HAth fE UK IB/EE
receivables 328,003 270,116
Less: Impairment allowance B RERE (237) (835)
327,766 269,281
Less: Deposits classified as W DEARRBEEZIES
non-current assets (19,134) (19,905)
Portion classified as current assets DI EREEERNZD 308,632 249,376

Cost of obtaining contracts represented the prepaid sales commission
paid in connection with the sales of properties. The Group has capitalised
the amounts paid and will charge them to profit or loss as selling and
distribution expenses when the revenue from the related property sale is
recognised. During the year ended 31 March 2021, sales commission of
HK$4,082,000 was charged to profit or loss (2020: Nil).

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits, deposits
with vendors and receivables from counterparties which have no
history of default. The financial assets included in the above balances
were not overdue and categorised in Stage 1 for the measurement
of expected credit losses, except for the balance of HK$14,274,000
(2020: HK$20,401,000) which was categorised within Stage 2 for the
measurement of expected credit losses. Where applicable, an impairment
analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering the expected
credit losses, which are estimated by applying the probability of default
approach with reference to the risks of default of the counterparties. As
at 31 March 2021, the probability of default applied ranged from 0.2% to
1.6% (2020: 0.8% to 3.3%) and the loss given default was estimated to be
approximately ranging from 56.5% to 62.9% (2020: 55.8% to 62.5%).

ERE H) 2 P ATE LS E M FT S A Y
BRHERE - AEEB BT
© FAI R HE B D 2 8 5 P75 W s e R B
FIMESHE R D Y B BEINR - B E
—T-—F=ZA=+—ALEE  #HE
f£4,082,0008 T HIER MR (=T =
THEE) e

e RHEMEWKREFZHEHEERS
BTEAZEERREREENTHE
REF 2 FEWGRIE - 5T A LRz
MBEEEYESR  WHEBHEES
BRFEMEDEAE MR - EHRE
14,274,000/ 7L (= = FF :20,401,000
B )REREEEENGEMS 28
REZMER - EEBBEAT REWRE
HEBAE REEEEIBEITRES
- MEBEEERNEREREL
BEREW 2 E 7] & L E A AR E LR
ETHE R-_E-_—F=A=+—
A ZBHOBENT02%E=16%(=ZF=
TF : 08%E33%) RIGFTELEEN
T 4956.5%%62.9%( —FE - T4 : 558%
%62.5%) °

ML E LR AR A A
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24. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables  24.

(continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as
follows:

TEAEZKJE ~ 5 4 B H i FE WY
K TE ()

SEATRNRIR - RE R EAM YRR Z

2021 2020
—E-—F —E_TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH FHT
At beginning of year REA] 835 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) Uz BE Bl 8 A &) (BT 537) - 825
Impairment losses/(reversal of BEEROREEBER) - FRE(HE7)
impairment losses), net (note 7) (646) 30
Exchange realignment TE i A% 48 (20)
At end of year REFR 237 835
25. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value through  25. %2 P& HE & AR 2 M8
Profit or Loss g Y=L

Financial assets

2021 2020

—E-—fF —TTHF

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FExT FHIT

Unlisted funds, at fair value (note) FEETES  BRAFEMEE) 98,672 50,382

Listed equity investments, at fair value ~ FHRR#ERE - L AFE 67 73
Derivative component of IR 2 0T T A5 (M5E29)

unsecured notes (note 29) 3,864 6,220

102,603 56,675

B ERE D BRRAFELERA
EEM2E R ER A FERR L E

18-

The above equity investments were classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as the Group has not elected to recognise the
fair value gain or loss through other comprehensive income.

b3 E R SR ERRH D BR/RA
FELERARZYBEE  REARA
MIRENANRERELIFHEREER
& RS -

The above unlisted fund investments were mandatorily classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest.
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25. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value through
Profit or Loss (continued)

Note:

Except for the unlisted funds with a fair value of HK$58,600,000 (2020: HKS 50,382,000)
as at 31 March 2021 that are determined based on the quoted market prices provided
by fund administrators with reference to prices derived from the over-the-counter
market, the fair value of the remaining unlisted funds was determined with reference
to valuations performed by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited, an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at 31 March 2021, based on the discounted cash flow
model by applying observable inputs including interest rates and the value of the
underlying asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss that are denominated in USD, other than the functional currencies of the respective
group entities, amounted to HK$98,672,000 (2020: HK$50,382,000).

Financial liabilities

Derivative component of convertible

AR 2 OTETARS

B 285 A Fi e

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

25. A A& AR 22 B
& A

MEE -

BR-_ZE-_—F=—A=+—HZ3kE
ES 2 A F{E58,600,0008 T (=F
ZZF : 50,382,000/ 7T ) IRIEHES
BEARBZAHMELLERES
INZHTIB 2 BIREERE - A TIEL
TMESZATFENE2EHRB IR
AERGEMESLERTEERAR
R-_E-——F=A=+—HEREHR
ARG ABIE(BENEREBEE
EEE)MRBESREEIET MG
BEE -

RRERR - UEREEEREESR
B AN 2 BT EHE 2 R A AR
B A BR 2 B 7% & B /398,672,000
TL(ZE=F 4 : 50,382,00087C) °

MR E

2021
—E-—F

2020
ZETF
HK$'000
FHT

HK$’000
FTHET

notes 37 621
Interest rate swaps (note) =42 HA (P 5 ) 810 =
847 621

Less: Portion classified as non-current B D BEAEERBEGEES DY
liabilities (810) -
Portion classified as current liabilities DEEERHBEILD 37 621

Note:

At 31 March 2021, the Group had several interest rate swaps with a notional amount of
HK$50,000,000. The Group pays interest at a fixed rate of 1.08% and receives interest at
a variable rate of 1-month HIBOR. These interest rate swaps will mature over the next
3 years and are used to manage its interest rate exposures arising from bank loans at
floating rates.

These interest rate swaps are not designated for hedge purposes and are measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of the non-hedging interest
rate derivatives amounting to HK$810,000 were charged to profit or loss during the
year.

MEE

R-TE-_—F=A=+—H K&£H
R T & T % % A& §6 /% 50,000,000
T2 MK o AEEIRE E =
1.08% = fHF) 8 « WIEAZR—EA
BBIRITRIFER B 22 EFI R U ERF
B oo ZEFERIEHBRAR=ZFNE
B WAREBIEFEHFERAB 2R
TERELZFIRRR -

ZEFRIBHW KRBT AL RER -
WAR A FET Az o FA - EH
FRPTE T B 2 N EEE810,00058
TLERIERNR -

T EEEER AR A
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26. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

202

26. e RBEFFRIAHKZ

FR i) B 4%
2021 2020
=E=—F —EEF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET THIT
Cash and bank balances e RIRIT4EE 454,363 463,180
Time deposits EHTER 75,173 20,679
529,536 483,859
Less: Restricted bank balances (note) B ZRFRITER (M) (22,302) (8,157)
Cash and cash equivalents B RINSZERIER 507,234 475,702

Note: According to the relevant mortgage facility agreements signed by certain subsidiaries
of the Group with their banks, the subsidiaries are required to place at designated bank
accounts certain amounts as deposits for potential default of mortgage loans advanced
to property purchasers. The deposits can only be used for payments for construction
costs of the relevant properties. These guarantee deposits will be released after the
property ownership certificates of the relevant properties are passed to the banks.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$374,443,000 (2020:
HK$333,343,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and six months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposits rates. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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P - RS EE T B A R EERITR]
Iz HRRBERGE - ZEHEA
RIAFR—ELBEREERITRSIE
RES  RARERIIBERZWE
BREHER - REEATARXNHE
BMEZZERKA - ZRRESFR
BRI EZ FEZE2RRITERT
LARRER o

RIREHR - AEBUARKEEZE
& MERTTH 82 53744430008 0 (= F
— T : 333,343,000 70) ° AR
AEHERAHME - AT - REF
B At C ONE B IR 0 R (A5 EE - BB
RAEEEBRE)  NEBEABBER
R INERETS 2 SRITIBEARKE 0 R
HibE¥ -

RITEFIRIREE B RITFHRAEAE
ZFENFIRBRRAE - EHEHMERZ
FHRARNF—REANEA - RAEH
Z BISIR & FHRME - WIRAMELE
HATE SR R GRER RIS, © SR1T 4588 N E 58
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27. Trade Payables 27. W5 A RIE

2021 2020

—E——f —E-EE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT THET

Trade payables B 5 N RIR 72,204 66,709
An ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, B o N IEARE AR IR ZE

based on the invoice date, is as follows: ZERE DT

2021 2020

—E-—F ===

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FHET

Within 1 month 1ME A AR 15,134 6,751

1 to 3 months 12318 A 9,039 3,625

3 to 6 months 3Z6fEA 9,073 4,470

Over 6 months AR fE A 38,958 51,863

72,204 66,709
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of ZHRNREREE  FHHRF30E
30 to 60 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to 608 o ANEE B R A %R R E K
ensure that all payables are within the credit time frame. % - BIRMAERNFIAEREEEEHIR

AFENI

ML E LR AR A A
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28. Other Payables and Accruals/Contract Liabilities 28. I ftb WE £ 3% JH K HE 5t #
A/ f#RIffR

204

2021 2020
—EB=—F —ETF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHIT
(Restated)
(&%)
Receipts in advance B FRIE 234,864 95,606
Rental and other deposits received B E kEMIZS 100,638 92,854
Contract liabilities EHEaE (a) 596,568 548,829
Refund liabilities REEE 1,939 2,508
Other payables H i e FORE (b) 332,906 213,392
Accruals EErE A 86,809 82,159
Lease liabilities HEARE 16(b) 108,643 141,437
1,462,367 1,176,785
Less: Portion classified as non-current B DEAEERBEERD
liabilities (56,089) (81,586)
Portion classified as current liabilities DEETHBEELRD 1,406,278 1,095,199
Represented by: e o
Contract liabilities aHaE 596,568 548,829
Current portion of other payables and HEiEMFBEREFERZ
accruals TREhER 809,710 546,370
Portion classified as current liabilities DEETHBERD 1,406,278 1,095,199
Notes: PREE
(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) AHBEFBROT :

31 March 2021

31 March 2020 1 April 2019
—B-—fF = E =

NE

=A=t+—H +—8 mMA—A
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET

Advances received from customers  [a% P U EREI 23R

Sale of goods HEEY 9,991 8,173 7,098
Sale of properties SHEYE 586,577 540,656 -
596,568 548,829 7,098
Contract liabilities include advances received from customers in relation to sales of AHBEEREREEFAERRER
Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food products and advances received MEMATPRERNBRKILAEE
from buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sales of properties. TEEWHER B RWERAIEAK ©
(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within one year. () Hp e RIER S BEE—ER
g o

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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29. Unsecured Notes

(a)

Unsecured Notes 2024

Contractual
interest rate (%)
per annum Maturity

BRERE@%) ZFHA

Unsecured Notes 2024 1% 2024
T FEER R = U4

B 285 A Fi e

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

29, MEHCH SR

“ECNFRERRE

2021 2020
—E-—f —T-TF
HK$’000 HKS'000

FHET FHTT

199,348 181,220

On 19 May 2014, CAP established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium term
note program. The notes issued under the program are listed on the
Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only.
CAP further announced that interest on the notes will be payable
annually in arrears at the interest rate of 1% per annum.

CAP has totally issued 40 batches of notes with the principal
amount of HK$400,000,000 which bear interest at 1% per annum
on 30 May 2014, 11 June 2014, 25 June 2014, 2 July 2014, 10 July
2014, 18 July 2014, 28 July 2014, 29 July 2014, 26 August 2014, 30
September 2014, 6 October 2014 and 7 October 2014, respectively
(the “Unsecured Notes 2024"). The entire Unsecured Notes 2024 will
mature on 30 September 2024.

RZZE—MmERA+AB - FEF
B E 5 3% 37.1,000,000,00078 JT 2
REAREETE - RIBET BT 2
ERMMEMBEXREERITES
BT B RZ AT BT - BB E
M — F EMHRIEF SR T
Bt FRIEABI% -

FEEEGREAIR=-Z—HF
AA=+H —ZT—MWMEXA
+—B -ZF—HmNFEA=t+A
H - ZE—mW&+EA=H - =
T—NMFE+tA+H ZF—
E+A+NA - ZE—WEL
A=-+NB - —ZT—HWELA
—t+thB - —Z—HWENA
—t+ARB ZZ-—MmFEAR=TF
H - ZZ—WF+AXBE=Z
—HFE+ A+ RAEBET408 K
%8 5400,000,00078 L F FI R A
1% 2 FE ([ ZF = 0 F EE
ZH ) o — T UFEIEAEZE
BEHR—_T_mENLA=1TH
F|E] -
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29. Unsecured Notes (continued)

206

(a)

(b)

Unsecured Notes 2024 (continued)
Details of the Unsecured Notes 2024 are as follows:

Redemption period by CAP: Three specified redemption dates
from 31 December 2023 to 30 June
2024

Redemption amount on
the maturity date:

96.85% of the principal amount

Up to the Acquisition Date of the CAP Group and as at 31 March
2021, CAP has completed the repurchase of and cancelled the
Unsecured Notes 2024 in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$110,000,000. Accordingly, a principal amount of HK$290,000,000
remained outstanding as at 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$290,000,000).

The interest expenses on the Unsecured Notes 2024 were calculated
using the effective interest method by using the effective interest
rate of 11.1%.

Bonds 2020

On 19 November 2014, CAP entered into a placing agreement with
a placing agent for the issuance of non-listed bonds with maturity
in 2020 in an aggregate principal amount of HK$26,000,000 (“Bonds
2020").

CAP has issued the Bonds 2020 in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$26,000,000 on 5 January 2015, 13 February 2015, 30 March 2015
and 17 April 2015 to the subscribers with the interest rate of 3.00%
payable annually for those bonds issued on or before 18 February
2015 and 7.30% payable annually for the other bonds issued after 18
February 2015. The Bonds 2020 matured and were redeemed in full
by CAP on 18 February 2020.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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29. MEHCHPEIR )

(a)

(b)

“EoNFEEEARE ()
—ECMEERRRE 2 B
T

FEREMR —EfETEDBH
ZHEOH m-E_=Ft—
fE B=+—B%=%

—UERNA=TH

REEAR 2 A& F,296.85%

fEDIS%E -

HEFHERERSEEREB L
ER=—ZF=—%®=A=+—8"
FEREERD TAERREHE
N4 #8%58110,000,0008 T2 =%
ZHF R o MUt - R
TE-—F=A=1+—8 " X&E
290,000,000/ L (ZE=F

290,000,000/ 7T ) ik R {EE ©

T NFEEAEE 2B
THAEBRFER AN 1% BRE
FITREH -

—E_EFEH
RZZT—ME+—A+NAB - #F
Bl REmEREREF SR
HMABITR_Z_ZFI LS
#8778 /526,000,000 7T Z 3E £
BEHE(ZZE_TFEH]) -

FREEEGER=-ZT—AF—A
AR - ZE—ARAF=-A+=H"
—T—hHF=A=+HE=FE
—RAFENA+ERBITASAE
£526,0000008 T2 —E T F
BETREA  HPFRZ=ZF—A
FZRATNBRZAIBETZE
FEERNAER300% RN
T-RAF-_A+NBZ#EET
ZHMEFBFENFEAA
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31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

29. Unsecured Notes (continued)

(b)

Bonds 2020 (continued)

The fair value of the unsecured notes and bonds at the Acquisition
Date had been split into the liability and derivative components and
their movements are as follows:

29. MEHCHPEIR )

(b) —B-BEMES )
FEMERR AR IR A2
ATEERH RAERITETA
5 HEBWT -

Bonds 2020 Unsecured Notes 2024
“EZFES TECNERKARE

Liability Liability Derivative
component component component Total
=Nty 8EH2 TEIEBS et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHET

(note 25)

(PffzF25)
At 1 April 2019 N-E-AEMA—H - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries ULBE T B A) 25,853 178,513 (5,393) 198,973
Accretion of interest 2B R 5 147 2,707 - 2,854
Redemption el (26,000) = = (26,000)
Fair value gain NRELE = - (827) (827)

At 31 March 2020 and R-E-_TF=F=1+—A8K

1 April 2020 ZZT-ZTFMA—H - 181,220 (6,220) 175,000
Accretion of interest ZUEF| B - 21,028 - 21,028
Interest paid ERFE - (2,900) - (2,900)
Fair value loss NFEEE - - 2,356 2,356
At 31 March 2021 R-E-_—%=B=1+—H - 199,348 (3,864) 195,484

ML E LR AR A A
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30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings 30. kB AT R L Ath £ £
-
Contractual Contractual
interest NEEN
rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000 rate (%)  Maturity HKS'000
BNFIE%) £H T BENE®N  FH THAL
Current:
B :
Bank loans - secured HIBOR+(1.5t02)  Ondemand 162,000 HIBOR+1.5  Ondemand 135,000
RTER-FHR ERRIAERE REEEXE EARTRERE NEEERE
+(15EZ2E) +15E
Bank loans - secured HIBOR+  2021- 466,736 HIBOR+  2020- 500,655
(1.56t0 1.75)/ 2022 (15610 1.65)/ 2021
RMB base lending RMB base lending
rate + (0 to 1.85)/ rate + (0to 1.39)/
0.86t07.35 149t07.35
RTER-FHR ERRTEERE —-3--f% EARORERFE —B-TFE
+(156EZ1.758)/ Z—B-=fF +(156EZ1658)/ ZF=—F
ARBEEEHRR AREEEETFI%
+(0EZ1.858)/ +(0EZ139E)/
0.86EZ7.35E 149EE7 358
Bank loans - unsecured - RMBbase  2020- 17472
lending 2021
rate - 1.05
FITEH - BER ARBREENFZ —T-TFZ
e S
628,736 653,127
Non-current:
FEH
Bank loans - secured HIBOR+1.56/ 2022 - 626,092 HIBOR+1.56/ 2021 - 041,598
RMB base lending 2029 RMB base lending 2029
rate + (0 to 1.85)/ rate + (0 to 1.39)/
5.50t07.35 7.125t07.35
BIER-FHR ERRARERE -B--FF EARIRERFE —B--%%
+156E/ ZBhE +1568/ —B-NE
ARBEEEHAIR ARBEEEETF%
+(0EZ1.85E)/ +(0EE139E)/
5.50EZ7.35E 7125B 27358
Other loan - unsecured
EtEHR - EER
- Loan from a fellow subsidiary 10 2022 75,000 10 2022 75,000
-RE-RRZNBARZER 108 ZB-Zf 0B —Z-=f
701,092 716,598
1,329,828 1,369,725

208 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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(continued)

Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable:
Within one year or on demand

Notes to Financial Statements

30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

AR
BT HEE ZRITER :
—FARENEEERE (EE)

B 285 A Fi e

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

30. ®FE 84T B H 4t £ B ()

2021
—E_—F

2020
—ZT-TF

HK$'000
THETT

HK$’000
FET

(Note (a)) 628,736 653,127

In the second year F_F 99,736 114,023

In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE=EZNF(REEEMF) 309,085 236,052

Beyond five years AFEE 217,271 291,523

1,254,828 1,294,725

Other borrowing repayable: RIS FHRER HMES

In the second year F_F 75,000 -

In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EHF(PEEERTE) - 75,000

1,329,828 1,369,725

Notes: FiEE -

(@) Included in interest-bearing bank loans of the Group is a term loan with a principal (@) AEBZHERTERBEASE

amounting to HK$162,000,000 (2020: HK$135,000,000), of which the respective loan
agreement contains a repayment on-demand clause giving the bank the unconditional

right to call in the loan at any time and therefore, the respective loan amount has been

classified as current liabilities. For the purpose of the above analysis, the loan is included
within current interest-bearing bank and other loans and analysed into bank loans

repayable within one year or on demand.

162,000,000 T (=T =T F :
135,000,000/ 7T ) 2 £ HAE X+ H A8
BERGERE N EEEREEERG
o A TIRITEGMERER - AIBERA
BEZR - Bt - HEERDEARE
BE-FERDWTME + ZEERG
ARBF BBRITREMEER « Wi
—FRFREEEREEEZRTE
FEEFTHHT °

T EEEER AR A

—z-—srg 209



Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 A Fi

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings  30. #3847 & H At i 8 ()

(continued)

feE - ()

210

Notes: (continued)

(a) (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

agreements is as follows:

(a)

(#8)

RNI|EHR - 5 ERTREMEER
BERGAMESZFEERE R D
ZEHREANT :

2021
—E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET

Bank loans repayable:

BTG FEER 2 RITEK -

Within one year —FR 508,136 548,127
In the second year F-F 141,136 144,023
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=ZRE(BEEREME) 388,285 311,052
Beyond five years AELE 217,271 291,523
1,254,828 1,294,725
Other borrowing repayable: RS FEEER 2 A E R
In the second year FoF 75,000 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=ERF(BEEEWEF) - 75,000
1,329,828 1,369,725

(b)  Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by the Group’s property, plant and (b) AEBETRITERUAEEZY
equipment (note 14), owned investment properties and certain rental income ¥ BEREE(HE14) « BAKE
generated therefrom (note 15), properties held for sale (note 20) and financial assets at MEREEEZETESBA BT
fair value through other comprehensive income (note 18). 15) ~ #FEH E W (M a20) RIRA

FELEMEERGS AR HBEE
(PF7E18) fEIE A -

() As at 31 March 2021, except for the bank borrowings of HK$331,943,000 (2020: (© R-E-_—F=A=+—8 ' BT
HK$261,567,000) and other borrowing of HK$75,000,000 (2020: HK$75,000,000) from a B E 3319430008 (== F :
fellow subsidiary which bear interest at fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at floating 261,567,000 7T ) & 38 B — fE [R] ZK B
interest rates. B R a2 E b E 75,000,000 7T (=

T T4 : 75,000,000/ 7T) TR E T
MEET BN - FTBERITERENES
M=EE -

(d)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings which are (d) REBEU T EBHEZRITREA

denominated in the following currencies are as follows:

fEEZREENT

2021
—EBE-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FHT

HK$ T 885,519 883,237

RMB AR 444,309 486,488

1,329,828 1,369,725
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31. Convertible Notes

On 19 October 2016, CAP issued convertible notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$500,000,000 which bear interest at 7.5% per
annum (the "CN 2021"). The CN 2021 will mature after 5 years from the
date of issuance and can be convertible into ordinary shares of CAP at any
time between the date of issuance of the CN 2021 and the maturity date.
The CN 2021 are convertible at a conversion price of HK$0.4 per share.

The interest for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 was calculated
by applying an effective interest rate of 11.48% to the liability component
for the remaining period from the Acquisition Date of the CAP Group.

On 27 November 2020, the Company served partial redemption notices
pursuant to the terms and conditions for the early redemption of the CN
2021 for an aggregate amount of HK$130,000,000. Loss on redemption
of convertible notes of HK$3,933,000 was recognised and included in
“Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2021, the CN 2021 with a principal amount of
HK$134,800,000 (2020: HK$264,800,000) were outstanding and the
maximum number of shares to be converted is 337,000,000 (2020:
662,000,000) shares of CAP.
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31.

A B SR R

R-Z—RNETATIB vREER
TN 4258 45500,000,0007%8 Jo N HR
L7 50t B2 R ER([ =T =—
FEUBBRER]) o — T - —FA[HK
EREREITEERT AFEEE - I
AR-ZT = —FARRERIEITH AR
ZE|H A |- HARIBE R R 5 R B R A
TR - —T - —F AR R IRR
BR1E B %0478 T T LAEIR -

HE-_ZT- —FR_ZF_TF= ﬁ
=T—HBUEFEZMEDHEEDBS
¢IEEW%IW%E%iﬁ%T%ﬁ
FA1148% BRFEFE -

RZZBZZF+—HA=++RH  KAAF
IR AR R G35 B o B Bl A - DA
RAEE — T - —F o RREEEH
130,000,000 7T, © HE Bl Al A AR 1% 2 &5
183,933,000/8 T B BRI T AZE 18
S E A 2 E s RN BBz | ©

RZEZ—F=RA=+— =
T FuBRERzEAKREERS
% /134,800,000 T ( ZFE ZF F :
264,800,000/ 70 ) * Hx 1= A] IR 5
B /337,000000 R (ZZE =T £ :
662,000,0008% ) F B 2 2 AR 7 ©

A
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B FER 211



Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 A Fi

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

31. Convertible Notes (continued) 31. WIHB IR (s)
The fair value of the CN 2021 at the Acquisition Date had been split into TE—FAMRERRKEBSRZA
the liability and derivative components and their movements are as FEERDRABKITETARD - &
follows: BEMNT :

Liability Derivative

component component Total
&My TEIARD met
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THAT THT

(note 25)

(Pffz25)
At 1 April 2019 R-E-nEFmA—A - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) YR B 8 2 =) (Fft 5537) 248,415 1,201 249,616
Accretion of interest 2R B 1,399 - 1,399
Fair value gain NSIELE = (580) (580)

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 W_E_ZE=F=+—HAK

—ZE-TFMA—AH 249,814 621 250,435
Accretion of interest =Sy 7,849 - 7,849
Early redemption REFED (125,762) (305) (126,067)
Fair value gain NEERE = (279) (279)
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—F=A=1+—H 131,901 37 131,938
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32. Deferred Tax 32. EHEHIA
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as FRRELEHEAEREEZ ST ¢
follows:
Deferred tax liabilities BEEBEAE
Unrealised
fair value
gain on
financial
Depreciation assets at Fair value
allowance in fair value adjustment
Withholding excess of through other arising from
tax for related Revaluation of comprehensive  acquisition of
dividend  depreciation properties income  subsidiaries
BRAVESEM Rk
2EKEARZ WEAE
BBRARAE BREEC RS e
RERH <HERHE NXEfR RATEUE — ATESER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TEL THT TATL T TATL TEL
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NENA—A = 31,738 - 1832 - 33570
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WREEHIB AR (FiFH37)
(note 37) - - 488922 - 156,887 645,809
Disposal of subsidiaries LERBAR(HFS)
(note 38) - ) = = = (7)
Deferred tax charged/ ERRBRENGR/
(credited) to profit or (5t \) 2 BIERIB
loss during the year - (1363) 887 - - (476)

Deferred tax credited to FRREM2ENS
other comprehensive income 5t A\ ZIERER B

during the year - - - (1,832) - (1,832)
Exchange realignment R - - (12232) 5 (3922) (16,154)
At 31 March 2020 and RZZ-TF

1 April 2020 ZA=+-Bk

“E-TEMA-A - 30,368 477577 - 152,965 660910
Deferred tax charged/ FRRBEFIR/
(credited) to profit or (GTA) ZETF A
loss during the year 20,000 (1,183) 3,850 - (13,443) 9,224

Deferred tax charged to ERREMEERE
other comprehensive income ¥ Z L F11A

during the year - 582 - - - 582
Exchange realignment s - - 30934 - 9,073 40,007
At 31 March 2021 R-F_-%

ERET—F 20,000 29,767 512,361 = 148,595 710,723

ML E LR AR A A
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32. Deferred Tax (continued)

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as

follows: (continued)

Deferred tax assets

32. EREBLIA (a)

FRETHEABRAEZ SHNT -
(%)
BEREAE

Depreciation

Loss available in excess
for offsetting of related  Impairment
against future  depreciation of financial
taxable profit allowance assets
A AfEE
ARERB  HBEERE
BHZER RREZRE HEEERE st
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FHET T
At 1 April 2019 RZZE-—NFMA—H 34,824 4,954 498 40,276
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ~ FRMBERR A/ (1K) 2
profit or loss during the year EIERTE (8,440) (4,905) 111 (13,234)
At31 March 2020and 1 April 2020 R-ZE-_TF=F=1+—HK
—T_TFMA-H 26,384 49 609 27,042
Deferred tax charged to profit or FARERRARZ
loss during the year EAERITE (1,349) = (365) (1,714)
At 31 March 2021 W-_E-_—4F=A=+—H 25,035 49 244 25,328
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities HE2MEMTNE ETEEHBEEER

have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for
financial reporting purposes:

BEEESAUBMRKAEE - AT
RN B RET RS S B
Vi = 1R R AT

2021
—E_—F

HK$’000
FEx

HK$'000
THET

Net deferred tax assets recognised in R B BN R ANERNIELER B E &

the consolidated statement of FE
financial position 48 48
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in R4 A& F SRR AERARLEHRIBAE
the consolidated statement of bk
financial position (685,443) (633,916)
(685,395) (633,868)
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Notes to Financial Statements

Deferred Tax (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of HK$791,661,000 (2020: HK$697,634,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. The Group also has unused tax losses arising in
Mainland China and Macau with an aggregate amount of HK$455,024,000
(2020: HK$382,321,000) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
HK$326,748,000 at 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$324,403,000). In the opinion
of the directors, the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference and, accordingly, the Group has taken into
consideration, among others, the probability the temporary difference
being reversed in the foreseeable future, and recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable in the foreseeable future on distribution
of unremitted earnings by the Company’s subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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32. EREBLIA (a)

RMERAR - AEBMBERBEBEEZAR
B) A IEE 18 5791,661,0008 L (=F
— T 1 697,634,000/8 70 ) + A ERER
eI SE LR B 1B 2 A R 2 R R FERR R
A o AEE IR AR BN KR E
2 KRBT IBEE S 455,024, oooﬁé
TE(ZZ T4 : 382,321,000/ 7T) *
%%ﬁ%%%%%ﬁﬁﬂ’ﬁ%%*ﬁ
FFERER © BRKRIEFHIR A 1
BT B R BB E BB R ERIEER E
BEE o

BIEAR B EMBBUE - PR A
SN ZNEREREREINEEETIR
2 IR B EB100M BN - ZIEMRE
REZZEZNGF—A—BBER  BAR
—ETEF+ A=+ —HERDRZE
F) o fiwi R B At E38 SN B F BT R RlVE
R ABBIEL - BIRT a2 ARIETE
MBE - RAEEMS  BRABEER
5%3%10% ° Eit - AREE AR B ENH
BERHKRS 2 B ARGE T \F
—A—BRELZAFDIRZ KRS
BIH o

RZZT=—F=A=+—H  EBHKE
RELERBEEZ FBEAHERFZ
REBM LRFERES 326,748, ooo,%
TL(ZZZZF : 324,403,000/7T) °
ERE - KRR :%‘Jﬁé@iﬁﬁ-r%ﬁﬁ
Zﬁ%’ﬁm~$%leﬁﬁﬁ¢@
15) FAT] 78 R, 2R PR % B B s 2 58 2 A A
% RRAAFERRR - EARRERAFEH
AR B ARREELEZE
MoBREL B  ERALREEA
FEFTEETSH -

AR ) [A) B AR SRR AT S8 3 48 B 5 AT
FSHEE -
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33. Share Capital 33. kA
B

Shares

2021
—E=-—fF ==
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT T
Authorised: JATE ¢
60,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 60,000,000,0008% & 1%0.0178 T 2 E@AR
HK$0.01 each 600,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRAR
1,231,642,888 ordinary shares of 1,231,642,888 % & [%0.01 78 7T 2 E iBA%
HKS0.01 each 12,316 12,316

Share options
Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note 34 to the
financial statements.
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34. Share Option Scheme

The Company’s Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 September
2003 (the “2003 Scheme”) was terminated with the approval by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting held on
22 August 2013 and a new share option scheme of the Company (the
“2013 Scheme”) was approved to be adopted by the shareholders of the
Company on 22 August 2013. The 2013 Scheme will remain in force for a
period of 10 years from that day, unless otherwise terminated earlier by
shareholders in a general meeting. As a result, the Company can no longer
grant any further options under the 2003 Scheme.

Upon the termination of the 2003 Scheme, no share options were
granted thereunder but the subsisting share options granted prior to
the termination will continue to be valid and exercisable during the
prescribed exercise period in accordance with the terms of the 2003
Scheme.

The 2013 Scheme is for the primary purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible persons for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the board of directors may grant options
to directors and eligible employees of the Company or its subsidiaries to
let them subscribe for shares in the Company at a consideration equal to
the higher of the closing price of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange at the date of offer of grant and the average closing price of the
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options.

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days from the date of grant,
upon payment of HK$1. Options may be exercised at any time from the
date of grant of the share options up to the tenth anniversary of the date
of grant as determined by the directors at their discretion.

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect of which
options may be granted, when aggregated with any other share option
scheme of the Company, shall not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time excluding any shares issued
upon the exercise of options granted pursuant to the 2013 Scheme.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2013 Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the 2013 Scheme.
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34. HEEHERT S
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued) 34. JEBCHERT# (0
The Company’s Share Option Scheme (continued) ZIS’RﬁZE%BﬂEE“h%J(%E)
The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to RE_Z-—=FFEAI R TEERAL
an eligible person under the 2013 Scheme is not permitted to exceed 1% Zﬁﬁl‘}%&ﬁﬁﬁf&ZH%V@% ™MSHB
of the aggregate number of shares for the time being issued and issuable BIER-T—=F BN BT RAIE
under the 2013 Scheme. TR BB Z1% °
No share options were outstanding under the 2013 Scheme as at 31 March RZEZ—FR-ZT_TF=A=+—
2021 and 2020. H —ZE—=Fr8BmTHERRITE
A ARHE -
The following share options were outstanding under the 2003 Scheme RIE-BT=F58 - ATEBRENSE
during the year: AR ARITEE
2021 2020
—E_-F —TTF
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options  exercise price of options
R MEFH
THEE BREHE 1118 BEIREHE
HK$ HKS
per share ‘000 per share ‘000
SRET T4 BRAET
At beginning of year REA 7.420 16 7420 17
Expired during the year RERE® 7.420 (16) - -
Forfeited during the year RERRI - - 7.420 (1)
At end of year RER - 16
There were no share options granted or exercised during the years ended HE T - — KT -_ZFTF=A
31 March 2021 and 2020. =T —BLIEFE - BER I SATRER
BB ARHE -
There was no share-based payment recognised during the years ended 31 BE S - — GRS -_THF= 7
March 2021 and 2020. =T —HIEFE - SEERARG AE
TERIIR o
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued)

The Company’s Share Option Scheme (continued)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2021

There were no outstanding share options outstanding as at
31 March 2021.

2020

Number of options
fEAR R

Exercise price*

TT{EfE"
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34. JEBEREGTE ()

RNF Z B RER 8 (8)
REFRRARTEZEREZTEE
RATEHMT

—E-—F

R-ZT-—F=A=+—08 ' BEXRT
2 BERRAE -

Exercise period*
T ER~

‘000 HKS per share
T1n BRETT

7.420 12.5.2011 to 11.5.2020

—_E——FHA+-HE
—Z-TFHA+—H

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share options
outstanding under the 2003 Scheme (2020: 16,537 share options).

CAP’s Share Option Scheme

CAP adopted a share option scheme (the “CAP 2012 Scheme”) on 3 May
2012 whereby the directors of CAP are authorised, at their discretion, to
invite selected eligible persons (the “CAP Participants”) to take up options
for their contribution to CAP. The CAP 2012 Scheme will remain in force for
10 years. Under the CAP 2012 Scheme, the board of directors of CAP (“CAP
Board”) may grant options to the CAP Participants to subscribe for shares
in CAP for a consideration of HKS$1 for each lot of share options granted.
The exercise price is to be determined by the CAP Board and shall not be
less than the highest of:

(@)  the official closing price of the shares of CAP as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which
must be a business day (and for this purpose, shall be taken to be
the date of the CAP Board meeting at which the CAP Board proposes
to grant the options);

* EREZ TR E TR R AR
o A FIRR AR B A EL YA B
FLAEE -

RIREHR - ARRAR BT =452
EIBENTEERE(CZTF ¢
16,5371D BERARHE ) ©

HERERZBRES
BIEFEEERR-_T——FHA=H
Rz BREE((FREER -
——FHE]) PEEEREFER
RARERFERRERERAL(H
BRER2EE )RRSHPREE
mZ RN MEMNERE - FERER =
T FESEFTERR - RET
HEEM_T— 458 PERER
2EFe((THERERESE )AM
TEBERSEERLBRE  SFE
RPRETERERRD ZBREZ K
BRIBLT THRESATREERE
EBET  UNMERUATREZES
£

@ FEEERBRODRBEERHE
HAREXB(AgttTE - &
ERTHEEERESTSRZHARE
BREZTHEERESTESH
B R)EEZ e R REXRM
Z IEAWTHE

T EEEER AR A
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued)

220

CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued)

(b)  the average of the official closing prices of the shares of CAP as
stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(¢)  the nominal value of a share of CAP.

Pursuant to the CAP 2012 Scheme, the maximum number of shares in CAP
in respect of which options may be granted when aggregated with any
other share option scheme of CAP is not permitted to exceed 995,306,782
shares, representing 10% of the issued share capital of CAP as at the date
of this report. Subject to the issue of a circular and the approval of the
shareholders of CAP in general meeting and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time, the CAP Board may
refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of CAP’s shares
in issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of CAP in general
meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares of CAP which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the CAP 2012 Scheme and any other share option
schemes of CAP at any time shall not exceed 30% of CAP’s shares in issue
from time to time.

The number of shares of CAP in respect of which options may be granted
to the CAP Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the total number of CAP’s shares
in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess
of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of the shareholders of
CAP in general meeting. The participant and his associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) are abstained from voting and/or other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time. Options granted to
substantial shareholders of CAP or independent non-executive directors
of CAP in excess of 0.1% of CAP's share capital or with a value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by CAP’s shareholders.
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35.

Notes to Financial Statements

Share Option Scheme (continued)

CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued)

There is no specific requirement that an option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised but the CAP Board is
empowered to impose as its discretion any such minimum period at the
time of grant of any particular option. The period during which an option
may be exercised will be determined by the CAP Board at its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than ten years from
the date of grant.

No options under the CAP 2012 Scheme have been granted, exercised or
cancelled or have lapsed during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Reserves

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 100 and 101 of the consolidated financial
statements.

(i) Special reserve
The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of ordinary shares issued by the Company and the
aggregate nominal value of the issued ordinary share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in 1995.

(ii) Contributed surplus
The contributed surplus represents the credits arising from the
capital reduction effected by the Company less the amount utilised
for the purpose of the bonus issue of shares by the Company.
(iii) Other reserve
The other reserve represents the Group's share of other reserve of
its associate. During the year, other reserve had been released to
retained profits upon the completion of disposal of an associate.

(iv) Reserve funds

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China,
a portion of the profits of the Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland
China has been transferred to the reserve funds which are restricted

to use.
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35.
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36. Partly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material Non-  36.

Controlling Interests

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling
interests are set out below:

YA K JF 2 M A 2 A A
YA B & 2 W)

B BRI M 2 AR BB A
BRI :

Percentage of equity interest held by FEERERFE ZIREB AL
non-controlling interests:
CAP TREER 46.63% 46.63%
2021 2020
—E-—fF —T-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
(Restated)
(#&5E51)
Loss for the year/period from Acquisition FEREEMIIEERESDIEFE
Date to 31 March 2020 shared by WEAHEE-_T -_ZF=H
non-controlling interests of CAP =+—HILEHEZ &8 75,208 133
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RikE TR EERIEERERS 2
interests of CAP at the reporting date Syl 1,380,220 1,345,378
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36. Partly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material Non-  36. % Bk JE ¥R RE 4R 2 &84

Controlling Interests (continued) B P B 2 v ()
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of CAP TR B B R E A B 2 B s A R
Group. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: £ WEZSHER/NREMEEANLQA
T SH AT 2 S 88 -
Acquisition
Date to
31 March
2020
RUHE B e =
—T-_TF=H
—E=-—% =1+—HI-HM
HK$'000 HKS'000
FExT FAT
(Restated)
(& =%))
Revenue for the year/period F/HN s 619,716 44,166
Loss for the year/period F JHNEE (212,332) (14,320)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for F /HREmEEmkE S (E8)
the year/period 134,702 (75,230)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for F /fHRemiks (Ei8) a5
the year/period (77,630) (89,550)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating s (A ZRERE
activities FER 321,693 (18,508)
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEEMAZESREFHE (21,291) (2,080)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEERSHFAZELRERE (243,040) (7,468)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BeRESFREELMCRD)
cash equivalents F R 57,362 (28,056)
2021 2020
—B-—fF —ToFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FAET
(GESEE))
(& =%1))
Current assets mEEE 2,685,114 2,572,059
Non-current assets FEMENEE 2,147,498 2,909,734
Current liabilities mEAE (1,780,793) (1,308,670)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (1,191,956) (1,861,898)
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o :Z:—igﬁ 223



Notes to Financial Statements

S 85 A Fi

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

37. CAP Acquisition

The Group has elected to initially measure the non-controlling interests
in CAP at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of CAP’s

identifiable net assets at the Acquisition Date.

A gain on bargain purchase amounted to HK$571,478,000 (Restated) was
recognised in other income and gains in the Group's profit or loss for the
year ended 31 March 2020, which represented the excess of the fair value
of the net identifiable assets of the CAP Group over the aggregate cash
consideration due to the deep discount of market capitalisation of CAP

against its net asset value.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the CAP Group as
at the Acquisition Date were as follows:

Hh i R E i WAL I O

REEBEEZRPBEEERNKERD
AR BB B 2 FEFERR B 2R 2 16 L )
/u‘l’iEAEP.J_FDDZ#T iRt s o

HEE B UEE571,478,000/8 7T (& EF)
ERAEEHE-T-_TF=A=1+—
HIEFE 2z BmPERRE MU A R
& Bl ETRERERmEREE
EFEANEE  UBTBEEREREE
ZAHAFEEATFERBLARSNRE
BZ=%E o

RUFE R - PEIREmEB 2 T35
BENMBBZATENT

HK$'000
FrET
(Restated)
(g2E7)
Property, plant and equipment W - BE RZE 74,458
Investment properties REMHE 2,912,560
Properties held for sale RELEWE 1,685,600
Properties under development BRAPYE 292,320
Trade receivables 2 S REWGRIE 4,033
Loans and interest receivables e E TR T E 65,552
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTFRIE ?;z%&ﬁfﬁfgﬂﬁlﬂ’lﬁ 207,167
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BRATFELIESARZMEEE 5470
Tax recoverable AR ERiE 10,068
Restricted bank balances SR IR TR 9132
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBLERIER 364,928
Trade payable 2 5 BN RIE (49 098)
Other payables and accruals Hfth AR TE I FE ST B AR (481,987)
Contract liabilities G4 ’\]Efi (530 318)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss #ZA T EL B AR Y % E & (1,201)
Unsecured bonds and notes %Tﬁ#fﬁ#&ﬁ% (204,366)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings TRRITREMBEE (998,454)
Tax payable FERBiE (59,861)
Convertible notes AR E IR (248,415)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE (645,809)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BEATEFENTH#AIREEFE 2,411,779
Non-controlling interests FEFE R RERS (1,356,873)
1,054,906

Gain on bargain purchase recognised in RiERERAEMBRARKZEZ
other income and gains in profit or loss HEEE R (571,478)
Satisfied by cash LAZR & BT 483,428
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37. CAP Acquisition (continued)

The fair values of trade receivables, other receivables and loans and
interest receivables as at the Acquisition Date amounted to HK$4,033,000,
HK$77,185,000 and HK$65,552,000, respectively. The gross contractual
amounts of trade receivables, other receivables and loans and interest
receivables were HK$10,002,000, HK$78,010,000 and HK$66,759,000,
respectively, of which trade receivables, other receivables and loans and
interest receivables of HK$5,969,000, HK$825,000 and HK$1,207,000, are
expected to be uncollectible, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$6,039,000 for this acquisition.
These transaction costs have been expensed off and are included in the
administrative expenses in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2020.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of the CAP Group
is as follows:

B 285 A Fi e

31 March2021 —E=—F=A8=+—H

7. vh R A B T ()

RUEBE - BB HKIE - HifE
WREREREREFEZAFES
7Bl 4,033,000 7T * 77,185,000 JT &
65,552,000/ 7T © & 5 FEUGRIE - E A
EURHIBREWERRAE 2 BEHNE
85 5l £10,002,0007 7T © 78,010,000
JC K% 66,759,0007% 7T + B AP 78 HR A UK
Bl 28 S EWGRIE - H W E R
FEURE SR B FI B Bl A5,969,00075 7T
825,000/ 7T K& 1,207,000/ 7T

&R B 5t 5 AU E 46,039,00078 70,2
RBEA - ZERPERAD LT - TR
BHE-_Z-_ZF=A=1+—HILFEHN
B ARIETHRAX

EHERBTREERERZRESRED
T :

HK$'000
TR

Cash consideration paid in the year ended

HE-_Z-_THE=A=1+—HIFEEX{HZ

31 March 2020 WERE (483,428)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BElEsRe RIREEFRIER 364,928
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents AARERBzReNECHERREE

included in cash flows from investing activities [B7E B R 5 (118,500)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included AAREEB 2 HeRECWEETERS

in cash flows from operating activities (BN (6,039)

(124,539)

Since the acquisition, the CAP Group contributed revenue of
HK$44,166,000 and contributed a loss of HK$14,320,000 (Restated) to the
consolidated profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of that year, the
revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020 would have been HK$1,473,963,000 and HK$521,896,000
(Restated), respectively.

BlERERE  PEREREEALE
BRE—ZT-_TFE=FA=+—RHItEE
Z AR A m ) B B R 344,166,000 7T K&
EELE 814,320,000/ 7T (R &) ©

MEHREVHET  AKEEEE-ZT
—EFEZA=F+—HUEFEZKZE
it F i 5 Bl B 1,473,963,000 7 7T K
521,896,000/ T (&£ &) »

ML E LR AR A A
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38. Disposal of Subsidiaries 38. i HHE A W
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE—T-_ZF=A=1+—-HLEFE
Details of the net assets of the subsidiaries disposed of during the current RAFELENBARZEEFERE
year and the financial impacts are summarised below: B8 2 FISHAmT

Union Shiny
Target Wang To WWelgle! Total
i HE #Et

HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT T FAT FHET
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note ()
(Mi5E () (FF3ED)) (Mf3E )

Net assets disposed of: BHEBEFE

Investment properties KB E 53,088 47,000 52,800 152,888
Prepayments, deposits and ~ FEf3RIE - & R EMEK

other receivables FKE 24 - 1 25
Other payables and accruals — E b & {xt 7038 [ fe =1 & F (382) (300) (431) (1,113)
Tax payable FERBA - (56) (77) (133)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERRIEEE = @] 3) 7)
52,730 46,640 52,290 151,660
Professional fees and expenses HXEH KL 737 1,109 1,107 2,953
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries  H&HE A FEE (749) (1,105) (1,083) (2,937)
52,718 46,644 52,314 151,676

Satisfied by: AR A E
Cash Re 52,718 46,644 52,314 151,676
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38. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposals of Union Target,
Wang To and Shiny World is as follows:

B 285 A Fi e

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

38.

B B 8 2 W) ()

BE-—Z-_ZFE=A=+—HLEE
(%)
AR A HEME « Wang ToR HEIE 238

LRED :

Union Shiny
Target Wang To World
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET THET
Cash consideration EHERE 52,718 46,644 52,314 151,676
Professional fees and expenses HEERA KX (737) (1,109) (1,107) (2,953)
Net inflows of cash and cash HEMBARZRE KRS
equivalents in respect of ZRIEE RAFE
the disposal of subsidiaries 51,981 45,535 51,207 148,723
Notes: Bisk :

(a)

(b)

(@

On 14 June 2019, the Group disposed of Union Target Limited (“Union Target”), which
was holding an investment property with a carrying amount of HK$53,088,000, together
with the shareholder’s loan owed by Union Target to the Group to an independent third
party at an aggregate consideration of HK$52,718,000.

On 31 July 2019, the Group disposed of Wang To Investments Limited (“Wang To"),
which was holding an investment property with a carrying amount of HK$47,000,000,
together with the shareholder’s loan owed by Wang To to the Group to an independent
third party at an aggregate consideration of HK$46,644,000.

On 15 August 2019, the Group disposed of Shiny World Investment Limited (“Shiny
World"), which was holding an investment property with a carrying amount of
HK$52,800,000, together with the shareholder’s loan owed by Shiny World to the Group
to an independent third party at an aggregate consideration of HK$52,314,000.

39. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows

(a)

Major non-cash transactions
The Group has the following major non-cash transactions during the
year:

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of HK$42,966,000 and HK$46,538,000
(2020: HK$58,335,000 and HK$60,272,000), respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for leasehold land and buildings.

39.

@ RZZT-AFAATWBE  xE@EH
wAARAR(THE]) (FAKREEAE
53,088,000/ 7T Z 1% & W) 3£ ) 1 [F) # 3@
BRAEE2BRRERLET 2B

o e —

NE=F  #BRIER52,7180008TT

(b) RZZE—NFLA=1+—H  K&£E
#Wang To Investments Limited ([Wang
Tol) (575 BR T {E.47,000,0007% 7T Z #%
B ) ERWang TofE R R EE 2 %
RERLETFT—EBBIE=H ' R
18 546,644,00078 7T °

© R=ZF—AFNA+AHRA  ~EEHK
KEEZEERAR([HE])(FEHE
H{E52,800,0007 70 2 1% & W13 ) &R
HEBHERAEB 2 RERERLE F—
EBBAE=F  BRER52314,000
T °

B £ B 2 WL B A PR

(a) EEFRERH
FR-AKBEETI RS

%5

FAAEBEHEE 0 RE
FrHEXHE2ERABEER
HEBBZIRARAES A
42,966,000 JT [ 46,538,000% JT
ZZT =T : 58,335,000/ 7T K&
60,272,000/ 7T ) °

ML E LR AR A A
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39. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash

Flows (continued)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

39. %A Bl R R M RE )

(b)

METHEEZEBERE

Bank Unsecured
and other Lease Convertible bonds
borrowings liabilities notes and notes
RITR BEAESR
Hitifg & HESE TBRRER 2B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT FHET FHT
At 1 April 2019 RZZ-NFNA—H 852,227 122,890 = =
Increase arising from acquisition [ U BT 2 71 & o0
of subsidiaries 998,454 25,155 249,616 204,366
Changes from financing cash ~ MERLR=E
flows 54,784 (70,930) - (26,000)
Elimination of loan to CAP HIHTBRERER (525,000) - - =
New leases HEIEE - 60,272 - -
Lease modification HEEE] - 761 - =
Interest expense MEFX - 5,648 1,399 2,854
Fair value gain on derivative AMBRRE 2 ITETA
component of convertible 2D 2 A FEWES
notes - = (580) -
COVID-19-related rent %k & A ACOVID-1948R8
concessions from lessors HeR% = (1,743) - -
Foreign exchange movement  ShERE) (10,740) (616) = =
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April  R-Z-T&HE=A=+—H
2020 R—E-_TFPA—H 1,369,725 141,437 250,435 181,220
Changes from financing RERERER
cash flows (74,114) (68,671) (130,000) (2,900)
New leases #EIHE - 46,538 - -
Lease modification HEBET - (673) - -
Interest expense FEFRZ - 6,303 7,849 21,028
Loss on redemption of FE B Al R iR 2 1
convertible notes - - 3,933 -
Fair value gain on derivative AHMBRREZITETA
component of convertible 2D 2 A FEWES
notes - - (279) -
COVID-19-related rent 7% & ACOVID-1948k8
concessions from lessors HeES - (6,888) - -
Reassessment of a lease term  EREAITE LR ZREM
arising from a decision notto  E#FHATER
exercise the extension option - (11,430) - -
Foreign exchange movement  SNE R E) 34,217 2,027 - -
At 31 March 2021 R-B-—#=A=+-H 1,329,828 108,643 131,938 199,348

228

Annual Report 2021

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited



Notes to Financial Statements

39. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows (continued)

(c) Total cash inflow/(outflow) for leases
The total cash inflow/(outflow) for leases included in the statement
of cash flows is as follows:

S 5 e Fi

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

39. %A Bl R R M RE )

(0 HMERSRACRd)EHE
FFARERERZEER SR
A/ Gt s T

2021 2020
—E-—f —EREF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT T
Within operating activities REXE 5,404 (3,842)
Within financing activities REEH (68,671) (70,930)
(63,267) (74,772)
40. Pledge of Assets 40. &AM

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's bank and other loans
are included in note 30 to the financial statements.

41. Commitments

(@)  The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

RAEBRTREMEFEERNASE
BE AR RN B IR RS0 -

41. R
(@ RIBEHF  AEEYEAKE
M

2021 2020
—B_—fF —T-TE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Contracted, but not provided for: BRI 4B R A
— Property, plant and equipment — ¥ - BENKRE 5,780 1,924
— Properties under development — BRI 326 136,415
- Properties held for sale —BEHEYE 62,046 23,204
- Investment properties —KREWE 174,405 238,098
242,557 399,641

(b)  The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet commenced
as at 31 March 2021. The future lease payments for these non-
cancellable lease contracts are HK$1,438,000 (2020: HKS$1,516,000)
due within one year and HK$4,531,000 (2020: HKS$7,403,000) due in
the second to fifth years, inclusive.

b AEBEZEBEEAHAN=Z
——F=A=t+—HBHKMAKB -
REZSTAHEREEGHNS
AMER—ERNUNERE_FESF
AF(RIEEREME)ERZA
R E TR B A1,438,00078 7T
(ZZE=_ZF : 1,516,000 7T )
K4,531,0008 L (Z =T F :
7,403,000/ 7T) °

T EEEER AR A
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42. Related Party Transactions 42. BT 5
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) EHEEBEIZRZ
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial BREZ SIS mRE MM 2
statements, the Group had the following material transactions with RSN REE N E A E G
related parties during the year: ETATEARS
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT T
Wang On and its subsidiaries BEREME AR
(other than the Group) (BRAEE M)
— Rental income earned by the Group* — RNEBBREZ (i)
Ae U Ax 2,733 2,555
— Finance income on net investments —DHEREFBE L (vi)
in subleases P T ON 602 847
~ Sales of pharmaceutical products —AEE SRR (i)
by the Group* 4,628 8,818
— Recognition of right-of-use assets** —MERE AL E (iv) 1,351 11,859
— Interest expense on a loan incurred —KEBELXZ (iii)
by the Group ERASMAX 7,500 1,233
- Management fees incurred by the —REBEAZERES (i)
Group 1,155 297
Associates /NG|
— Sales of Chinese pharmaceutical —KREBHEEREER (i)
products by the Group 24,270 20,138
- Rental income earned by the Group — REBREZ (i)
HE2BA 1,642 1,967
— Finance income on net investments —DHREFEL V)
in subleases B IRA 73 142
- Management and promotion fees —REBHRIZ (i)
earned by the Group ERERSEE 1,076 1,051
Easy One 25=
— Interest expense on convertible notes ~ — AR ERE 2 (i)
B 10,199 1,933
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42. B R 5 ()

(a) Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) EEEHFZRZ (&)
Notes: BT
(i) The transactions were based on terms mutually agreed between the Group and (i) ZE R 5 IR R NG B B R
the related parties. F B RE Z RHETT o
(i) The sales to the related parties were made according to the published prices (ii) AR R 2 & TIRIR A
and conditions that the Group offered to its customers. SEmMAZFPRRHZBEAME
1 RAG(HHETT ©
(i) The interest was charged by a related party on a loan advanced to the Group. (i)  FAMHREBN TAREEZER
Details of the terms of the relevant loan are set out in note 30 to the financial WELHS. - HEAERZ &R
statements. FHIB R B R BT 30 ©
(ivy  On 1 June 2020, the Group entered into a three-year lease agreement with (ivv RZTZZTFA A—HB &%
a fellow subsidiary in respect of leasing a retail premise for the Group’s retail BHERRMBEARRETEET
operation. The amount of rent payable by the Group under the lease is EEBHETEYHEIL=F
HK$38,000 per month, which was determined with reference to the prevailing HEERHZ -  AEBBREHEE
market conditions in the vicinity. At the commencement date of the lease, the EHHEEEEAE A38000
Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability of HK$1,351,000 and BT W2 ZEAEE
HK$ 1,267,000, respectively. RS RMETE - REER
BEE AEERIAERAEE
EXREEEES 1,351,000
B TT 1,267,000/ 7T
(v  The Group entered into certain sub-licensing agreements with certain v) REEEE THE QRO HE
associates in respect of the sub-licensing of certain retail premises. The ETTEMETLE T AR
aggregate amount of rent payable by the associates under the sub-licensing & o BE D RRES M InEE
agreement is HK$265,000 per month, which was determined with reference to HHIF BT RS A 265000
terms mutually agreed between the Group and the associates. BT BT 2 E R E B R
&N A R E 2 6K E
o
(viy  The Group entered into certain sub-licensing agreements with two fellow (vi) AEEHEWERRHEQ B
subsidiaries in respect of the sub-licensing of office premises. The aggregate AHERAMETLET AR
amount of rent payable by the Group under the sub-licensing agreement is & o ANEBR RS BIHHRES
HK$619,000 per month, which was determined with reference to terms mutually ML EEARE H619,000%
agreed between the Group and the fellow subsidiaries. TC o WS REREBER R
BB A R RI7 E 2 &R T
w o
* These related party transactions also constitute continuing connected * ZEBE I R P IMERFHER
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. #ERH(EER ETHRAIE14A
&)
** These related party transactions also constitute connected transactions as > ZEME TR 5 I KR &
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules X5 (EHER EMARAE14A
&)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group (b) HAEEFEEBEAEZHE
2021 2020
=EB=—F =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Short term employment benefits %2 HifE B 4& A 2,829 4214
Post-employment benefits T BBk 14 18 51 /3
Total st 2,880 4,287

The above compensation of key management personnel excludes FRFEEEABZMETEE
the directors' remuneration, details of which are set out in note 9 to BEEMS - FEHRIBIREM
the financial statements. B

T EEEER AR A
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43. Financial Guarantees/Litigations

232

(a)

(b)

Financial guarantees
As at 31 March 2021,
approximately HK$56,787,000 to customers in favour of certain
banks for the loans provided by the banks to the customers of the
properties sold (2020: HK$63,518,000). Pursuant to the terms of
the guarantees, in the event of default on mortgage payments by
these purchasers before the expiry of the guarantees, the Group
is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals
together with the accrued interest and penalties owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any sales proceeds as
described below.

the Group provided guarantees of

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related properties were
pledged to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, in the
event of default on mortgage repayments by these purchasers,
the banks are entitled to take over the legal titles and will realise
the pledged properties through open auction or other appropriate
means. The Group is responsible for repaying the banks when
the proceeds from the auction of the properties cannot cover the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalties.

The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance of real estate
ownership certificates to the purchasers.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant and the directors
of the Company consider that in the event of default on payments,
the net realisable value of the related properties can cover the
repayment of the outstanding mortgage principals together with
the accrued interest and penalties.

Litigations

In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-
Product Grand Market Company Limited (“Baisazhou Agricultural”)
from independent third parties, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for their
respective 70% and 20% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural (the
“Baisazhou Acquisition”).

Since 2011, the CAP Group has been involved in a number of
civil proceedings in Mainland China and Hong Kong. The key civil
proceedings in Mainland China and Hong Kong in respect of the
Baisazhou Acquisition are set out below:

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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43. WHHER TR

(a)

(b)

BEER
RZZE=_—F=HA=+—8 "
AREEGRETRITMALEY
XZEPREZERAZER
ﬁ%%éAﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁFﬁ%
56,787,000/ T (Z T T F :
63,518,000 7T ) ° 1B & &R 1§
Fo WZEERNEREBATR
[iRigzIE - AIRNEEBEEEE
BEHNERINRITZAEER
BAReERRFTFERERK - H
B T SRRt 2 £ ] 85 & AT 158 K
IE o

Rig B 28 - AR EE ER
FRITERRBEROER R -
a2 F B R R M RIBER - B
TTRRRERTEE  UHES
AAMEREGEE S AERE
HRYE - WYEBEMEHA
EEREREERBASERR
#ﬂgﬁgﬂ'%$%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
FERITEEG BRA -

AEEZ ZRAERLBBEZES

ERERRBERERBAED
EFMAERERRILE

BERZAFELTERK - ARF
BEERE - WARREANEK - Al
MYz TR RFERDRER
EERBATERRFNE LI

Eo
A °

EEA

RZZZTLF FHEREMREE
MBYE= TR RANUKE
HEDRNRZEB DN EEIE R
AMBERAR(BALMNERIE
f 1) 2 70% K 20% 2 ([ 8N
WEEEIE]) -

BT ——Fi FEEERSE
ERFHE AR EAERE TR
R c RPEARHREEEHE
EPNEREERE 2 EEREFA
E IO NE
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43. MABIER TR @)

43. Financial Guarantees/Litigations (continued)

(b)

Litigations (continued)

In Mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu and the
CAP Group:

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced proceedings
against the PRC Ministry of Commerce ("MOFCOM") in the Beijing
Second Intermediate People’s Court, seeking, inter alia, a direction
that MOFCOM revoke its approval in respect of the Baisazhou
Acquisition.

Itis alleged by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu that:

a) Baisazhou Agricultural forged share transfer agreements
(the "Contended Agreements") in relation to the
Baisazhou Acquisition wherein the related consideration
was understated and the manner of settlement of the
consideration was inaccurately described;

b) Baishazhou Agricultural forged the related documentation
for filing with MOFCOM and the Hubei Administration For
Industry and Commerce (the "Hubei AIC"), and that such
documentation and the Contended Agreement involved
forged signatures; and

Q) MOFCOM and the Hubei AIC approved the Baisazhou
Acquisition and processed the related fillings on the basis of
the above documents that are allegedly forged.

In December 2015, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court
directed MOFCOM to reconsider its approval decision. In May
2016, MOFCOM decided that its approval issued in relation to the
Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and shall remain to be
in force (the “Reconsidered Decision”).

In August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced administrative
proceedings against MOFCOM in the Beijing Second Intermediate
People’s Court seeking to set aside the Reconsidered Decision.
In March 2017, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court
dismissed the application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (“31 March
Judgment”). On 20 December 2018, the Beijing Higher People’s
Court upheld the 31 March Judgment (“20 December Judgment”).
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to the Supreme People’s Court for
a retrial and for dismissal of (i) the 31 March Judgment, and (ii) the
20 December Judgment, but this application was dismissed by the
Supreme People’s Court on 29 December 2020.
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43. Financial Guarantees/Litigations (continued)

234

(b)

Litigations (continued)

In Mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu and the
CAP Group: (continued)

As advised by the CAP Group’s PRC legal advisor, the approval issued
by MOFCOM in 2007 in relation to the Contended Agreements
shall not be revoked and remain to be in force, and the CAP Group
continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou
Agricultural.

In May 2015, the CAP Group commenced legal proceedings
against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu in the Higher People’s Court of
Hubei Province (“Hubei Court”) seeking, inter alia, declarations and
orders that the sales and purchase agreements for the Baisazhou
Acquisition (the "SPA") have been legally made, and that Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge its
contractual duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with
MOFCOM (which were subsequently withdrawn in April 2019 in
light of the decisions in respect of the MOFCOM approvals). Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu filed their counterclaim for, inter alia, the return
of the CAP Group's 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural, which
was dismissed by the Hubei Court in December 2019 (“23 December
Judgment”).

In January 2020, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 23
December Judgment. On 29 March 2021, the CAP Group received
the judgment of the Supreme Court dated 29 December 2020
(the “29 December Judgment”) which upheld the 23 December
Judgment and dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. As
advised by the PRC legal advisors of the CAP Group, according to the
23 December Judgment and the 29 December Judgment, the CAP
Group continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou
Agricultural.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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43. MABIER TR @)

43. Financial Guarantees/Litigations (continued)

(b)

Litigations (continued)

In Hong Kong, CAP as plaintiff against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as

defendants:

In 2011, CAP issued a Writ of Summons in the CFl against Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu. CAP (as purchaser) sought damages from Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their breach of various provisions of the
SPA. Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu counterclaimed for, amongst others, an
order that CAP shall cause and/or procure the shares in Baisazhou
Agricultural to be transferred back to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

In 2012, CAP obtained a court order from the CFl to the effect that
undertakings (the "Undertakings") were given by Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu not to (i) indorse, assign, transfer or negotiate the two
instruments (purportedly described as promissory notes in the SPA)
(the "Instruments"); and (ii) enforce payment in relation to the SPA
by presentation of the Instruments until the final determination
of these proceedings or further court order. Pursuant to the
Undertakings, the Instruments will no longer fall due for payment by
CAP on 5 December 2012.

The CFl handed down its judgment on 18 January 2021 awarding
damages in favour of CAP for sums exceeding the sum owed under
the Instruments. The CFl also ordered that the damages awarded
to CAP be set-off by the sum owed under the Instruments, and that
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not be allowed to enforce the Instruments
against CAP. In effect, CAP is not required to make any payment
under the Instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian Jiu. CAP is seeking legal
advice for the recovery of the balance of the damages awarded to it.
Further, as the counterclaim of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu was dismissed,
CAP continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou
Agricultural.

Further details regarding the civil proceedings which the CAP Group
has been involved in can be found in the interim/annual reports and
announcements issued by CAP.
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44.

45.

236

Financial Instruments by Category

Except for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, and financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, as disclosed in note 18 and note 25, respectively, to the financial
statements, all other financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31
March 2021 and 2020 are classified as financial assets and liabilities at
amortised cost, respectively.

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial instruments,
other than those carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair
values, are as follows:

44.

45.

B S B i TR

BRIEZAFELEMEEREARZ T
BEREATFESEZARZVBEE
MEE (D BIEM BRI F18 R E
BRI REER T —F K=
T-TFE=Z A=+ —AXMEEMEE
BERBED B AREEK AT 2/
BEEKAE -

< ih T H 2 2P & P AR
FH
AEESBTACRAERATFEAE

BENS BT ARSI ZREERAF
BT

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE DTE
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2021 2020 2020
—E_—F
=A=+—8” = =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TERT T FTET FHT
Financial liabilities BMEaE
Interest-bearing bank and STERTREMEE
other borrowings 1,329,828 1,369,725 1,349,925 1,365,621
Unsecured notes EIEWEE 199,348 181,220 204,010 162,229
Convertible notes ARRERE 131,901 249,814 133,982 249,669
1,661,077 1,800,759 1,687,917 1,777,519

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank balances, trade receivables, net investments
in subleases, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, loans and interest receivables, trade payables and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the directors of the Company
are responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department
reports directly to the director and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance department analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the director. The
valuation process and results are discussed with the audit committee
twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.
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45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (continued)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, convertible notes and unsecured notes have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the Group's
own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
as at 31 March 2021 were assessed to be insignificant. The fair values
of the liability portion of the convertible notes and unsecured notes
are estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows using an
equivalent market interest rate for similar securities with consideration of
the Group's own non-performance risk.

The fair values of listed equity investments, listed debt investments and
listed perpetual notes are based on quoted market prices, except for one
investment which was determined based on the market approach with
reference to the prices recently paid for similar assets and the market
comparables due to the suspension of share trading of the relevant
investment. The fair values of unlisted fund investments are determined
based on the quoted market prices provided by fund administrators
with reference to prices derived from the over-the-counter market.
The fair values of unlisted debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income have been estimated using a discounted cash
flow valuation model based on assumptions that are not supported by
observable market prices or rates. The directors of the Company believe
that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique,
which are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position,
and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were the
most appropriate values at the end of the reporting period.

For the fair value of a listed equity investment designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income which is suspended for trading
as at 31 March 2020, the market approach is adopted and enterprise
value versus earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
("EBITDA") ("EV-to-EBITDA"), discount for lack of control ("DLOC") and
discount for lack of marketability ("DLOM") were used as inputs to the
valuation model. For the fair value of the unlisted debt investment
classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, management has estimated the potential effect of using
reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation model and
has quantified this as a reduction in fair value using less favourable
assumptions, and an increase in fair value using more favourable
assumptions.
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45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial = 45. & TH 2 2 FH &2 FHE

Instruments (continued) EH )

The fair values of the embedded derivatives in unsecured notes and ERRRE R ATRRER 2 RARITE
convertible notes are determined by valuation techniques and based on TEMRFHETAMEER AL R ETIS
assumptions on market conditions existing at the end of the reporting TR IR E IR — B R BRI R T A
period. The valuation model requires the input of subjective assumptions, E e ZMEEAFTEETHRERE ALY
including the expected volatility, discount rate, risk free rate and mean % BEEEKE - RE - EERF
reversion. ERIGEEE °

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of LATAR_E_—F R _FF=H
financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at =St HEeRmITEMEZERTAHE
31 March 2021 and 2020: BABBHEREEHUREDN

Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair value

technique unobservable input to the input
fRER % EATAEERARE AVEHBABEZHRE

As at 31 March 2021
R-B--%=A=+—H

An unlisted fund investment Discounted cash flow Credit spread 2.4% to 2.9% 1% increase/(decrease) in discount
classified as financial assets method EREE 2.4% Z 2.9% rate would result in (decrease)/
at fair value through profitor BB LR EE increase in fair value by
loss (HK$153,000)/HK$ 154,000

PERENTEEBR AR I WREEN/ (RPN %HELDFE
BEZFLEMESRE CRD) /4 n(153,000%7T) /

154,000 7T
Risk-free rate 0.19% 1% increase/(decrease) in risk-free
R e R % rate would have no material

impact on the fair value
ERBAMEEMCRD) % TEHA

TEERNEATE
A derivative component from Binomial model Expected volatility 59.9% 1% increase/(decrease) in expected
convertible notes classified as  —IBXEBER TAHRIE volatility would have no material
financial liabilities at fair value impact on the fair value
through profit or loss FEERIRE N, R ) 1% TS WA T
PERENTEEBR AR IS SN2+
BEZARRERZITETA
o
Discount rate 15.9% 1% increase/(decrease) in discount
I & rate would have no material

impact on the fair value
FRELN,/ (BP9 T EHATE

BREATE
Risk-free rate 0.04% 1% increase/(decrease) in risk-free
ERE A x rate would have no material

impact on the fair value
ERBANEEMCRD )% TEHA
TEERNEATE
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45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (continued)

Valuation

technique
fRERZE

Significant
unobservable input
BATABERAYE

45.

Range
BE

Notes to Financial Statements
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S ih T H2Z AP KA FE
&8 ()

Sensitivity of fair value
to the input
AVEHBABBZHRE

As at 31 March 2021 (continued)

RZBE-—F=A=+—H(E&)

A derivative component from
unsecured notes classified as
financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

PEARNTEEER AR TS
BEZEERZERZTETA

5

As at 31 March 2020

R-Z-BF=ZA=+-H

A listed equity investment
classified as financial asset
at fair value through other
comprehensive income and
the share trading of which
was suspended

PERAELATELEMZAKEA
KB EEERNEFEER
2 FTRiERE

Hull-white one factor
trinomial model

R EFE—EE=8
EEER

Market approach
%%

Volatility
g

Discount rate
EiERS

Mean reversion

BERS

EV-to-EBITDA
S EEEHBITDA

DLOC

DLOM

0.32%

11.7%

24.6%

7.7 times
77f%

16.7%

25.0%

1% increase/(decrease) in volatility
would have no material impact on
the fair value

WM/ (RO Ne T e HATESE
PEYN-Z

1% increase/(decrease) in discount
rate would have no material
impact on the fair value

FREEN,/(RD) 19T EHATE
EREAYE

1% increase/(decrease) in mean
reversion would have no material
impact on the fair value

HERSEN (AP NN T EHATF
BENERTE

1% increase/(decrease) in EV-to-
EBITDA would result in increase/
(decrease) in fair value by
HK$21,000/(HKS21,000)

CEEEYBITDAEM, /(B ) 1%
LATFEEM, (R)21,00057T,
(21,0007t)

1% increase/(decrease) in DLOC
would result in (decrease)/increase
in fair value by (HK$167,000)/
HK$167,000

DLOCKE M,/ G ) 1%1§ < 1 F1E
OR),/1(167,000%7T),/
167,000787C

1% increase/(decrease) in DLOM
would result in (decrease)/increase
in fair value by (HK$181,000)/
HK$188,000

DLOMIE AN,/ (R ) 1%#5 2 A TR
(R, (181,00087T),/
188,000/ 7T

T EEEER AR A
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45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial = 45. & TH 2 2 FH &2 FHE
Instruments (continued) F M w0

Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair value

technique unobservable input  Range to the input
fRERZE BATABERASE &BE AVEHBABBZHRE

As at 31 March 2020

(continued)

R-BE-ZF=A=+—-0 (&)

A derivative component from Binomial model Expected volatility 73.8% 1% increase/(decrease) in expected
convertible notes classified as  —JA= FEEN B IR volatility would have no material
financial liabilities at fair value impact on the fair value
through profit or loss BEREEM, CRO NN EH

DERRATELER AR ATEERENTE

2B A B HRRRE
BETET A

Discount rate 14.7% 1% increase/(decrease) in discount
EIEEES rate would have no material
impact on the fair value
FEREEM/ (BD) 1% T EHATE

BEREATE
Risk-free rate 0.59% 1% increase/(decrease) in risk-free
BRI FE rate would have no material

impact on the fair value
|ERBEHEEM (RPN TS EH
ATEERENTE

A derivative component from Hull-white one factor Volatility 0.13% 1% increase/(decrease) in volatility
unsecured notes classified as trinomial model KR would have no material impact on
financial assets at fair value MEREFE—RAE the fair value
through profit or loss —HATEER WIEE N, CRd )1 fednFESE

PERBRATEEES AR M RERFE
BEZEEAZENITETA
i

Discount rate 15.8% 1% increase/(decrease) in discount
I & rate would have no material

impact on the fair value
FREEM,/ (RO N T EHATE

BEREATE
Mean reversion 3.0% 1% increase/(decrease) in mean
HERE reversion would have no material

impact on the fair value
BEEGEM/ (R 1% T &L
ATEERENTE

240 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021



Notes to Financial Statements

45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the

Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 March 2021

Financial assets at fair value through R AFELE M2 EUK S

S B A M

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

45. & T H2Z 2 FE kA FE
=350

ATEER
TRUPAEEERTAY ATEN 2
B4

BATEIEZRE -

R-B=-—-F=A=+—H

Fair value measurement using
EATSEEZAFENE

Quoted
prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)
RWERME
ZHE
(F—%&)
HK$'000
TEx

Significant  Significant

observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3)
EATEE BAFUTEE
PN ¢4 BWAHE
(£=®&) (E=#) gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEx THET

other comprehensive income: ARZHBEE
Listed equity investments EHRERE 146,857 - - 146,857
Listed debt investments FHEBERE 124,378 - - 124,378
Unlisted debt investments JEETHERRE 11,580 - - 11,580
Financial assets at fair value through B AFELERZAEZ

profit or loss: BREE :
Unlisted funds ELEMES - 58,600 40,072 98,672
Listed equity investments R E 67 - - 67
Derivative component of unsecured — EEZiE 7 74T A

notes B - - 3,864 3,864

282,882 58,600 43,936 385,418
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45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial = 45. & TH 2 2 FH &2 FHE

Instruments (continued) =350

Fair value hierarchy (continued) REEZERE)

Assets measured at fair value (continued) BRAFEFECEEE)
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-_FTF=HF=+—H

Fair value measurement using
ERTIISE2 N FEE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
RIE BT % EAABR BATAEER
ZRE PN ¢ & A\ 2%
(%) (B=#&) (B=%) HEt
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TR THT FAT

Financial assets at fair value through &2 AFELE 2 AR AR

other comprehensive income: ZHEEE :
Listed equity investments ETIRRERE 37,901 - 13,965 51,866
Listed debt investments FTHEBERE 121,354 - - 121,354

Financial assets at fair value through  RAFELEZARZ

profit or loss: MEE
Unlisted funds FEmES - 50,382 - 50,382
Listed equity investments TR E 73 - - 73
Derivative component of unsecured — XIRZiE 7 (74T A

notes 2B - - 6,220 6,220

159,328 50,382 20,185 229,895
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45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial = 45. & TH 2 2 FH &2 FHE

Instruments (continued) 350
Fair value hierarchy (continued) REEZERE)
Assets measured at fair value (continued) RAFEFEZEE (F)
The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the years are RATEE @ F=ERRTEFEZ2EH
as follows: W
HKS'000
T
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—NFW™A—AH 702,995
Acquisition of subsidiaries )= 5,393
Gain recognised in profit or loss PIERER 2 WS 827
Imputed interest income recognised in profit or loss Bz IER 2 (H5TF 2 WA 2,259
Redemption of debt investments FEEIEBIRE (175,000)
Debt investments refinanced by a loan receivable HERZERERBREZEFRE
granted (525,000)
Gain recognised in other comprehensive income R E Ath 2 T U e AR 2 Wies 8,711
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZZE=FTF=A=1+—HBK
—ECEFMA—H 20,185
Additions NE 38,796
Loss recognised in profit or loss RIBZP R Z 8 (1,080)
Transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 (note) HE=RBHEE R (13,965)
At 31 March 2021 RZTE=_—F=RA=+—H 43,936
Note: The transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 was due to the resumption of share trading of an izt : AE=AEBEFE R IIERIEATF
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income during the year. BEEH M2 EME AR ZRIERE 2
The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfer out of Level 3 as at the date BHRERNREEE - KEBMBUR
of event on change in circumstances that caused the transfer. RREHEBR 2 ERLLREEE AR

REBARELE=R 8% -

LT EETR AR A A
o :Z:—Egﬁ 243
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45. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial = 45. & TH 2 2 FH &2 FHE

Instruments (continued) =350

Fair value hierarchy (continued) REEZERE)
Liabilities measured at fair value BAVESEZARE

As at 31 March 2021 R-B-_—%=HA=+—H

Fair value measurement using
ERATIEEZALETE
Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
inactive  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

WERME BEATEE BAFITEE

ZHE WARE WARE
(5—%8) (=) (5=#) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET FTERT

Financial liabilities at fair value through &2 FELERS AR Y

profit or loss: BBars:
Derivative component of AR EEZITETA
convertible notes 5 - - 37 37
Interest rate swaps FZ= 5 HA - 810 - 810
- 810 37 847
As at 31 March 2020 R_E-_ZTF=A=+—H

Fair value measurement using
FERATISE AT E =
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (ESVEW) (Level 3)

RIE B TS EAHE EATITHE

ZHRE N6 B A\ 2%
(B—) (F=/) (B=8) t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT THT

Financial liabilities at fair value through #ZAFELEBREAEZ

profit or loss: BBas:
Derivative component of convertible — AI#RZiE 2 74T A
notes 5 = - 621 621
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Notes to Financial Statements

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the years are
as follows:

45.

B 285 A Fi e

31 March2021 —E=—F=A8=+—H

S ih T H2Z AP KA FE
&8 ()

AFEER ()
BATEHE A ()
RUTEE - S=MATHEIEZ 2D
o

HK$'000
THET

At 1 April 2019 —F-NFHEA—H -
Acquisition of subsidiaries )= 1,201
Gain recognised in profit or loss PIERER 2 WS (580)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZZE_ZFTF=A=1+—HBK

—ECERFNMA—H 621
Early redemption T RIEE Ol (305)
Gain recognised in profit or loss RIEEPER 2 WS (279)
At 31 March 2021 WZZEZ—F=HA=+—H 37
Financial Risk Management Objectives and  46. M # a8 A H AR R EOR

Policies

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
unsecured bonds and notes, bank and other borrowings and convertible
notes disclosed in notes 29, 30 and 31 to the financial statements, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the parent,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FEHEBHEEANBRRTEESE
ARELE  FRNEERCERLERS
B FEEE IR NAR @R - AEEES
REEREFHEFFE o

B B &

ki

AEBEAGEBEEEFHE(BER
B RS RR M 520 « 30 313K FE 2 KA
BEHREE - RITREMAEE KT
BRER) KRB RRESEREE M
RO AREA AELER(BEBEET
BRA - EERRBRF])

AAREEGLFEMNELREE - 31F
RENME B REAERZKA
REXERIERNBE AR - RIZES
& AKEERETHRD - BE
Bty REBETHEBHERREER - F
EERREARE -

ML E LR AR A A
T —FFR
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

a.

246

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade receivables,
loans and interest receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, net investments in subleases, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, cash
and cash equivalents, restricted bank balances, trade payables,
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, bank and other
borrowings, unsecured bonds and notes, convertible notes and
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market risks
(currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), liquidity risk and credit
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective
manner.

There has been no significant change to the Group's exposure to
market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the
risk.

Market risks

(i) Currency risk
The Company and several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases and foreign currency
bank deposits, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. Substantially most of the Group's bank deposits and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are denominated
in the relevant group entities' functional currencies.
Substantially most of the Group's sales and purchases are
denominated in the relevant group entities' functional
currencies.

The Group currently does not implement hedging activities to
hedge against foreign currency exposure.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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(%)

MR EE B ERBUER

AEECZTRZSHMTABEES
FEW IR - BRMEREAE - &
AFARFRIR - 22 R E Al g UK
HZWBEE RIAFEER
B ARCHBEE  HHRE
FHE - BATELEMERKE
ANERZHBEE R MREF
FIEE - XEHIRTESR B
FEA IR - AT ELESAR
ZHBaE  RITREMES
EERMEFLRE - JBERRE
Kt AR TR K BT B
ZHBaE ZEFEMTAZF
BREBMERE - E22%F2
BT EMAHEZRERSENSE
B(E®mERE - MR RER
RAk)  RBELEBRREER
% o BRAADREZ Z R B 2 B
RENTX - EEEEERER
HHRA R R A TR K B A M E &

B

AEBAFE 2 THARLLE
BRI BABARY FATEE
KEH -

5 Rk

() EBEEERE
ARal REZEHE A A
LASNEE 31T B9 B B LA R 4h
BRITERSASEER
SMNERKR o N5 B4R A
DRITER KT RBRITR
HUERABHREEEE
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BREHEEANEHE
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risks (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign exchange rate
fluctuation of the foreign currencies stated above against the
functional currencies of the respective group entities.

If the RMB exchange rate had increased/decreased by 5% and
other variables were held constant, the Group's loss for the
year ended 31 March 2021 would have decreased/increased
by HK$80,000 (2020: profit for the year would have increased/
decreased by HK$56,000).

The Group's exposures to currency risk of other currencies
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 30 to the financial
statements) and bank deposits (see note 26 to the financial
statements) at prevailing market interest rates. The Group
monitors the movement in interest rates on an ongoing basis
and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should
the need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of
this note. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of one to three months Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate. To management its interest cost,
the Group entered into interest rate swaps in which the Group
agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference
between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated
by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount.

B 285 A Fi e
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46. BB A B

BHH R &R

(%)
a. UERBREEBRERBEKE)
35 [ B ()
() EBEEERE)
BURE DT

(ii)

T EEEER AR A

AEBETEM|ER LRoME
AEEEERENEERZ
SMNEIRED R ©

HARBER EF T &
5%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm“§& ’E%ﬁ
g AEEHE =
i:H:JF*EHJ:iEZ
&5 18 15 > 45 180,000
BL(ZTE_TF  FR
i ) % 38 0 IR 2> 56,000
BIT) °

EXSRBRASEEMEK
ZERRRITEKX - A
I I AR SRR DA ©

T3
AEBEBRSMEN R
ZEFZBRITEE(R
BB |mKRMIEE30) RIRE
RIS M R 5 B ZRITF
R BImERME20)
ﬁ%ﬁ AEERERFEE
MEEH - WHRNEFR
xﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ/’?ijﬁﬂ$ﬂ

% o

BRAAREETBEENE

Z R EE R AN IR
PESREBER —F - K
SEBRERENERABE
EETR—E=EAAEFE
RITRZESF B ZBNE © &
EEENBKA - AEH
RIS AIZIEHY - Rk - A
SEREZRSEAHRZR
HEBRRANSRFTEZE
ENFBHNESRLLER
EITE R -

===

FER
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

248

Policies (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risks (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings and bank deposits at the end of the reporting
period (after taking into account the effect of the interest rate
swaps). The analysis is prepared assuming that the amount of
liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnel and represents management's
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rates had increased/decreased by 50 basis points
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's loss
for the year ended 31 March 2021 would have increased/
decreased by HK$3,332,000 (2020: profit for the year would
have decreased/increased by HK$4,244,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure to interest rates on its
variable-rate bank borrowings.

The Group's sensitivity to interest rates has decreased during
the current year mainly due to the decrease in variable-rate
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

The Group's exposures to interest rate risk on bank balances
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.
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Notes to Financial Statements

46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Market risks (continued)

(ii)

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments included in financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (note 18) and financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (note 25) as at
31 March 2021. The Group's listed investments are listed on
the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices at
the end of the reporting period.

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange at the close

of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end
of the reporting period, and its respective highest and lowest
points during the year are as follows:

31 March
2021
—E_—F
=A=t-A
Hong Kong B
— Hang Seng Index —BAEH 28,378

The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring the
price movements and the changes in market conditions that
may affect the value of these financial investments.

B 285 A Fi e
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46. W o5 b 4 B H BR B B3R

(%)

a.

High/low
2021
—E-—F
=/

31,183/
22,520

T EEEER AR A

B AREE R ERBK(H)
% Bk ()

(i)

BB

B RREEEBRELES
KFERERES 2 EEE
BUBBRAESQFET
fRZEK MN-_T——4F
=A=+—8 A5EHA
SFARAFELE MR
Ur 25 A BR 2 B1 15 & B (i
F18) RIZ A FELE =
ARZHBEE,/AFE
(T 5E25) B E IRk 4 &
i T B AR 4 (B AR LR o AN
SEZ EHREE B
REFET - WIARE HIR
Z TSR E#EITEE

REAREHRNR S A
BRI R - BEAPT

2GR E R EFR
R R RERNT

31 March High/low
2020 2020
—T-TF —EoTE
=R=+—H =/ B
23,603 30,280/
21,139

AREEBTIELRRE
RSN BREERYE
ZEREDRTHITES
BREBLET AR -

T —FFR
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

46. W o5 b 4 B H BR B B3R

Policies (continued) (%)
a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) a. HEERSEBEERBR(E)
Market risks (continued) i Rk ()
(i) Price risk (continued) (i) (BIEER (E)
Sensitivity analysis BREEST

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10%
change (2020: 10% change) in the fair values of the listed
equity investments with all other variables held constant and

before any impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts
at the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of this
analysis, for the listed equity investments included in financial

assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
the impact is deemed to be on the fair value reserve (non-

recycling).

TR E TR H A F R R
TEW B RFTERETE
AT+ ETIAREIRE RS
HRZBREE HHAF
B10%EB(ZT_FF :
10%28)) 2 BURE ° A
AWM E - HEAKRAF
EEEMEEEEARZ
MEEEN EMRERE
2B RIEH AT ERE
(CICGIEIE (L9473

Increase/
Carrying Increase/ (decrease)
amount (decrease) in other
of equity in profit components
investments before tax of equity
REREZ MR ADER REZHIS
RREME 8 CRd) #@i082)
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT FHT
2021 —E-—F
Equity investments listed in RED L2 IR
Hong Kong: & :
- Financial assets at fair value  —3Z A FELLEZ
through profit or loss AR BB EE 67 7/(7) -
- Financial assets at fair —RATELHEA
value through other EEBZARZ
comprehensive income IS EE 146,857 - 14,686/(14,686)
2020 —E-TF
Equity investments listed in REB L2 IR
Hong Kong: & :
- Financial assets at fair value  —3Z A F(ELLEZ
through profit or loss ARZ BB EE 73 7/(7) -
- Financial assets at fair —RATFELHEA
value through other EEBEARZ
comprehensive income B EE 51,866 = 5,187/(5,187)
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The maturity dates of all financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest cash flows are at floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate at the end of
the reporting period.

On demand
or less than
1year
DR—F
HK$'000
THAT

As at 31 March 2021 R-B=--5=8A=+-H

1to 5years

—ER%
HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT
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46. W o5 b 4 B H BR B B3R
(%)

a. UBEREEEEREEGE)
REBE SR
ERRBESRRIHE  AEE
EREREFEREERRTMHA
RS FEREBKF  ABA
SEZERHES MBERSM
EBRHTE - EBEABERRT
%EE% C WHERE T KRR

RBE = R EE R R
TRAJAREEMEEERGES
WEH - WRBBAEERFA
EERRZUBEBERTRRAS
MEmH - IEMBEEZEH
BTSERBEENEH -

TREFMNERASRERE -
WMAMBRERERTE - KR
SRAREMEHRZFIE -

Total
undiscounted
cash flows
AFERE
TEBAE HREE
HKS'000 HK$'000

Carrying
amount

Over 5 years

HENE
HKS'000

Trade payables B O RENNE 72,204 - - 72,204 72,204
Other payables and accruals  H it e 2008 K fE =1 £

(excluding lease liabilities) — (AE& &I 430,540 3,004 - 433,544 433,544
Lease liabilities HEAE 59,819 54,932 4,556 119,307 108,643
Bank and other borrowings - $R/TRH &R -8

variable rates 484,143 310,578 168,279 963,000 922,885
Bank and other borrowings - $R{TREME R —E &

fixed rates 189,059 230,546 57,043 476,648 406,943
Unsecured notes BIREZE 2,900 289,565 - 292,465 199,348
Convertible notes RRERE 139,750 - - 139,750 131,901

1,378,415 888,625 229,878 2,496,918 2,275,468
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_ZEF=fA=+—H
Trade payables B I ENE 66,709 - - 66,709 66,709
Other payables and accruals  EfENZE R fEst B

(excluding lease liabilities)  (FE&ERIN)

(Restated) C<EXT) 303,082 3,164 - 306,246 306,246
Lease liabilities HEEE 69,925 82,330 4,206 156,461 141,437
Bank and other borrowings - TR EMEE—F8

variable rates 531,820 358,616 241,346 1,131,782 1,033,159
Bank and other borrowings - ST REMEE T E

fixed rates 174,871 157,902 69,917 402,690 336,566
Unsecured notes BRAZE 2,900 292,465 - 295,365 181,220
Convertible notes eSS 19,860 284,660 - 304,520 249,814

1,169,167 1,179,137 315,469 2,663,773 2,315,151

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest
rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

i) B2 L L3 5 B K P 58
ZEFEZ A5 RE - BIA LR
FTEFBRBEZZETARA
Z BRI TEHES) o

T EEEER AR A

—z-—grg 251
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

a.

252

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In order
to minimise the credit risk on trade receivables and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for the determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual receivable
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March. For listed debt investments, the Group
also monitors them by using external credit ratings. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and  46. I % &l kg & B H £ &% B3R

Policies (continued) (%)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) a. BHHEREEEERBX(E)
Credit risk (continued) FERR ()
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZB-—F=A=+—H

12-month
{d K Lifetime ECLs
1218A
RHEE
[} 2HRBEEHE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-RR EZRR SRR b5 % #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THER THET THERT

Listed debt investmentsat  ZAFELE M2 E RS AR
fair value through other 2 EMEBEE
comprehensive income

-Bato CCC —Ba E CCC 122,590 - 1,788 - 124,378
Unlisted debt investments at #2/A FELE 2 E s AR

fair value through other 2 ETERRE
comprehensive income

-B -B 11,580 - - - 11,580
Trade receivables* B 5 A" - - - 71,542 71,542
Net investments in subleases SR EFE - - - 13,348 13,348
Loans and interest EME TR T2

receivables 16,007 1,656 57,475 - 75,138

Financial assets included in -~ st ATENFIE - k& RE M E
prepayments, deposits WERIB v SIS B - EE*
and other receivables -

Normal** 129,272 14,274 - - 143,546
Restricted bank balances TR &R 22,302 - - - 22,302
Cash and cash equivalents  H4&KBRELERIER 507,234 - - - 507,234

808,985 15,930 59,263 84,890 969,068

ML E LR AR A A
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and  46. I % &l kg & B H £ &% B3R

Policies (continued) (%)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) a. HEERSEBEERBR(E)
Credit risk (continued) EERE (&)
As at 31 March 2020 RZE_ZF=A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

12{8 A

HEEE

B

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B IR F=EE Bbr%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL T FET T TET

Debt investments at fair BRATEEEMEEKEA

value through other Bz EREE

comprehensive income

- Baa to CCC -BaaZ(CC 117,560 = 3,794 = 121,354
Trade receivables* Z 5 ElkzuE" - - - 86,103 86,103
Net investments in subleases 2% & /F48 - - - 20,145 20,145
Loans and interest FEMCE TR FE

receivables 11,425 58,029 86 - 69,540

Financial assets included in &t ATEfT 3008 « 124 R A fhfE
prepayments, deposits W B E - ER*
and other receivables -

Normal** 144,752 20,401 - - 165,153
Restricted bank balances — S[B #I8R1T 48 8,157 - - - 8,157
Cashand cash equivalents  R&RASEREE 475,702 = = = 475,702

757,596 78,430 3,880 106,248 946,154
@ For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for @ A B FE R b T AR ER
impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 22 to BB SEKRFEMNS @ B
the financial statements. BB E 2 BRN R
RMTE22HFE -
o The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and = Et ATER IR ~ 2E REAM
other receivables is considered to be "normal” when they are not past due and FEMGRIE 2 B 75 5 E = SR 48
there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant RGBT EEES Y
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of IRERAR Z EE AR EEIG
the financial assets is considered to be "doubtful". m- EEEERBEK/IER] -

BRI MBEEZFEERS
RS [1F5E] -
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46. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Notes to Financial Statements

Policies (continued)

b.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders' value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company. Net debt is calculated as the total of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, unsecured notes and convertible notes,
less cash and cash equivalents. The gearing ratios as at the end of
the reporting periods were as follows:

Interest-bearing bank and other FTERIT REMEE (H7E30)

B 285 A Fi e

31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

(%)

b.

46. W o5 b 4 B H BR B B3R

BEXREE
AEEEAETENERBRER
EAREEFEL LN R
FZRBARLD] » BEBIREX
FRBRREERAL -

AEEBREEBERBENEEY
BAREEBETEBRAE - K
SETARMBRRKMGRE - &
IRE TR EITHRG - &
BT —GFR-TFTF=R
=t+—HIEFERN  EAEEN
BiZ - BRSiRp it LB
&) o

AEEFNBEELE (KRR FK
R A ARG R AEEF
BEZERN - BRFRIRE
BRITREMEE - BERRE
RABRERZ BERR S RE
SERABFE - HERRNE
AL R

2021
—E_—F
HK$'000

2020
—ETF
HK$'000
THET
(GESEE))

(L2 E51)

FET

borrowings (note 30) 1,329,828 1,369,725
Unsecured notes (note 29) EIKIRRIR (95E29) 199,348 181,220
Convertible notes (note 31) ATHRAR & (I 5E31) 131,901 249,814
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 26) & : & RIS ZEREE (Ki3E26) (507,234) (475,702)
Net debt B %58 1,153,843 1,325,057
Equity attributable to owners of BREIER AEEER

the parent 2,565,325 2,642,786
Gearing ratio BE = 45% 50%

ML E LR AR A A
T —FFR
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2021 —E=-—F=A=+—H

47.

48.

256

Events After The Reporting Period

On 18 June 2021, Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice”"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of CAP and a substantial shareholder of Yulin
Hongjin (the “PRC Shareholder”) entered into an agreement in relation
to the reduction of registered capital contribution of Century Choice in
Yulin Hongjin. Pursuant to the agreement, the PRC Shareholder waived
its entitlement to the dividend declared by Yulin Hongjin for the financial
year ended 31 December 2020 in the amount of RMB117,000,000
(equivalent to HK$138,388,000) and directed the same to be paid to
Century Choice, and the amount of registered capital contribution
by Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin was reduced by an amount of
RMB41,944,000 (equivalent to HK$49,611,000). As a result of such
reduction of registered capital contribution, CAP Group's equity interest in
Yulin Hongjin was decreased from 65% to 51%.

Further details of the capital reduction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated on 18 June 2021 jointly published with Wang On
and CAP.

Comparative Amounts

As further explained in notes 4 and 37 to the financial statements,
retrospective adjustment arising from prior year provisional accounting
was made, and certain items and balances in prior year financial
statements and explanatory notes have been restated.

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified and re-presented to
conform with the current year's presentation and disclosures.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2021
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48.
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RZZE=—FA+N\AB ' BEHERA
Al([BEE] AP ERERZEERE
MEBAR)EEMEEZ EEZRF(F
BARE ) FT M % © N A BRRER
BEREMNE#EZEMEREENTR
& REBEAEGE  PEREREE
EEMZERBE T _TE+_ A
=+ HULEVBEESERZBREAR
# 117,000,000 7T (16 & 7 138,388,000 7%
TO)ZRER  WIERKAEBEES N T
B MEAREMZENZMER
JEE R D AR 41,944,000 7T (FHE B
49,611,000/ 7T ) 2 & 78 ° LA _ L
BRFENRD  FREEREENE
MR Z BRHED B165%% 2 ZE51% ©

BB AR 2 — T BN AR A
BRZRPEEERBSTIEASAS
——FRATNBZAM -
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Notes to Financial Statements

49. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

FU 5 i B
31 March 2021 —2=—F=A=+—H

49. A\ WMHRIEER

EMREMARAATRBRRE 2 R
mF -

2021 2020
—E-—fF —TTHF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FERT FER
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FkREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RITB AR ZIEE - -
Financial assets at fair value through other BAFELEMEEKZEARZ
comprehensive income & E 7,278 7,525
7,278 7,525
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Due from subsidiaries FEUR BB A B 3R0E 3,055,289 3,224,633
Other receivables H At pE U FOE 255 374
Cash and cash equivalents He kRS ZREER 5,339 41,861
3,060,883 3,266,868
CURRENT LIABILITIES FBaE
Due to subsidiaries FE B A T FIE 940,678 945,734
Other payables and accruals H P ROE R ERT B 7,894 12,480
948,572 958214
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZRE 2,112,311 2,308,654
Net assets BEFE 2,119,589 2,316,179
EQUITY Em
Issued capital BT 12,316 12,316
Reserves (note) () 2,107,273 2,303,863
Total equity e 2,119,589 2,316,179
Tang Ching Ho Tang Wai Man
E HEHK
Director Director
E2 )

1ITE_%§?§%E:EH:§?E/;§§ 257
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49. Statement of Financial Position of the Company  49. A2 w4 BIR £ (@)

(continued)
Note: B E
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RRAREEHEZEINWT ¢

Fair value
Share reserve
Share Special ~ Contributed option (non-  Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve  recycling) losses
AHERE

B BRRE RAER : (FT8E) gkl
HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000 (9000 HKS'000 HKS000

TiEL T ] 1L TR

At T April 2019 RZE-NEMA-A 2,106,799 (27,150) 275693 86 10713 (754800 2290661
Profitfor the year REREH - - - - - 25803 25803
Other comprehensive loss for the year: KERAMZEES:
Changein fair value of financial assets at farvalue  RATEREMRAURNEZHEE
though other comprehensive income, netoftax ~ EzAFEEE - NBHE - - - - (12601) - (12601)
Total comprehensive income/oss) for the year RERRARN/(FE)eE = - = - (12601) 25803 13202
Forfeiture of share options BRERN = = = B) - 3 -
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 W-Z-FF=A=1-AR
~“3-ZEMA-A 2106799 (27.150) 2569 8 (1,888) (49,674) 2,303,863
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - (196343) (19343)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FERADEREE:
Change in fairvalue of financial assets at farvalue AT EMEM2ENEAE 204
through other comprehensive income EDTREES = = - - (247) - (247)
Total comprehensive loss for the year KERREEELE - = - - (247) (196,343) (196,590)
Expiry of share options ERERR - = - ®) - 8 _
At31 March 2021 R=B=-f=A=t-A 2106799 (27150) 275693 - s (45934 2107273
Note: B 5E
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet to be EREREEEYARTEZEE L ERE
exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 2R ECE-FHBEHEAT B HRRN 24
to the financial statements. The amount will either be transferred to the share capital when the BRUBRDAER NIz @HIE) o M
related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the related options HEEREDTE  EESEEeERER
expire or be forfeited after the vesting period. Ao SMEEBREDSREBIRZR
W ARLESSEBESREEN
50. Approval of the Financial Statements 50. b v I 8 S B e ok
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the MHRREHESTER _F_—F XA
board of directors on 29 June 2021. TR B RAETE -
In case of any inconsistency between the English text and Chinese translation of the financial RIS TRER 2 TR R AR S hR AN 205 (R I & sk =
statements, the English text shall prevail. £ BIARURAERE -
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Investment Properties

Location
3k

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products
International Logistics Centre, west of Luoji
Expressway, Old town district, Luoyang City,
Henan Province, the PRC

R B R R S T Z R R & R E B
RS R R B E m BB P R O

Wuhan Baishazhou Agri-Products Market,
Special Nos.1 Qingling Street, Qingling
Country, Hongshan District, Wuhan City,
Hubei Province, the PRC

REVRItEROET IR EEREEZER 5%
FZEADMNREIERKTIS

Xuzhou Agri-Products Centre Wholesale
Market, east of Yingbin Avenue, Quanshan
District, Xuzhou City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC

F BT #RA M R LU R B IR A
RN = BIZE fm T O HEBE 5

Properties Held for Sale

Location

i hk

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products
International Logistics Centre, west of Luoji
Expressway, Old town district, Luoyang City,
Henan Province, the PRC

RENTEERETERRSE RE BB
G T R BIE m B R R O

Phase | of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-Products
Market, south of the Second Ring North Road,
Yuzhou District, Yulin City, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC

B EEALR B R EMT EME R E A
EMEERBIEmALE TS —H

China — ASEAN (Qinzhou) Agri-Products Market,
north of Jinhaiwan West Avenue (Entrance
of North and South Highway), Qinzhou City,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
the PRC

B E AL R B8 RSN T &8 R AL
(FEdERRE AR )R B — R (M) REm
NGEE ]

Agricultural produce
exchange market

REMRHM S

Agricultural produce
exchange market

RERZ TS

Agricultural produce
exchange market

Approximate
saleable floor area
BATHEREERR
(Square feet)
(FAR)

1,048,000

744,000

1,687,000

Particulars of Properties

B

BREWE

Attributable interest

of the Group
AEEzELER

Medium term lease 53%
FRERFR AT
Medium term lease 53%
FRERFR AT
Medium term lease 27%

T EIRR A

i1 B3k

Attributable interest
of the Group
REE 2 FEL R

Agricultural produce 53%

exchange market

REMRHME

Agricultural produce 35%

exchange market

REMRXH M5

Agricultural produce 53%

exchange market

ML EBEEIERER A A
T —FFR
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Five Year Financial Summary

AR B

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling TYXRAEEBELEMBFERE 2 RERE
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the E BERFEREGRBE  DREEEER
published audited financial statements and reclassified/re-presented as M2 R EZI B K - Wik T XA EH &
appropriate, is set out below. BEHHEEMET -

Results ES

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
=B —_T-FTF —_T-NF T-N\F T—+tF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

FBT FHET FHT FHT FT
(Restated)
(#=&51)
Revenue & 1,108,565 620,741 751,443 845,781 738,440
Profit/(loss) before tax KBRS A, (B8 (303,131) 455,167 81,694 (114,887) (96,359)
Income tax credit/(expense) FissiE e,/ (Fx) (148,132) (17,199) (7,448) (2,281) 2,432
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR NEEHEHN, () (451,263) 437,968 74,246 (117,168) (93,927)
Attributable to: AT AR :
Owners of the parent BARMEAA (375,995) 438,548 74,627 (115,581) (93,303)
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR FE =S (75,268) (580) (381) (1,587) (624)
(451,263) 437,968 74,246 (117,168) (93,927)
Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests B - BRI B a2

At 31 March

R=A=+—8H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—B--f —T-TF —TNF ZFTN\F T +tF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

THxT T FHIT T FHIT

(Restated)

(g&=751)
Total assets EEE 7,964,526 7,730,183 3,454,670 3,656,461 3,573,251
Total liabilities FEN=Li (4,014,177) (3,736,796) (1,006,581) (1,096,436) (915,528)

3,950,349 3,993,387 2,448,089 2,560,025 2,657,723

Equity attributable to owners of (SYNGIEZZS PN g g
the parent 2,565,325 2,642,786 2444118 2,554,504 2,651,791
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R 1,385,024 1,350,601 3,971 5,521 5,932

3,950,349 3,993,387 2,448,089 2,560,025 2,657,723
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